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Preface  

The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration Act and the Fiscal 
Planning and Transparency Act. The Public Accounts consist of the annual report of the Government of Alberta 
and the annual reports of each of the 20 ministries. 

The annual report of the Government of Alberta contains ministers’ accountability statements, the 
consolidated financial statements of the province and a comparison of actual performance results to desired 
results set out in the government’s strategic plan, previously published in one volume entitled Measuring Up 
report. 

This annual report of the Ministry of Municipal Affairs contains the minister’s accountability 
statement, the financial information of the ministry and a comparison of actual performance results 
to desired results set out in the ministry business plan. This ministry annual report also includes: 

• the financial statements of entities making up the ministry including the Department of 
Municipal Affairs, and the provincial agencies for which the minister is responsible; 
 

• other financial information as required by the Financial Administration Act and Fiscal Planning 
and Transparency Act, as separate reports, to the extent that the ministry has anything to report; 
and 
 

• financial information relating to trust funds. 
 

Each ministry annual report should be considered along with the Government of Alberta Annual 
Report to provide a complete overview of government’s commitment to openness, accountability 
and fiscal transparency. 
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Minister’s Accountability Statement  

The ministry's annual report for the year ended March 31, 2021, was prepared under my direction in 
accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the government’s accounting policies. All of the 
government's policy decisions as at June 7, 2021 with material economic or fiscal implications of which I am 
aware have been considered in the preparation of this report.  

[Original signed by] 

Ric McIver 

Minister of Municipal Affairs 
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Message from the Minister  

The past year has been a challenge. From the ever-evolving 
complications of the COVID-19 pandemic to the tough 
economic conditions we’ve faced, Albertans have been pushed to 
extremes many have never before seen.  

And though we continue to face substantial challenges, I would 
be remiss if I overlooked some of the truly impressive successes 
we’ve achieved in recent months, both in the way municipalities 
have come together to help their residents and how staff at 
Municipal Affairs has worked to support those communities. 

In these unprecedented times, the ministry’s work has been an 
extension of previous efforts, as we responded to each new 
hurdle the ongoing pandemic has presented. We headed up a task 
force to source and distribute much-needed personal protective 

equipment and supplies to the people who needed them most. We adapted our processes to keep the 
programs and services people rely on operating as normal, despite the otherwise abnormal circumstances. 
And, we kept lines of communication open with our municipal partners to recognize common goals. 

In a number of ways, we have also begun to rebuild our local economies and prepare ourselves for the post-
pandemic world. We’ve given expert advice to our municipal partners so they can support the needs of their 
residents, meet the requirements of health officials, and remain transparent and accountable. That includes 
working with the public library network to bring Albertans vital resources during this stressful and 
unpredictable time. 

We’ve made infrastructure investments to spur economic activity and create jobs, while continuing to reduce 
red tape and invite private investment. And we’ve listened to the needs of Albertans to help guide our 
decisions. 

Of course, while a key focus of our work has been responding to the pandemic, not all of our achievements 
have been directly related to the response, and I’d like to highlight a few that stand out. 

First, not all disasters are pandemic-related. Alberta has seen some of the country’s biggest and costliest 
natural disasters in the past decade. And our response to those events has been to meet head-on the changing 
demands we face. 

In the past year, 15 communities affected by flooding received nearly $30 million from the Disaster Recovery 
Program. We continue to visit communities to make sure emergency plans are in place and up to date. 

We’ve also acknowledged that the province cannot continue to be the only source for the costs of major 
incidents. Changes we made to the Disaster Recovery Program will mean local governments and private 
applicants will share in the financial response, and limits will be put on how often properties can seek 
assistance to disasters, mitigating the financial risks of future disasters. 

We introduced the Municipal Measurement Index, a tool residents can use to compare their municipality to 
others in Alberta with similar characteristics, allowing them to make more informed assessments of their local 
community. 



 

 Introduction 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 5 

Further, to strengthen the democratic process, we amended the Local Authorities Election Act. The changes we 
made will restrict the amount of money third-party advertisers can accept from donors in municipal elections, 
even the playing field for new candidates, and increase transparency for voters. 

Finally, staff at the quasi-judicial boards have made enormous progress by eliminating file backlogs related to 
surface rights issues. That means wait times for new applications will be shorter, claim payments will happen 
quicker, and the cost of processing files will be less. 

As we build on these successes, and others listed in this report, I am confident we can face the challenges of 
today, and those that present themselves in the days and months to come. Together, we’ll continue to build 
the healthy, sustainable municipalities this province is made of. 

[Original signed by] 

Ric McIver 

Minister of Municipal Affairs 
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting 

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs includes the Department of Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes 
Council. The ministry also includes the Special Areas Board and seven improvement districts, which are 
accountable to the minister. An eighth improvement district, the Kananaskis Improvement District, is 
administered by the Ministry of Environment and Parks.  

The Department of Municipal Affairs consists of the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division, the 
Municipal Services Division, the Technical and Corporate Services Division, the Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency, the Municipal Government Board, the New Home Buyer Protection Board, the 
Surface Rights Board, and the Land Compensation Board.  

The executives of the individual entities within the ministry have the primary responsibility and accountability 
for the respective entities. Collectively, the executives ensure the ministry complies with all relevant 
legislation, regulations and policies. 

Ministry business plans, annual reports, performance results and the supporting management information are 
integral to the government’s fiscal and strategic plan, annual report, quarterly reports and other financial and 
performance reporting. 

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying ministry financial information and 
performance results for the ministry rests with the Minister of Municipal Affairs. Under the direction of the 
Minister, I oversee the preparation of the ministry’s annual report, which includes the financial information, 
performance results on all objectives and initiatives identified in the Ministry Business Plan, and performance 
results for all ministry-supported commitments that were included in the 2020-23 Government of Alberta 
Strategic Plan. The financial information and performance results, out of necessity, include amounts that are 
based on estimates and judgments. The financial information is prepared using the government’s stated 
accounting policies, which are based on Canadian public sector accounting standards. The performance 
measures are prepared in accordance with the following criteria: 

• Reliability – Information used in applying performance measure methodologies agrees with the 
underlying source data for the current and prior years’ results. 

• Understandability – the performance measure methodologies and results are presented clearly. 

• Comparability – the methodologies for performance measure preparation are applied consistently for the 
current and prior years’ results. 

• Completeness – outcomes, performance measures and related targets match those included in the 
ministry’s Budget 2020. 

As Deputy Minister, in addition to program responsibilities, I am responsible for the ministry’s financial 
administration and reporting functions. The ministry maintains systems of financial management and internal 
control which give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks that are designed to: 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, executed in accordance with 
prescribed legislation and regulations, and properly recorded so as to maintain accountability of public 
money; 

• provide information to manage and report on performance; 

• safeguard the assets and properties of the province under ministry administration; 
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• provide Executive Council, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance, and the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs the information needed to fulfill their responsibilities; and 

• facilitate preparation of ministry business plans and annual reports required under the Fiscal Planning and 
Transparency Act. 

In fulfilling my responsibilities for the ministry, I have relied, as necessary, on the executives of the individual 
entities within the ministry. 

[Original signed by] 

Brandy Cox 
Deputy Minister of Municipal Affairs 
 

June 7, 2021 

 

  



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

 

8                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 

Results Analysis  

Table of Contents  

 

Ministry Overview .......................................................................................................................................... 9 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs ................................................................................................................. 9 

Department of Municipal Affairs .......................................................................................................... 9 

Support Services .................................................................................................................................... 11 

Other Entities ........................................................................................................................................ 12 

Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................................... 14 

Discussion and Analysis of Results ............................................................................................................ 18 

Outcome One: Albertans live in viable municipalities and communities  
with fiscally responsible, collaborative, and accountable local governments .................................. 18 

Outcome Two: Alberta’s economic prosperity is facilitated by local governments ....................... 55 

Outcome Three: Albertans are protected with safe buildings,  
homes, and communities ...................................................................................................................... 61 

Outcome Four: Alberta is emergency-ready and resilient ................................................................. 68 

Outcome Five: Albertans receive fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions  
from the ministry’s quasi-judicial boards ............................................................................................ 92 

Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology  ............................................................................... 107 

 

 



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 9 

Ministry Overview  

Ministry of Municipal Affairs   

Municipal Affairs assists municipalities in providing well-managed, accountable local government to 
Albertans. The ministry also fosters stronger, safer communities across the province, and enables local 
governments to facilitate Alberta’s economic prosperity. 

The ministry consists of the Department of Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes Council. The ministry 
also includes the Special Areas Board and seven improvement districts, which are accountable to the 
minister.  

The Department of Municipal Affairs consists of the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division, the 
Municipal Services Division, the Technical and Corporate Services Division, the Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency, and four quasi-judicial boards – the Municipal Government Board, the New Home 
Buyer Protection Board, the Surface Rights Board, and the Land Compensation Board. 

Department of Municipal Affairs  

Municipal Assessment and Grants Division  

The Municipal Assessment and Grants Division administers municipal financial components, such as 
provincial and federal grant programs directed at Alberta municipalities, the property assessment system, and 
education property tax requisitions. 

This division develops the policies and procedures for property assessment; reviews and audits  
municipal property assessments; and prepares designated industrial property assessments,  
comprised of linear and industrial properties, for all municipalities.  

The division also administers the Municipal Sustainability Initiative and federal Gas Tax Fund, along with 
other grant programs; develops new grant programs such as the Local Government Fiscal Framework; 
administers property tax programs; prepares equalized assessments for each municipality; and administers 
the education property tax requisitioning program on behalf of the province. 

Municipal Services Division    

The Municipal Services Division supports municipalities in meeting their mandate to provide accountable 
and effective local government to the residents of Alberta. The division provides support services and advice 
to municipalities in line with the ministry’s Municipal Sustainability Strategy; manages the ministry’s primary 
legislation governing municipalities – including the Municipal Government Act, the Local Authorities Election Act, 
and the Special Areas Act – and their associated regulations; leads policy initiatives relating to municipal-
provincial relations; and coordinates the ministry’s stakeholder relations with key municipal associations at 
major conferences and regional meetings.  

The division includes the Public Library Services Branch, which manages the Libraries Act, supports the 
province-wide Public Library Network in the provision of library services, and provides operating funding to 
municipal and regional library system boards. Funding enables municipal and regional libraries to share 
physical and electronic library resources across the province, with the goal of equitable library access for all 
Alberta residents, including print-disabled Albertans and Indigenous populations.  
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Technical and Corporate Services   

The Technical and Corporate Services Division oversees a system of safety codes and standards, provides 
guidance and advice to safety system partners, administers the Residential Protection Program, and provides 
corporate support to the Department of Municipal Affairs. 

The division administers the Safety Codes Act, which establishes codes, standards, and administrative 
processes in 10 disciplines: 1) building (including energy efficiency and accessibility in buildings); 2) fire; 3) 
plumbing; 4) gas; 5) electrical; 6) elevators; 7) amusement rides; 8) passenger ropeways (e.g. ski lifts); 9) 
pressure equipment; and 10) private sewage disposal systems.  

To support the safety codes system, the division oversees:  

• the Safety Codes Council, which accredits municipalities, corporations, and agencies to administer the 
Safety Codes Act and certifies safety codes officers;  

• the Alberta Boilers Safety Association;  

• the Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association; and  

• the Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta.  

The division supports safety codes system partners to carry out their responsibilities by providing guidance 
and advice, including advising municipalities, industry, and the public on safety code interpretations. The 
division also works with government departments, municipalities, Indigenous communities, and other 
stakeholders to support: 

• effective community risk-management; and  

• volunteer search and rescue organizations by offering funding such as training grants. 

The Residential Protection Program is responsible for overseeing and enforcing the New Home Buyer Protection 
Act, which establishes regulatory requirements for mandatory new home warranties and builder licensing.  

The Corporate Strategic Services Branch provides corporate support and helps the ministry achieve its 
outcomes by providing information management; legislative and administrative services; and strategic 
planning, reporting, and policy services. 

Alberta Emergency Management Agency  

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency works with its emergency management partners to provide a 
province-wide emergency management system that protects Albertans, their property, and the environment 
against hazards. This includes helping coordinate provincial emergency or disaster response and recovery 
activities, and providing direct assistance to local authorities when required. The agency provides strategic 
policy direction and leadership through the coordination of emergency management programs that include 
aspects of mitigation, prevention, preparation, response, and recovery.  

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency supports the continuous improvement of Alberta’s emergency 
management system and assists with the development of sustainable emergency management capabilities; 
delivery of provincial emergency social services; supports to local 911 operators, first responders’ radio and 
communications systems; and amateur emergency radio operators throughout Alberta. The agency also 
collaborates with provincial, territorial, federal, and international stakeholders to promote a comprehensive 
approach to emergency management that enhances the safety of all Albertans.  
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Quasi-judicial Boards 

The ministry supports four quasi-judicial boards – independent bodies that deliver fair, impartial, and well-
reasoned decisions and recommendations on matters such as designated industrial property assessment, 
commercial and multi-residential property assessment, subdivision appeals, and annexations. The boards 
grant right of entry and resolve compensation disputes involving expropriations, unpaid surface leases, or 
operators requiring access to private land or occupied Crown land to develop subsurface resources. The 
boards also provide parties with a robust dispute resolution process to help resolve disputes prior to a 
formal hearing. Finally, the boards support municipalities by providing certification training for board 
members and clerks for Assessment Review Boards and Subdivision and Development Appeal Boards 
across Alberta. 

Municipal Government Board 

The Municipal Government Board is an independent and impartial quasi-judicial tribunal that conducts 
hearings on matters specified under the Municipal Government Act, including land-planning, assessment 
complaints, and any other matter referred to it by the Minister of Municipal Affairs or Lieutenant Governor 
in Council.  

The board also supports assessment review boards by assigning members to hear and make decisions about 
municipal assessment complaints and to provide training and certification for board clerks and members.  

Members of the Municipal Government Board have extensive appraisal, assessment, legal, and land-planning 
expertise, which ensures all stakeholders receive fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions.  

The New Home Buyer Protection Board  

The New Home Buyer Protection Board – established under the New Home Buyer Protection Act – hears 
appeals of decisions issued by the Residential Protection Program regarding owner-builder authorizations, 
hardship exemptions, status determinations, compliance orders, administrative penalties, and builder 
licensing.  

Surface Rights Board  

The Surface Rights Board is a quasi-judicial administrative tribunal – established by the Surface Rights Act – 
that conducts hearings on matters specified under the Act. These matters include right of entry to the 
owner’s land; determination of compensation payable to the landowner for the entry; and review of annual 
compensation, damages, and rental recovery in the event an operator fails to make payment.  

The Surface Rights Board has an effective alternative dispute resolution program.  

Land Compensation Board  

The Land Compensation Board is a quasi-judicial board – established by the Expropriation Act – that 
conducts hearings to determine whether expropriation should proceed when there is an objection and where 
the expropriating authority is not the province or a municipality. For all expropriations where there is no 
agreement between the parties, the board fixes the compensation payable to landowners and tenants. 

Support Services    

Financial Services  

Financial Services is responsible for coordinating the budget, forecast, and reporting for the ministry. Its 
responsibilities also include oversight and guidance on the financial internal controls, expenditure officers, 
and contracting.  
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Human Resource Services  

Human Resource Services is a resource provided by the Public Service Commission that plans, develops, 
and delivers the department’s strategic human resource programs, as well as day-to-day human resource 
services. Its responsibilities include promoting strategic planning in alignment with business goals and 
objectives, supporting the attraction and engagement of high-calibre staff, and building employee capacity to 
achieve business plan goals.  

Legal Services   

Legal Services is a resource provided by the Ministry of Justice and Solicitor General that provides legal 
services to the department’s divisions and associated boards. The branch’s responsibilities include 
participating in special projects, reviewing legislation and regulations, offering legal advice and written 
opinions, and preparing and reviewing legal documents.  

Communications    

The Communications Branch is a resource provided by Communications and Public Engagement in the 
Ministry of Treasury Board and Finance. The branch provides strategic communications advice, consulting 
services, and planning and support to the minister, deputy minister, and ministry staff to communicate 
effectively with stakeholders, the media, and Albertans. The branch also provides issues management, 
writing and editing, and media relations services.  

Other Entities   

Safety Codes Council  

The Safety Codes Council is a corporation established under the Safety Codes Act. The council’s 
responsibilities include:  

• working with industry, municipalities, and other stakeholders through technical sub-councils to review 
codes and standards and advise the minister on safety codes policy; 

• accreditation activities, including accrediting municipalities and corporations to administer the Safety 
Codes Act in their jurisdictions – and accrediting agencies that can provide safety codes officers to 
municipalities and corporations under contract; 

• overseeing permits and inspections in unaccredited municipalities through the Alberta Safety Codes 
Authority;  

• certification activities, including training and certifying safety codes officers who enforce the Safety Codes 
Act, and certifying master electricians; and  

• administering an appeals process for decisions made under the Safety Codes Act. 

Special Areas Board    

The Special Areas Board – appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council – is responsible for the 
administration of 2.5 million acres of public land in southeast Alberta and the provision of municipal 
services to residents of this rural region. The Special Areas Board applies land-stewardship policies that are 
particularly suited to the sustainability of public lands in this ecologically fragile part of the province.  

Improvement Districts    

Municipal Affairs provides limited municipal services in seven improvement districts, including: Waterton 
Lakes National Park; Banff National Park; Jasper National Park; Elk Island National Park; Wood Buffalo 
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National Park; Willmore Wilderness Park; and Improvement District No. 349 (located in northeastern 
Alberta). The Government of Alberta, through Municipal Affairs, manages all local government functions – 
including the levy and collection of taxes – for the improvement districts, unless a local council has been 
elected. An eighth improvement district, the Kananaskis Improvement District, is administered by the 
Ministry of Environment and Parks. 

Delegated Administrative Organizations   

Alberta Boilers Safety Association  

The Alberta Boilers Safety Association is delegated to administer and deliver safety programs related to 
boilers, pressure vessels, and pressure piping systems in Alberta. The association’s safety codes officers 
review and register designs, conduct inspections, and issue permits. The association also certifies pressure 
welders, inspectors, and power engineers for the operation of power or heating boilers.  

Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association  

The Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association is delegated to administer and 
deliver safety programs related to elevating devices, amusement rides, and passenger ropeways (such as ski 
lifts). The association’s safety codes officers review and register designs, conduct inspections, and issue 
permits.  

Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta  

The Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta is delegated to administer safety programs related 
to petroleum storage tanks in Alberta. The association’s safety codes officers administer the fire code for the 
registration, construction, operation, alteration, and removal of petroleum tanks.  

As part of the government’s commitment to reduce duplication and leverage economies of scale where 
possible, a commitment was made to reduce the number of delegated organizations in the safety system. 
This resulted in a transfer of responsibilities from the Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta 
to the Alberta Safety Codes Authority, a division of the Safety Codes Council. As of June 8, 2020, the 
Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta ceased all of its operations, and the Alberta Safety 
Codes Authority assumed responsibility for administering safety programs related to petroleum storage tanks 
in Alberta. This transfer was intended to lower costs for petroleum tank owners and reduce wait times for 
storage tank inspections. 
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Executive Summary  

In 2020‑21, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs delivered on the commitments in its 2020‑23 business plan, 

and continued its day‑to‑day operations to support Albertans, Alberta municipalities, and other stakeholders. 

The worldwide pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) remained at the fore, having an effect on 

every aspect of the ministry’s work. Despite progress on the mitigation of COVID-19, the pandemic 

continued to impact Albertans, the economy, and the work of governments at all levels.  

Responding to the COVID-19 Pandemic  

In response to the widespread nature and cascading impacts of the pandemic, the Government of Alberta 

formally declared a public health emergency on March 17, 2020, under the Public Health Act. Municipal 

Affairs’ efforts to address the COVID-19 pandemic continued throughout 2020-21 and included the 

following: 

• A continuous elevated status for the Provincial Operations Centre since the beginning of the COVID-

19 pandemic response. 

• Establishment of the Pandemic Response Planning Team in March 2020 that would work through 

issues for a whole-of-society response, and provide the Government of Alberta with a multi-department 

planning capacity for the COVID-19 response in the medium- and long-term. 

• Developing the Alberta Bits and Pieces Program as a way for businesses and citizens to submit 

unsolicited offers of products and services to help others during emergencies such as the COVID-19 

pandemic response. 

• Establishing the Personal Protective Equipment Task Force in response to the rapidly expanding need 

for personal protective equipment for numerous organizations across Alberta as they responded to the 

pandemic. 

• Providing support and advice to municipalities as they contended with the challenges associated with the 

COVID-19 pandemic – calls and emails increased by more than 45 per cent from the previous year. 

• Developing and implementing plans for isolation accommodations and support to vulnerable 

populations throughout the province. From March to August 2020, the Emergency Social Services team 

joined the Pandemic Response Planning Team to provide this support to local authorities as they 

responded to the human-impact aspects of the pandemic.  

• Administering Municipal Operating Support Transfer funding to support additional expenditures 

associated with COVID-19, such as personal protective equipment; enhanced cleaning; and replacement 

of reduced or foregone revenues due to COVID-19, such as reduced tax and fine revenue. 

• Announcing a six-month deferral of 2020 non-residential education property tax in order to keep 

businesses viable so they could continue to meet payroll obligations and employ as many Albertans as 

possible. 

Major Initiatives and Projects 

Progress was made on major initiatives and projects identified in the ministry’s 2020‑23 business plan, 

including: 
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• continuing to work with municipalities to strengthen regional planning and service delivery through a 

number of regional governance mechanisms, such as intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and 

growth management boards;  

• providing predictable, long-term infrastructure funding for municipalities through the Municipal 

Sustainability Initiative; 

• continuing to implement centralized industrial property assessment; 

• supporting municipalities in continuing to strengthen municipal accountability and transparency through 

the Municipal Accountability Program, the municipal inspection process, and the annual Alberta 

Municipalities Measurement Index; 

• streamlining regulatory requirements in municipal legislation and regulation that are hampering 

administrative efficiencies for municipalities; 

• reducing provincial trade barriers in safety and construction codes; 

• ensuring Albertans have access to 911 and that emergency public alerting services are technologically 

current and agile; and 

• delivering an efficient and impartial appeals process for land planning, compensation, assessment, and 

other matters referred to the ministry’s quasi-judicial boards. 

Red Tape Reduction  

In 2020-21, Municipal Affairs continued to focus on reducing red tape to ensure the ministry and the 

province’s local governments are well-positioned to help deliver on the Government of Alberta’s plan to 

reignite the economy, support job creators, and get Albertans working again. 

Key work included the following: 

• Red tape reduction principles were included in the development of the Municipal Stimulus Program and 

the Municipal Operating Support Transfer program to ensure programs will be delivered in a 

streamlined manner. Additionally, the Municipal Stimulus Program required municipalities to reduce red 

tape as a condition of receiving the funding. 

• The population threshold for municipalities to participate in the Municipal Accountability Program was 

reduced from “less than 5,000” to “less than 2,500,” which will reduce the number of municipalities 

required to collect and submit documentation and to participate in the review process. 

• Bill 48, the Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act, 2020 (No. 2), included numerous amendments to the 

planning sections of the Municipal Government Act. Changes will speed up subdivision and development 

permit approvals; streamline the appeal processes for projects approved by a provincial regulator; and 

consolidate the Municipal Government Board, Land Compensation Board, Surface Rights Board, and 

New Home Buyer Protection Board into the newly established Land and Property Rights Tribunal.  

• The ministry also intends to consult with stakeholders in 2021 on potential amendments to the Libraries 

Act in order to reduce red tape that might be impeding libraries.  

• The management of petroleum storage tanks was transferred from the Petroleum Tank Management 

Association of Alberta to the Alberta Safety Codes Authority, a division of the Safety Codes Council.  

Grant Programs and Municipal Funding  

Grant programs and municipal funding continued to be important elements of the ministry’s work. In  

2020-21, Municipal Affairs provided Alberta communities with funding through several different programs, 

including: 
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• $970.9 million in capital funding through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital program, 

including $335 million from the Basic Municipal Transportation Grant component;  

• $29.1 million in operational funding through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating program; 

• $10.2 million in funding through the Alberta Community Partnership program to support municipalities 

with intermunicipal initiatives and capacity building; 

• $244.1 million in federal Gas Tax Fund core funding;  

• $500 million through the limited term Municipal Stimulus Program to support shovel-ready capital 

infrastructure projects; 

• $576.3 million in shared federal and provincial pandemic related operating support through the 

Municipal Operating Support Transfer; and 

• the Grants in Place of Taxes program, which provided $28.9 million in funding to 167 municipalities on 

behalf of more than 4,700 Crown properties. 

 

Designated Industrial Property Assessment  

In January 2018, the modernized Municipal Government Act transferred the responsibility for the assessment of 

designated industrial properties from municipalities to the provincial assessor within Municipal Affairs. The 

benefits of centralizing this type of assessment are being realized through continued incremental 

improvements in consistency, fairness, and transparency in the application of legislation, as well as 

operational efficiencies and economies of scale that can be achieved under a single provincial assessment 

jurisdiction. 

In 2020-21, Municipal Affairs completed 597,000 designated industrial property assessments for about 1,400 

assessed persons (companies), for a total of approximately $171.2 billion in assessment value. The ministry 

remains committed to working collaboratively with municipalities and other stakeholders to complete the 

transition to a centralized model. To this end, formal engagement methods have been used throughout the 

project to communicate with – and gain insights from – all stakeholders. Most recently, an executive 

advisory group was launched (October 2020) to regularly bring together leaders from industry and municipal 

groups to share ministry updates and to seek advisory input from stakeholders. 

Building Assessment Report Repeal  

In addition to reducing the number of legislative requirements within the New Home Buyer Protection Act and 

associated regulations, repealing the requirement for building assessment reports will result in cost-savings 

for both builders and home buyers. Building assessment reports add approximately $2.7 million per year to 

the cost of building condominiums in Alberta – about $383 per condominium unit. However, for small-scale 

condominium projects involving triplexes and four-plexes, the building assessment report can add 

significantly more per unit. Eliminating this report may provide a measure of economic stimulus for small-

scale condominium developers. Building assessment reports will no longer be required for new construction 

after July 1, 2021. This reduction of regulatory requirements will mean savings for both the building industry 

and home buyers. The elimination of building assessment reports for new condominium construction will 

not impact condominium conversions, which fall under the Condominium Property Act. 

Public Safety Committees  

The ministry chairs the Assistant Deputy Ministers’ and Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety committees. These 

committees provide cross-departmental leadership and direction, both during major disasters and periods of 
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regular business. Examples of the significant events where the committees provided coordination include 

the ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as to previous major events such as the 2013 

southern Alberta floods and the 2016 Wood Buffalo wildfires.  

The committees were key in the province’s COVID-19 response following the province’s March 17, 2020, 

declaration of a state of public health emergency under the Public Health Act. Prior to the declaration, the 

committees were actively engaged in the preparation for, and initial response to, the event, including support 

to the province’s Emergency Management Cabinet Committee, and ensuring timely and effective cross-

government coordination. 

The Work of the Four Boards 

When the rights of citizens are impacted by government decisions or where there is conflict between the 

competing interests of individuals, industry or municipalities, the Legislature has provided a process to 

protect the rights of all parties. In 2020-21, Municipal Affairs continued to support four independent and 

impartial quasi-judicial tribunals (the Municipal Government Board, the Surface Rights Board, the Land 

Compensation Board, and the New Home Buyer Protection Board) that adjudicate on matters relating to 

land rights and property ownership.  

Going forward, it is expected that the government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to 

take precedence for at least the first half of the 2021-22 fiscal year. At the same time, Municipal Affairs will 

continue to make progress on the outcomes identified in its 2021-24 business plan. 
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Discussion and Analysis of Results  

Outcome One: Albertans live in viable 
municipalities and communities with fiscally 
responsible, collaborative, and accountable 

local governments 

Key Objectives 

1.1  Work with municipalities to strengthen regional 
planning and service delivery through a number of 
regional governance mechanisms, such as 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and growth 
management boards. 

Municipalities have faced enormous pressures over the past year 
in response to the unprecedented challenges brought on by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Additional costs because of the 
pandemic make it even more pressing for municipalities to find 
efficiencies and savings in service delivery. To this end, 
municipalities in Alberta continue to provide essential services 
for their residents, and move forward with key priorities such as 
implementing regional growth plans, regional servicing plans, 
and intermunicipal collaboration frameworks. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has made meeting and working 
together in person challenging, and growth management boards 
have tackled this challenge by hosting online meetings. 
Intermunicipal dispute resolution sessions, such as facilitated 
discussions and mediations, accessed virtual platforms with the 
specific ability to convene both meeting and breakout room 
spaces. The ministry’s roster of mediators reported they have 
been using a combination of online and in-person meetings that 
followed provincial public health safety measures. 

Municipal Affairs and its municipal partners demonstrated 
resiliency and determination while adapting to difficult 
circumstances. Despite the challenges presented by the 
pandemic, work continued in strengthening regional planning 
and service delivery for the benefit of all Albertans. 

Growth Management Boards - Edmonton and 
Calgary Metropolitan Regions 

Growth Management Board Formation and History 

In 2017, updates to the Municipal Government Act made a Calgary 
region growth management board mandatory (a mandatory 
board has existed in the Edmonton region since 2008). Prior to 

Actions that Support the 
Priorities of the Government of 
Alberta Strategic Plan 

Key Priority One:   
Supporting Job Creation 

Objective 1:  
Changing the tax structure to 
stimulate growth and attract 
investment 

• Update the province’s property 
assessment model for the oil 
and gas sector, including wells 
and pipelines. In the interim, 
the assessed value of shallow 
gas properties was reduced by 
35 per cent for the 2020 tax 
year to help shallow gas 
producers cut costs, protect 
and create jobs, and remain 
competitive in the face of 
economic pressures affecting 
this critical sector. 

• In 2020-21, the government 
concluded a review of the 
regulated assessment models 
for wells, pipelines, and 
wellsite machinery and 
equipment, which determine 
the assessed values of these 
assets for taxation purposes. 
The province implemented the 
following measures to support 
economic recovery and 
provide certainty to industry, 
investors, municipalities, and 
other property taxpayers for 
the next three years:  
o To encourage new 

investment, a three-year 
property tax holiday for all 
new well and pipeline 
assets was implemented, 
and to further stimulate 
new drilling activity, the 
Well Drilling Equipment 
Tax was eliminated 
effective January 1, 2021. 

o  
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the establishment of the growth management boards, there 
were a significant number of intermunicipal disputes regarding 
how best to allow development in and around the province’s 
two biggest metropolitan regions. Disputes would often result 
in appeals to the Municipal Government Board, which would 
create delays in development and incur significant costs for 
each municipality involved. Depending on the complexity of 
the development under appeal, the timeline to resolve a dispute 
varied from six months to one year, and could cost in excess of 
$1 million for participating municipalities. 

Growth management boards guide long-term collaborative and 
strategic planning to address growth in Alberta’s metropolitan 
regions. Board membership includes the core municipality 
(Calgary or Edmonton), all adjacent rural municipalities, and all 
urban municipalities in the region with more than 5,000 
residents. This means there are 13 voting member 
municipalities in the Edmonton Region Metropolitan Board, 
and 10 in the Calgary Region Metropolitan Board. As outlined 
in the regulations, in order for a decision to pass, two-thirds of 
member municipalities, representing at least two-thirds of the 
affected population, must support it. 

The growth management boards’ mandates focus on: 

• environmentally responsible land-use planning, growth 
management, and efficient use of land; 

• developing policies regarding the coordination of regional 
infrastructure investment and service delivery; 

• promoting the economic well-being and competitiveness of the region; and 

• developing policies outlining how the board will engage with the public. 

Ongoing Work for the Boards 

To meet their objectives, each growth management board is required to develop a long-term growth plan 
and a five-year metropolitan servicing plan. The boards are also required to develop regional evaluation 
frameworks to assess whether a member municipality’s proposed land-use plan is in alignment with the 
regional plan. 

The Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board has its growth plan and regional evaluation framework in place, 
and in December 2019, the Minister of Municipal Affairs approved the regional servicing plan. In the past 
fiscal year, the Edmonton board collaborated with the Building Industry and Land Development 
Association to review and streamline the regional evaluation framework process in order to reduce red tape 
and spur growth in the Edmonton metropolitan region. In December 2020, the minister approved a new 
framework that would significantly decrease the number of new statutory plans, or amendments to existing 
statutory plans, that would need to be reviewed by the Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board. Statutory 
plans, such as municipal development plans, area structure plans, and area redevelopment plans allow 
municipalities to plan for growth. Changes to the framework allow municipalities to make minor 
amendments that do not affect the content of the plans without requiring a review by the board, freeing up 
the board to focus on important regional projects.  

o To support existing oil and 
gas companies, additional 
depreciation adjustments 
are being provided for 
lower-producing wells. 

o The assessments of 
shallow gas wells and 
associated pipelines will 
continue to be reduced by 
35 per cent for the next 
three years. 

 
Key Priority Two:   
Making life better for Albertans 

Objective 5:  
Building better communities 

• In 2020-21, Municipal Affairs 
released an interactive web-
based dashboard. The 
Municipal Measurement Index 
allows Albertans to explore 
and compare financial and 
statistical information across all 
of the province’s 334 
municipalities 
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The Calgary Metropolitan Region Board currently operates under an interim growth plan and regional 
evaluation framework. The board is in the final stages of completing the mandatory long-term growth plan 
and servicing plan. The original deadline to have these plans in place was January 2021; however, due to the 
complications and difficulties arising from the COVID-19 pandemic, this deadline has been extended to 
June 1, 2021. 

The Government of Alberta continues to engage regularly with the boards, their members, and affected 
stakeholders to ensure the boards remain effective vehicles for economic development and growth in both 
the Edmonton and Calgary regions. 

Ministry Support for the Boards (Financial) 

Under the Alberta Community Partnership, provincial funding to the growth management boards is 
gradually being reduced as the boards assume greater responsibility for funding their own operations. The 
regulations enable each growth management board to requisition operating funding from their members to 
reduce reliance on provincial funding. In 2020-21, the province paid $1.75 million in funding to each board, 
based on amounts approved in 2018-19.  

Ministry Support for the Boards (Governance) 

In addition to financial support for the boards, the assistant deputy minister of the Technical and Corporate 
Services Division of Municipal Affairs sits as a non-voting member on each board. The Government of 
Alberta representative serves as a liaison between the boards and the province. 

Municipal Collaboration 

The ministry offers proactive support to local governments to explore ways to build better relationships and 
improve communication and conflict management internally – within municipal administrations, between 
administration and council, among a council, and between a municipality and the public.  

If support is needed, the ministry will assist in assessing the most appropriate method to improve 
communication and strengthen relationships by providing: information sessions, training, and assessments 
of specific situations; guidance on alternative dispute resolution options; and assistance in accessing funding 
from the Alberta Community Partnership program. Projects and initiatives that are funded are typically 
multi-year in scope, with the ministry providing ongoing support. 

This year, six municipalities accessed advice, assessment, training, and conflict coaching in situations of 
internal council conflict – three for internal council conflict, and three for internal council-staff conflict.  

Conflict within municipal organizations can cause significant challenges, impact the effectiveness of 
decision-making, or lead to increases in absenteeism and staff turnover. Although consequential conflicts 
within a municipality are, overall, a rare occurrence, conflicts within a council and internal conflicts between 
council and staff continue to be the most prevalent form of municipal conflict that benefits from additional 
support from the ministry. 

Intermunicipal Collaboration 

The ministry offers proactive support to local governments to explore ways to improve conflict 
management, build better relationships, and improve communication between municipalities that share 
common boundaries or shared service areas.  
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The use of mediation or other dispute resolution alternatives is encouraged as a way for municipalities to 
resolve issues before resorting to legal proceedings. Typically, intermunicipal issues resolved through 
mediation pertain to annexation, land‑use planning, cost‑sharing, or the need for improved relationships.  

The ministry has been providing intermunicipal dispute resolution support for more than 20 years, in 
response to an identified need for alternatives to quasi-judicial appeals. An advisory committee composed of 
municipal associations, the Alberta Arbitration and Mediation Society, and the Canadian Bar Association has 
supported the initiative. The ministry has supported a total of 161 mediations with an overall success rate of 
87 per cent. 

As part of the intermunicipal dispute resolution process, municipalities hire private-sector mediators and, 
when appropriate, the ministry may cover one-third of the funding for a mediation. The ministry maintains a 
roster of private-sector mediators with the assistance of representatives from the municipal associations and 
the Alternative Dispute Resolution Institute of Alberta. This roster gives municipalities a list of mediators 
with relevant training, experience, and an interest in intermunicipal mediation. 

In 2020-21, the ministry provided $160,000 in funding in support of four requests for mediation assistance 
involving annexations and intermunicipal development plans.  

This year, five intermunicipal and organizational projects were completed involving a total of 25 
municipalities and one First Nation. These protocols establish how municipalities will work together 
internally and/or externally.  

The ministry also provides advice and information on dispute resolution options related to cost-sharing 
agreements. In 2020-21, the ministry supported 78 municipalities in more than 34 intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks and 42 cost-sharing agreements involving fire departments/services, recreation, 
solid waste, water, wastewater, and libraries. This work involved the delivery of 25 presentations and training 
sessions. The following graph demonstrates the types of intermunicipal issues addressed in 2020-21.  

 

Fire department/services and recreation cost-sharing agreements continue to be the most prevalent types of 
intermunicipal conflicts. This is likely because historically there are significant differences between rural and 
urban service levels and funding models. The municipal costs associated with these services are substantive 
and are typically not cost-recovered, requiring subsidization from the general property tax base. It is 
expected these two service areas will continue to require the most mediation and collaboration support as 
agreements come up for renewal or there are changes in the economic environment or assessment base. 
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Intermunicipal Collaboration Frameworks   

The Municipal Government Act includes specific requirements for municipalities outside of the metropolitan 
regions to create intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans.  

Intermunicipal collaboration frameworks are intended to: 

• provide for the integrated and strategic planning, delivery, and funding of intermunicipal services; 

• provide for stewardship of service resources; and 

• ensure municipalities contribute funding to services that benefit their residents. 

Intermunicipal collaboration frameworks must describe these services, identify which municipality is 
responsible for providing which service, and outline how the services will be delivered and funded. 

Since the inception of the legislation in 2016, municipalities have been negotiating and reaching agreement 
on their intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans. These agreements 
support the coordinated and cost-effective delivery of shared services to residents and businesses.  

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the original completion date for intermunicipal collaboration frameworks 
was extended to April 1, 2021, from April 1, 2020, under Ministerial Order No. MSD:019/20. If disputes 
between municipalities prevent completion of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal 
development plans by the deadline, mandatory dispute resolution will be triggered resulting in arbitration for 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks, and a review by the Municipal Government Board for 
intermunicipal development plans. 

The ministry has provided both advisory and funding support to municipalities as they complete the 
requirements. Advisory support in this first cycle of implementation has included regional training sessions, 
local forums, presentations at council meetings, facilitated meetings for municipal partners, and provision of 
training and resources to the ministry’s rosters of mediators and arbitrators. Funding provided to 
municipalities through the Alberta Community Partnership program supports the development of 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans in two ways: 

1. Under the Cooperative Processes stream, funding is available to support up to half of the cost of a 
mediator or facilitator to help negotiate service agreements. 

2. Under the Intermunicipal Collaboration component, funding can be used to support up to the full cost 
of developing intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans. 

Since 2016, there have been 101 Alberta Community Partnership-funded projects for 333 municipalities 
related to negotiation and developing 181 intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and 209 intermunicipal 
development plans. The funding helped municipalities as they developed internal and intermunicipal 
protocols, and negotiated intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans. 

This year, three new projects involving 12 municipalities were funded for mediation of their intermunicipal 
development plans, and two projects were funded for mediation of intermunicipal collaboration framework 
related cost-sharing agreements.  

As of March 31, 2021, 436 groups of regional municipal neighbours have notified the ministry that they have 
completed their intermunicipal collaboration frameworks. This equates to 98 per cent of intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks being completed by the legislated deadline. There was only one intermunicipal 
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development plan dispute that was referred to the Municipal Government Board from the minister because 
the municipalities were unable to agree as of March 31, 2021. 

These discussions between municipal neighbours to develop their intermunicipal collaboration frameworks 
and intermunicipal development plans have, in some cases, brought long-standing disagreements to 
resolution. In 2020-21, a number of mediations and negotiations that began in previous years with support 
from grant funding and the ministry were completed. This included mediations and facilitations of 21 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks, two intermunicipal development plans, and two related cost-
sharing agreements.  

Several municipalities that had previously completed their intermunicipal collaboration frameworks moved 
this year to mediating outstanding cost-sharing agreements. Three mediations, involving 16 municipalities, 
continue to be mediated in areas such as recreation, fire services, water, and wastewater services. 

The ministry also assisted a number of municipalities in understanding their mediation and legislated dispute 
resolution options, enabling them to decide on the most appropriate process for disputes around their 
intermunicipal collaboration framework or intermunicipal development plan. This preparation work resulted 
in ministry staff providing 22 presentations, four training sessions, and three convening and next-steps 
meetings with municipalities in 2020-21. This is the first time municipalities were required by the Municipal 
Government Act to complete intermunicipal collaboration frameworks, and the majority of municipalities have 
accessed support of some kind in the development of these frameworks. 

Lessons Learned on Intermunicipal Collaboration Frameworks  

With the culmination of the first full cycle of intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks, numerous lessons have been learned. First, 
a few different paths to completing an intermunicipal collaboration 
framework emerged. While it was expected that many of these 
frameworks would be completed voluntarily and without significant 
dispute, it was also expected that a small minority of the 442 
frameworks in the province would require the use of the mandatory 
arbitration provision to resolve remaining – sometimes longstanding 
– disputes between municipalities. Two other meaningful paths to 
completing intermunicipal collaboration frameworks have emerged. 
First, some municipalities completed their frameworks by confirming 
current arrangements for municipal and/or intermunicipal delivery, but with a mutual acknowledgement that 
there is interest to revisit some agreements in the next intermunicipal collaboration framework cycle. This 
allowed these municipalities to meet the legislative requirement for completion and mitigate a need for 
arbitration. Second, some municipalities moved into arbitration in advance of the legislated timeline, 
allowing them to make progress on resolving disputes earlier, and not waiting until after April 1, 2021 for 
resolution. 

Another lesson confirmed that mediation is a highly effective way to resolve disputes; in many cases, 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks that were at risk of impasse, were completed. When mediation was 
pursued, approximately 90 per cent of disputes were resolved. The use of a neutral third-party to guide 
discussions has been shown to expedite a resolution, preserve relationships, and minimize costs.  

Regional Services Commissions  

Regional services commissions are a long-standing and successful form of governance for the delivery of 
services on behalf of the municipal members. Regional services commissions have their own distinct legal 
status and operate independently from the member municipalities, providing their own administration and 
operations. The board of directors of each commission provides governance and oversight; these boards 
comprise councillors from the member authorities.  

Since 2016-17, the Alberta 
Community Partnership has 
provided more than $10 million 
of grant funding to support the 
development of intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks and 
intermunicipal development 
plans.  
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As a commission, municipal authorities work collaboratively with each other to deliver effective and 
accessible services that are responsive to the needs of their communities. These authorities may include 
municipalities, First Nations, Metis Settlements, and armed forces bases.  

Regional services commissions can deliver one or more services and can include water, wastewater, solid 
waste management, property assessment, emergency services, land-use planning, and transit.  

The ministry streamlined provisions in the Municipal Government Act relating to regional services commissions 
in 2020, reducing – and in most cases – removing, the need for ministry approval for specific functions, 
including passing or revising board of director appointment bylaws, disposals of assets, and provision of 
services outside of members’ boundaries. Ministry staff delivered a training webinar about these changes to 
commission managers in March 2021. 

Seventy-five regional services commissions established under the old legislative framework were maintained 
by Ministerial Order, ensuring their status and ability to continue operations were not affected. In 2020-21, 
one new regional services commission was established: The Edmonton Metropolitan Transit Services 
Commission was the first regional services commission formed under the new legislation. 

As municipalities continue to seek efficiencies in service delivery for their residents, it is expected regional 
services commissions will continue to be a valuable regional option. 

Alberta Community Partnership  

The Alberta Community Partnership grant program enables municipalities to leverage funding to advance 
local and regional priorities across the province in a cost-effective manner, including municipal regional 
collaboration and capacity-building initiatives. The budget for the 2020-21 Alberta Community Partnership 
program was $16.5 million (reduced in-year to $8.4 million), with grants supporting projects under five 
component streams: 

• Intermunicipal Collaboration;  

• Municipal Restructuring;  

• Mediation and Cooperative Processes;  

• Municipal Internship; and  

• Strategic Initiatives. 

The program budget reduction was due to a $1.1 million decrease to meet savings targets and a $7 million 
one-time funding transfer to the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital component. This funding transfer 
was made to support transitional infrastructure funding to the Fishing Lake and Elizabeth Metis Settlements 
to assist with the adjustment to the dissolution of Improvement District 349 into the Municipal District of 
Bonnyville. A total of $10.2 million in grants was supported under the program, with additional spending 
offset by surpluses in other grant programs. 
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Intermunicipal Collaboration 

The Intermunicipal Collaboration component of the Alberta Community Partnership grant program 
provides competitive grants to municipal partnerships pursuing regional approaches to service delivery. The 
funding enables municipalities to undertake intermunicipal service delivery planning projects that can lead to 
shared services arrangements, greater efficiencies and economies of scale in the provision of services, 
resource optimization, and better access to services for Albertans. These studies often result in a more 
efficient fiscal approach to managing shared service delivery and building relationships. 

The development of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans 
remained eligible under the Intermunicipal Collaboration component in 2020-21. In fact, expanded eligibility 
for this component focused support on regional partnerships that were proactive in regional emergency 
preparedness and risk mitigation, which was particularly valuable as municipalities responded and adapted to 
pressures associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. The component had a strong year, with 50 applications 
reviewed for projects related to health and safety; emergency preparedness/risk mitigation; operational 
efficiencies/reducing red tape; economic growth/business continuity; and the development of 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans. 

In 2020-21, the Intermunicipal Collaboration component provided $3.07 million to municipalities across 
Alberta as they collaborated on 17 projects of regional significance. Projects included the following: 

• The Village of Acme partnering with 16 neighbouring municipalities to update the Palliser Regional 
Municipal Services strategic plan, including the development of a regional services delivery framework to 
address service gaps, health and safety, long-term goals, and an equitable cost-sharing model. 

• Smoky Lake County partnering with the Town of Smoky Lake and villages of Vilna and Waskatenau to 
conduct a regional fire services study.  

• The Town of Onoway partnering with Alberta Beach and Lac Ste. Anne County to develop an 
economic development strategy and communication plan.  
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The outcomes of these projects include improvements to the immediate and long-term health of Albertans, 
fostering economic development and job creation, and an overall improvement in service delivery at a lower 
cost.  

Grant accountability is a critical part of program delivery. To facilitate on-time reporting, a phased funding 
approach was introduced, whereby 25 per cent of funding was withheld until all reporting requirements were 
fully met. Ongoing monitoring and analysis will determine if this change has a positive impact on project 
reporting.  

Municipal Restructuring 

The Municipal Restructuring component of the Alberta Community Partnership program provides grants to 
municipalities undertaking viability reviews or restructuring activities, such as dissolution or amalgamation. 

In 2020-21, $295,000 was provided to three municipalities for infrastructure studies in support of viability 
reviews; $2,994,000 was provided to the Special Areas, Parkland County, and the County of Vermilion River 
for transitional and infrastructure funding relating to the dissolutions of the villages of Cereal, Wabamun, 
and Dewberry; and $425,000 went to regional governance studies involving 13 municipalities. 

Mediation and Cooperative Processes 

The Mediation and Cooperative Processes component provides grants to municipalities to access dispute 
resolution services, develop pre‑emptive cooperation protocols and procedures, or to engage third‑party 
mediators or facilitators to assist with intermunicipal collaborative framework negotiations. 

In 2020-21, $191,900 was provided to support intermunicipal collaboration framework and intermunicipal 
development plan negotiations, collaborative governance projects, and mediation assistance.  

Municipal Internship 

The Municipal Internship component provides grants to municipalities and planning services agencies to 
host land-use planner, finance officer, or municipal administrator internships.  

The ministry provided $682,000 in grant funding to help host municipalities cover the costs of hosting 11 
administrator interns, six finance officer interns, and one land-use planner intern in 2020-21.  

Strategic Initiatives  

On occasion, the ministry has an opportunity to support projects of strategic significance that are outside the 
scope of the other funding components but aligned with ministry and provincial priorities.  

Under this component, the City of Red Deer was provided $3.5 million to match a private donor 
contribution to establish an endowment fund for Westerner Park. Westerner Park is estimated to attract 
about 1.5 million visitors annually and generate approximately $150 million in regional economic activity. 
The endowment fund will ensure the Westerner Park facilities are upgraded and maintained, and the region 
and province benefit from the events and activities offered at the site. 

1.2  Support municipalities in continuing to strengthen municipal accountability and 
transparency through the Municipal Accountability Program, the municipal inspection 
process, and the annual Alberta Municipalities Measurement Index. 

The COVID-19 pandemic and associated economic downturn combined to create an unprecedented set of 
challenges for municipalities in Alberta. These extraordinary challenges made it both more difficult and more 
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important than ever for municipalities to be governed and administered in a fiscally responsible and 
accountable manner.   

Throughout the pandemic, Municipal Affairs provided advice and guidance to municipalities to assist them 
as they:  

• ensured they were able to simultaneously support the needs of their communities, and remain 
transparent and accountable; and 

• adhered to legislative requirements, including pandemic-related health orders from the Chief Medical 
Officer of Health (where possible, in order to mitigate COVID-19 transmissions, programs and services 
were changed to electronic offerings). 

While supporting municipalities during the pandemic was the priority, work on ministry key initiatives 
continued. The Municipal Accountability Program continued to ensure municipalities met legislated 
requirements and that municipal inspection requests were processed in a timely manner.  

Further supporting the goal of enhanced municipal accountability and transparency, in 2020-21, Municipal 
Affairs developed the Alberta Municipal Measurement Index. The index was designed to improve local 
government accountability and allow Albertans to evaluate the performance of their local government in 
comparison with other municipalities based on key fiscal indicators.  

Municipal Accountability Program  

The Municipal Accountability Program builds municipal administrative capacity and helps municipalities 
comply with mandatory legislative requirements within the purview of Municipal Affairs. This is a ministry-
delivered, cyclical inspection program that focuses strictly on legislative compliance (authorized under 
section 571 of the Municipal Government Act). Municipalities participating in this process receive a review – 
once every five years at a minimum – where ministry staff meet with the municipality’s administration to 
examine a list of legislative requirements. The result is a customized report for each municipality, identifying 
areas of strength and also areas where specific corrections might be needed. Municipalities then have up to 
12 months to achieve legislative compliance. 

The Municipal Government Act contains numerous requirements that may at times seem overwhelming and 
difficult to manage for municipalities. Municipalities are also bound by other statutes and corresponding 
regulations. Compliance with these statutes and regulations is essential to good governance; the successful 
operation of a municipality; and the viability, safety, and well-being of a community.  

In 2020-21, the population threshold for municipalities to participate in the Municipal Accountability 
Program was reduced from “less than 5,000” to “less than 2,500”, and the program cycle was increased from 
four years to five. A lower population threshold reduces the number of municipalities required to collect and 
submit documentation and to participate in the review process, and results in additional ministry resources 
being available to municipalities as they mitigate identified legislative gaps. This has aided in enhancing 
municipal capacity across the province. These changes were partly in response to fiscal reductions and the 
red tape reduction initiative, but also to refocus the program on smaller municipalities where the need for 
ministry support is typically higher. This resulted in a reduction in the overall number of municipalities 
receiving Municipal Accountability Program reviews (30 per cent) and the number of municipalities 
receiving a review in 2020 (from 60 municipalities to 38). Even with these changes, the Municipal 
Accountability Program still includes 200 municipalities, or 58 per cent of all municipalities in Alberta.  

While the program is not mandatory for cities, improvement districts, special areas, unincorporated 
municipalities, or municipalities with populations above 2,500, it can be offered based on a request from 
council and approval of the minister. In the past fiscal year, one review was completed for a city, at its own 
request. 
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In 2020-21, the ministry conducted 39 Municipal Accountability Program reviews, as shown in the following 
graph, broken down by municipal status type.  

 

There were 13 major requirement categories reviewed in 2020-21, each with a varying number of specific 
topics that totaled 59 as shown in the graph below. 

 

In total, the 2020-21 report included a review of more than 200 legislative requirements distributed within 
the 59 topics covered.  



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 29 

Of the 39 reviews completed in 2020-21, the number of legislative non-compliant gaps identified varied 
from as few as six (90 per cent compliant) to as many as 27 (56 per cent compliant), as shown in the 
following graph.  

Beyond achieving the program objectives, the Municipal Accountability Program has helped to: 

• highlight the excellent work municipalities are doing; 

• educate municipalities about recent legislative amendments and responsibilities; 

• enhance public confidence that municipalities are complying with legislation; 

• provide chief administrative officers an additional opportunity to receive advisory support from the 
ministry;  

• identify trends and areas where the ministry can offer additional training and support in the future; and 

• identify legislative requirements to be considered under the government’s red tape reduction initiative. 

Municipal Inspections/Corporate Reviews  

Municipal Inspections 

Inspections are ordered by the minister when, in the minister’s opinion, significant governance or 
management concerns exist. Inspections are undertaken as a result of: 

• the minister’s initiative; 

• a request from council; 

• a request from a member of a regional services commission; or 

• a sufficient petition submitted to the minister. 
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As part of the inspection, the ministry will conduct a preliminary review. If there is indication of significant 
concerns, the minister will order an inspection. Inspectors are typically contracted through the Government 
of Alberta procurement process and must be appointed by Ministerial Order. 

Over the past five years, 34 inspection requests were received, with the lowest number of requests being in 
2019, which coincides with the implementation of the Municipal Accountability Program. 

 

 

While four inspection requests were received in 2020-21, the Minister of Municipal Affairs did not order any 
in-depth inspections as the concerns were mitigated through other means such as training or advisory 
services offerings or undertaking a municipal accountability review. One inspection request was a council 
request (the Village of Morrin) and three were in the form of elector petitions: the towns of Crossfield, 
Pincher Creek, and Coaldale.  

Inspectors are typically appointed by contracting the services of an independent consultant through a 
competitive bid process. Recent annual expenditures for inspections are as follows: 

• 2016-17: $466,000.00 

• 2017-18:  $80,000.00 

• 2018-19:  $35,000.00 

• 2019-20: $0 

• 2020-21: $0 

Alberta Municipal Measurement Index 

On December 14, 2020, Municipal Affairs released an interactive Municipal Measurement Index dashboard. 

The Municipal Measurement Index (https://www.alberta.ca/municipal-measurement-index.aspx) is a web-
based application that provides Albertans with easy-to-access information about their communities. Through 

https://www.alberta.ca/municipal-measurement-index.aspx
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the application, Albertans can explore and compare financial and statistical information for all of the 
province’s 335 municipalities. The index includes data spanning several years, and will be updated annually 
with information provided by municipalities through Financial Information Returns and Statistical 
Information Returns.  

Municipalities receive an “index value” based on population, equalized assessment, and geographic area that 
can be used to indicate whether municipalities are good comparators. This indexing helps Albertans 
compare similar municipalities. Albertans will be able to compare values such as property tax rates, property 
tax burden, composition of property tax base, revenue and expenses, and debt information – with an end-
goal of improving transparency and accountability of municipalities to their citizens.  

Performance Measure 1.a: Percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk based on financial 
and governance risk indicators 

Prior Years’ Results 2020-21 

Target 

(2019) 

2020-21 

Actual 

(2019) 2016-17  
2017-18 

(2016)  

2018-19  

(2017) 

2019-20  

(2018) 

Not 
Available 

91% 93% 94% 90% 94%1 

Note: 1. Based on financial data submitted by 332 municipalities  

The 2020-21 results reflect the 2019 calendar year (January 1 to December 31, 2019). The Municipal 
Government Act requires municipalities to submit a copy of their audited financial statements and financial 
information return to the ministry no later than May 1 for the year in which the documents were prepared. 
Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, the submission deadline was extended to October 1, 2020, for the 
2019 reporting year. The impact of the pandemic on municipal finances will be reflected mainly in the next 
fiscal year (2021-22). 

The percentage of municipalities deemed not at risk based on financial and governance indicators for 2019 
was 94 per cent, exceeding the 90 per cent target. This target was set conservatively, based on historical 
results, as the performance measure is still relatively new. Going forward, as more data becomes available, 
the difference between target and actual result is expected to narrow. 

Nineteen municipalities were deemed to be at risk based on financial and governance risk indicators in 2019. 
Eleven of these municipalities had at least one legislative ministerial action taken against them, and five of 
them had more than two ministerial interventions. Only one municipality received an auditor’s note 
regarding its 2019 financial statements. Most municipalities are in fair financial situations and have no major 
issues identified with their audits.  

The remaining eight municipalities were flagged because they triggered three or four non-critical indicators. 
The most triggered non-critical indicators related to tax collection and infrastructure investment, which are 
indicative of municipalities struggling with reduced municipal revenue and aging infrastructure. 

On the whole, Alberta municipalities in 2019 performed on par with the 2018 reporting year. The numbers 
of municipalities that triggered each critical indicator or non-critical indicator generally decreased, with the 
exceptions of two non-critical indicators, debt to revenue percentage and infrastructure age. This echoes the 
problem of aging infrastructure, which may continue to be seen while the province recovers from the 
economic downturn and global pandemic. 
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1.3  Work collaboratively with municipalities and industry to improve the consistency and 
efficiency of the property assessment system by completing the transition to the centralized 
model for designated industrial property assessment. 

Designated Industrial Property Assessment 

Designated industrial property comprises linear property like 
petroleum producing wells and pipelines, the machinery and 
equipment at the petroleum wells and facilities, and other industrial 
properties like refineries and oil sands projects. 

During the recent review of the Municipal Government Act, 
stakeholders identified the need for improved consistency, fairness, and transparency in the application of 
property assessment legislation, as well as the need for operational efficiencies and economies of scale in the 
assessment of oil and gas sector properties. In January 2018, the modernized Municipal Government Act 
transferred the responsibility for the assessment of designated industrial properties from municipalities to 
the provincial assessor within Municipal Affairs. The benefits of this centralized assessment model are being 
realized through continued, incremental improvements in consistency, fairness, and transparency in the 
application of legislation, as well as operational efficiencies and economies of scale that can be achieved 
under a single provincial assessment jurisdiction. Municipalities are no longer burdened by the monetary cost 
and administrative work of doing the assessments and defending them through the appeals process, and 
industry stakeholders no longer need to deal with multiple municipal assessment jurisdictions. There is 
greater consistency in the assessment of similar designated industrial properties – notwithstanding their 
location in the province – and access to assessment information is continuing to improve as the province 
moves toward automating the process within one information technology system. 

To support a smooth transition to the centralized assessment model, the province entered into temporary 
assessment contracts with some municipalities. These contracted municipalities assess the designated 
industrial properties within the municipality on behalf of the province, under the guidance and direction of 
the provincial assessor. At the end of the 2020-21 fiscal year, 190 out of 227 municipalities had been 
integrated into the provincial assessor’s office. This represents 84 per cent of municipalities in the province 
with designated industrial property. The ministry remains committed to working collaboratively with 
municipalities and other stakeholders to complete the transition to a centralized assessment model. Most 
recently, an executive advisory group was launched (October 2020) to regularly bring together leaders from 
industry and municipal associations to share ministry updates and to seek advisory input from stakeholders.  

In 2020-21, Municipal Affairs completed about 597,000 designated industrial property assessments for about 
1,400 assessed persons (companies), for approximately $171.2 billion in assessed value. This is an increase of 
$900 million from last year’s assessment. These assessments yield approximately $2.1 billion in municipal 
property taxes and $285 million in education property tax for the province.  

The assessment of designated industrial property is conducted on 
a full cost-recovery basis, which means the costs are recovered by 
the province through a requisition tax rate set annually by the 
minister. The 2021 requisition tax rate is $0.0766 per $1,000 of 
assessment to recover $13 million for the program. The requisition 
is charged by municipalities to designated industrial property 
owners on their property tax notice and then submitted to the 
province to recover program costs, including preparing assessments and defending assessments before the 
Municipal Government Board. 

There are 240,000 assessed 
petroleum-producing wells in 
Alberta. 

 

To date, 190 out of 227 (84 per 
cent) municipalities have been 
integrated into the provincial 
assessor’s office. 
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Auditing for Assessment Quality 

The Assessment Quality Minister’s Guidelines set out the requirements for municipalities to report 
information to the province for the annual assessment audit and equalization process. As in previous years, 
the ministry completed annual audits of all Alberta municipalities by measuring and comparing property 
assessments against market value to determine assessment levels. These assessment levels are used to 
complete the equalized assessment, ensuring education property tax requisitions and assessment-based 
grants are allocated fairly. 

In 2020-21, assessment levels were confirmed for 339 of 342 municipalities – 99 per cent of Alberta 
municipalities were in compliance with all legislated quality standards. All municipalities reported and 
declared the required information by the legislated date.  

In addition to annual audits, the ministry conducted 31 detailed audits of municipal assessment programs. 
This is a more in-depth, comprehensive quality review to ensure municipal assessments align. 

1.4  Work collaboratively with municipalities and municipal associations in continuing to offer 
and develop tools and programs to support well-managed, accountable, and sustainable 
municipalities, including strategies to address unpaid linear property taxes and promote 
effective municipal asset management practices. 

The 2020-21 fiscal year was an unprecedented one with respect to 
municipal advisory support and resource development. 
Municipalities relied heavily on the support of Municipal Affairs in 
finding creative solutions to allow for the maintenance of critical 
operations while adhering to necessary public health orders issued to 
combat the COVID-19 pandemic.  

Because of the pandemic, 2020-21 marked the first year since 2013 
that Municipal Affairs did not hold regional training sessions. The 
Regional Training Initiative is anticipated to return in a new and 
updated format following the fall 2021 municipal general election.  

The primary focus for 2020-21 was supporting municipalities as they 
dealt with the impacts COVID-19 had on their governance and 
operations. Priority was placed on advisory services as well as 
putting necessary legislative modifications in place and preparing new support resources. As well, a new 
municipal pandemic response planning guide for Alberta municipalities was developed. More than 24 weekly 
(and after that, every two weeks) COVID-19 municipal governance updates that responded directly to 
specific governance and operational questions, were emailed directly to municipalities, regional service 
commissions and regional planning commissions. In addition, 39 Ministerial Orders were issued, providing 
extra time for municipalities to meet legislated requirements, providing greater flexibility to defer 
requirements, and eliminating the need for by-elections during the pandemic. 

To assist municipalities in preparing for the 2021 general municipal election, virtual training sessions began 
in October 2020 – far earlier than in past years – to allow municipalities time to acquaint themselves with the 
changes made to the Local Authorities Election Act in 2020. 

Following the 2017 election, a role for the Election Commissioner was introduced that involved 
enforcement of campaign finance and disclosure requirements, and third-party advertising in municipal 
elections. To ensure municipalities were fully informed of all that is required regarding the administration of 
Senate elections and any provincial referenda in conjunction with the 2021 municipal elections, Elections 
Alberta and Municipal Affairs partnered to develop and deliver municipal election training and offer 
advisory support. 

Providing support and advice 
to municipalities as they 
contended with the challenges 
associated with the COVID-19 
pandemic caused a large 
increase in advisory support 
calls and emails to the 
department. 

Calls and emails increased by 
more than 45 per cent over the 
previous year.  
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Training sessions in the 2020-21 fiscal year included: 

• Bill 29: An overview of the amendments (October 2020) – 389 participants. 

• Module 1: Election Considerations (November 2020) – 390 participants. 

• Module 2: Nominations (November 2020) – 385 participants. 

• Module 3: Campaign Finance (February 2021) – 365 participants. 

• Module 4: Third Party Advertising (February/March 2021) – 341 participants. 

• Module 5: Senate Elections and Referendum Votes (March 2021) – 352 participants. 

Municipal Affairs also engaged with key municipal stakeholders to discuss potential risks relating to the 2021 
municipal general election and identified some temporary modifications that could be made, if needed, to 
specific requirements under the Local Authorities Election Act. An example is the approval of Ministerial Order 
No. MSD: 130/20, enabling nomination deposits to also be paid by debit or credit card to avoid COVID-19 
transmission risks with having to directly handle in-person payments in the form of cash or cheque.  

The need for additional modifications will continue to be monitored and reviewed to ensure municipalities 
will have the appropriate ability to align election operations with public health orders or recommendations 
for the 2021 general municipal elections. 
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Viability Reviews  

The viability review process, enabled through the Municipal Government Act, provides a framework to evaluate 
the viability of a municipality encountering significant challenges. The process can result in implementing an 
action plan to address viability issues or a vote of local electors that could lead to a municipal dissolution. 
Through dissolution, the municipal corporation no longer exists, and the community becomes part of a 
neighbouring municipality.  

A viability review is a collaborative process that includes the municipality under review, the municipality that 
would absorb the dissolved municipality, the municipal associations, and the ministry. These reviews look at 
a municipality’s governance, finances, infrastructure, and services in order to determine what changes are 
required for the community to remain viable. In order to provide an accurate picture of the municipality’s 
infrastructure status, each viability review typically includes a comprehensive infrastructure study funded 
through the Municipal Restructuring component of the Alberta Community Partnership.  

Viability reviews can be initiated in three ways:  

1. At the request of a municipal council;  

2. Upon receipt of a sufficient petition from a municipality’s electors; and 

3. At the discretion of the minister if there is evidence that a municipality is facing significant challenges.  

Six viability reviews were completed in 2020-21, including for the Town of Manning, and the villages of 
Bawlf, Cereal, Dewberry, Hythe, and Wabamun. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and two declarations of 
public health emergencies, the final stages of five of the reviews were completed concurrently over a  
10-week period from September-November 2020. This included the distribution of a viability review report 
to all residents and property owners within the municipalities, and holding in-person public information 
sessions and votes of electors. Following a virtual public information session, the Village of Hythe’s vote 
was conducted on March 30-31, 2021; 95 per cent of votes cast were in favour of dissolution. Based on this 
result, the minister must recommend dissolution to provincial Cabinet. The results of the various local votes 
resulted in three dissolutions: the Village of Cereal into the Special Areas, the Village of Dewberry into the 
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County of Vermilion River, and the Village of Wabamun into Parkland County. The Town of Manning and 
the Village of Bawlf will each remain as municipalities, under directives ordered by the minister.  

Two other viability reviews were initiated this year for the villages of Halkirk and Warner; infrastructure 
studies have been initiated in each municipality, supported by funding from the Alberta Community 
Partnership - Restructuring Study stream. Due to the hiatus that will be required for the 2021 general 
municipal election, these two viability reviews are expected to conclude in 2022. In addition, one viability 
screening was conducted but did not result in a viability review, following a previous elector petition for a 
viability review for the Village of Heisler. 

Overall, the incidence of viability reviews remains very small in the context of the whole municipal sector. 
The nine viability reviews at various stages this year represent less than three per cent of all municipalities in 
Alberta as of April 1, 2020. This is relatively consistent with the number of reviews and dissolutions that 
have occurred over the last 10 years. The 10-year outcomes for viability reviews and dissolution studies are 
as follows: 

• two are in progress; 

• fourteen dissolved (one pending); and  

• sixteen remained the same. 

The Town of Granum falls into two categories with a dissolution study in 2011 that resulted in remaining a 
municipality and a viability review that resulted in dissolution in 2020. 

Other Municipal Restructuring  

The Municipal Government Act provides a process for amalgamation, which occurs when two or more 
municipalities join together to become one municipality. Municipalities may explore voluntarily 
amalgamation if they believe they can operate more effectively or efficiently together rather than separately.  

Under the Alberta Community Partnership’s Restructuring Study stream, funding is provided to 
municipalities wanting to explore options that may lead to some form of municipal restructuring. In 2020-
21, the Town of Rocky Mountain House was awarded a grant under the Municipal Restructuring stream to 
lead a regional governance study with Clearwater County and the Village of Caroline.  

Clearwater County was also provided Alberta Community Partnership funding for a simultaneous study with 
the Village of Caroline to explore immediate amalgamation between the two municipalities. 

In September 2020, the Town of Black Diamond and the Town of Turner Valley notified the minister of 
their intent to amalgamate and are taking the legislated steps toward a January 2023 implementation. The 
towns were approved for a grant to support facilitation of their negotiations and conduct public 
engagement. It is anticipated the towns will submit a formal application for amalgamation later in 2021. 

The Municipal Government Act also provides for an ability to form new municipalities. This is an exceedingly 
rare occurrence, as all lands in the province are located within municipal boundaries; however, municipal 
formation is a tool that can be used to restructure the boundaries between new and existing municipalities.  

In response to a 2019 elector petition, the ministry is leading a study to explore the feasibility of forming a 
new municipality that would constitute approximately half of the existing lands within Mackenzie County 
and the Town of Rainbow Lake. The study is being conducted with the support and close collaboration of 
the two impacted municipalities, and is expected to continue into 2022. 
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Municipal Internship 

Municipal Affairs continues to offer the Municipal Internship 
Program, which is celebrating its 20th year. As the longest running 
program of its type in Canada, this partnership initiative continues 
to support Alberta’s municipalities and planning services agencies in 
providing jobs for recent post-secondary graduates who are eager to 
pursue their careers in municipal administration. 

Municipal interns benefit from the hands-on work experience, 
mentoring, and learning opportunities provided by their host 
organizations, as well as the unique professional development 
opportunities facilitated by program staff. Intern host organizations 
benefit from the education, skills, and passion for learning brought 
by interns, and the municipal field overall benefits from the addition 
of these new professionals to the field. Over 100 municipalities and 
seven planning services agencies have participated as internship hosts since 2002.  

In 2020-21, the ministry provided grant funding through the Alberta Community Partnership program to 
help municipalities cover the costs of hosting 11 administrator interns, one land-use planner intern, and six 
finance officer interns. 
 

 

Of the more than 300 interns 
who have participated in the 
Internship Program since 
2002, more than half are now 
employed in the municipal 
field, while a number of 
participants are employed in 
other public sectors. Many 
alumni of the program mentor, 
or directly supervise, municipal 
interns in their organizations. 
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Municipal Excellence/Minister’s Awards 

The annual Minister’s Awards for Municipal Excellence serve to recognize successful initiatives among 
municipalities. The awards are evaluated by a review committee that includes representatives from: 

• the Alberta Urban Municipalities Association; 

• the Rural Municipalities of Alberta; 

• the Local Government Administration Association; 

• the Alberta Rural Municipal Administrators’ Association; 

• the Society of Local Government Managers; and 

• the Government Finance Officers Association. 

The 2020-21 fiscal year marked the 19th year of this awards program. This year, the submission deadline was 
extended from March 31 to May 31 to provide municipalities additional time to submit given the impacts of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. In total, 19 submissions were received for consideration and the following 
received awards from the minister: 

 
Service Delivery Innovation Award:  

City of Lethbridge Tax and Assessment with HEART 

This is the first program in North America that provides an in-depth solution from a combined assessment, 
taxation, and community lens to address growing community issues. This program has helped vulnerable 
homeowners access literacy programs, agency supports, mental health assessments, budgeting skills, 
supports for hoarding issues, and help with language barriers. It also offers supports to deal with senior 
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abuse, dementia, substance abuse, and physical health matters. It is making lives of vulnerable Albertans 
better and safer, and it is helping prevent homelessness. 

Partnership Award:  

Town of Peace River Sunrise Medical Clinic 

Collaborating across regional, public, and private spheres to improve access to healthcare in northern 
Alberta, the region created two facilities: Rotary House, which provides housing services for medical staff 
and patients, and Sunrise Medical Clinic, which provides expanded treatment space in a modern facility 
adjacent to the local hospital and makes practicing in the region more attractive to professionals. 

Building Economic Strength Award:  

Town of Taber and Lantic Inc. Wastewater Operations Collaboration 

The Town of Taber entered a public-private partnership with Taber's local sugar factory, Lantic Inc., to 
operate their wastewater treatment plant. The town provided certified utility operators to oversee Lantic's 
wastewater program, and to assist with their maintenance plan and capital replacement plan. This has 
resulted in the generation of a working wastewater maintenance operational plan and a wastewater capital 
replacement plan that will serve this major employer's industry for many years to come. 

Smaller Municipalities Award:  

Town of Raymond Net Zero Solar Project 

The Town of Raymond installed solar panels in an effort to be more environmentally friendly and to 
decrease electricity costs associated with running the municipality. Municipal operations are now electrically 
net-zero; the town generates (and sells) as much solar electricity as it consumes operationally.  
 

Local Authorities Election Act Review  

In February 2020, Municipal Affairs solicited feedback from Albertans on proposed amendments to the 
Local Authorities Election Act through an online engagement survey. The survey was open for four weeks and 
received more than 5,000 responses. In addition to the online public survey, Municipal Affairs held targeted 
in-person sessions with key stakeholder representatives including the Alberta Urban Municipalities 
Association, Rural Municipalities of Alberta, Local Government Administration Association of Alberta, 
Alberta Rural Municipal Administrators’ Association, and the Alberta Municipal Clerks Association – as well 
as representatives from school boards and third-party advertisers. 

Amendments to the Local Authorities Election Act were introduced in the Legislature on  
June 24, 2020, and received royal assent on July 23, 2020. The amendments came into force on  
September 1, 2020, and included: 

• changes to campaign financing rules (defined the nomination period, clarified what happens to surplus 
funds, changed the candidate donation amounts),  

• changes related to third-party advertising (removed “political advertising,” created a provincial registrar 
for third parties), and  

• general clarifications and technical amendments to clarify the vouching process, identify how long 
election materials must be retained, and define the rules around appointing an official agent.  

The goal of these amendments is to ensure fairness, increase accountability, and streamline requirements. 

Additional amendments to the Local Authorities Election Act were introduced in the Legislature on  
November 4, 2020, and received royal assent on December 9, 2020. The amendments, which came into 
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force on January 1, 2021, removed the ability of municipalities to hold election day on a Saturday in the year 
of a general election when a referendum or senate vote are held in conjunction with the municipal general 
election. This change will streamline procedures when a municipal general election is held in conjunction 
with provincial initiatives like a senate or referendum vote. The second amendment sets a contribution limit 
for third parties of $30,000 in total. 

Asset Management  

Municipal Affairs continues to support the enhancement of asset management practices in municipalities. In 
addition to providing funding under the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital, Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative Operating, and federal Gas Tax Fund programs, Municipal Affairs supports and participates in 
Infrastructure Asset Management Alberta, a community of practice that supports and shares asset 
management best practices between local governments, associations, and private industry.  

Municipal Affairs has conducted an annual survey of all municipalities’ asset management practices since 
2017. The results have consistently demonstrated that municipalities continue to enhance their asset 
management programs. For example, the percentage of municipalities with asset management policies 
approved by council has increased from 34 per cent in 2018, to 43 per cent in 2019, to 50 per cent in 2020.  

 

Provincial Education Requisition Credit and Designated Industrial Requisition Credit 
Programs  

To support municipalities as they address unpaid property taxes in relation to oil and gas properties, the 
Government of Alberta launched the Provincial Education Requisition Credit program in November 2017. 
Municipal Affairs facilitates this program by accepting and reviewing applications from municipalities. 
Recommendations are then made to Alberta Education to provide successful applicants with an education 
property tax credit equal to the uncollectable education property taxes on delinquent oil and gas properties. 

*Survey of all municipalities and Metis Settlements conducted by Municipal Affairs. Response rate was 53% in 

2018 and 56% in both 2019 and 2020.  
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As education property tax requisitions must be paid to the province by the municipality, regardless of any tax 
arrears, this created revenue challenges for some municipalities and an opportunity for the province to 
provide assistance.  

Municipal stakeholders have continued to react positively to the Provincial Education Requisition Credit 
program. For the 2020-21 fiscal year, 50 municipalities applied to the program, for a total claim of  
$7.18 million. The program was extended for two additional years and is expected to operate until at least 
2021-22.  

The government also introduced the Designated Industrial Requisition Credit program to support 
municipalities as they address unpaid designated industrial property tax requisitions. As part of the 
government’s commitment to red tape reduction, the intake processes for both programs were combined in 
2019-20, resulting in less administration, and less duplication of work by municipalities that apply. For the 
2020-21 fiscal year, this program received 42 applications from municipalities, for a total claim of $164,845. 

1.5  Provide funding to municipalities to help them meet their strategic long-term infrastructure 
needs and implement the new Local Government Fiscal Framework for municipal capital 
funding. 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative  

The Municipal Sustainability Initiative is Alberta’s primary 
municipal infrastructure grant program. Since its inception in 
2007, the program has directly helped municipalities make 
significant investments in local infrastructure, which promotes 
economic development, creates jobs, and meets the needs of 
Albertans. The program balances accountability and transparency 
with significant municipal autonomy to determine local priorities. 
Examples of program-funded infrastructure projects include: new 
and rehabilitated roads; light-rail transit lines and vehicles to 
support public transit; library buildings to support learning 
activities; recreational facilities to improve personal and community health and wellness; wastewater 
pumping facilities and lift stations that provide wastewater removal for residents; storm water retention 
ponds to protect municipalities from flooding; and fire halls to manage fire safety, services, and equipment.  

In 2020-21, the ministry provided $1 billion in funding to municipalities through the program, including 
$335 million from the Basic Municipal Transportation Grant component, and $29.1 million under the 
Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating component.  

Since 2007, Alberta’s municipalities have been allocated more than $12.9 billion in Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative funding (including $2.4 billion under the Basic Municipal Transportation Grant).  

Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital Funding 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative funding for capital projects was $970.9 million in 2020-21 (including $335 
million from the Basic Municipal Transportation Grant component). This funding supported a range of 
local infrastructure projects including: 

• roads; 

• bridges; 

• public transit services, vehicles, and facilities; 

• recreation, parks, sports, and community facilities; 

In the 2020-21 fiscal year, the 
Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative funded the building, 
replacement or upgrade of 15 
lane-kilometres on bridges 
across Alberta. 
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• water, wastewater, and storm water systems; 

• disaster and emergency services and facilities; and 

• other municipal infrastructure. 
 

Annually, each municipality is allocated funding under the program. 
Normally, to access an annual allocation payment, a municipality 
must be up to date on program reporting and have committed their 
allocation to eligible projects. In light of the significant and urgent 
spending pressures on the provincial government as a result of the 
pandemic and economic downturn, a new step in the payment 
process for the 2020-21 capital allocation was implemented. To 
access payments, each municipality was asked to indicate if they 
intended to spend the payment on a new or existing Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative capital project in 2020. If not, the payment 
was not made until the first quarter of 2021, as the municipality did 
not immediately require the funding. This ensured capital funding 
was available as soon as it was needed in order to advance projects 
that were ready to proceed, and support jobs and economic activity 
in communities across Alberta.  

Municipalities are accountable for providing a true estimation of costs for the appropriate use of grant funds. 
Applications include estimated project costs, and municipalities report annually on the status of each project 
and its expenditures. Since 2018, the statements of funding and expenditures from each municipality have 
been reviewed for alignment with municipal audited financial statements. This has not only ensured accurate 
program reporting, but it has also streamlined the review process, decreasing average review time by  
92 per cent since 2016. 

To expedite project approvals 
and reduce costs, rather than 
sending letters through the 
mail, municipalities are now 
notified of the status of their 
Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative Capital applications 
via email notification and 
through the online application 
system. 
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In 2020-21, municipalities committed $1.17 billion of capital funding for 1,011 accepted projects. Some of 
the projects were: 

• rehabilitating the paths, lights, stairs, and recreation infrastructure in the City of Edmonton’s Beaumaris 
Lake park; 

• purchasing 84 new light rail transit vehicles to accommodate growth in transit-oriented development in 
the City of Calgary;  

• building a replacement fire hall in the City of Lloydminster, which includes drive-through truck bays and 
a training tower; 

• replacing the Speers Creek Bridge in the Municipal District of Ranchland No. 66; 

• installing a solar power system at the Town of Mayerthorpe’s Exhibition Centre, thereby reducing the 
building’s operating costs and adding power back into the electrical grid; 

• rebuilding the Town of Coaldale’s arena floor to improve the hockey rink’s ice surface; 

• preparing design and engineering plans for a new industrial park that will stimulate growth in the Town 
of Picture Butte; 

• upgrading the wastewater treatment facility and irrigation system that serves the Town of Bassano; 

• rehabilitating the Family and Community Support Services building in the Village of Cremona; and 

• constructing a park and playground in the Summer Village of Whispering Hills. 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating Funding 

The Municipal Sustainability Initiative provided $29.1 million in operating grant funding to Alberta 
municipalities and Metis Settlements in 2020-21. This funding supports capacity-building activities to 
improve efficiency and effectiveness, municipal services, planning activities, and contributions to non-profit 
organizations. Of the budgeted $30 million, $0.9 million was transferred to capital funding at the request of 
municipalities. 

Normally, funds are allocated by municipalities to projects supporting four main government-wide 
objectives: 1) municipal viability and long-term sustainability; 2) maintenance of safe, healthy, and vibrant 
communities; 3) the development and maintenance of core municipal infrastructure; and 4) capacity 
building. 

In 2020-21, Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating funding was provided on an unconditional basis to 
provide municipalities with additional flexibility and reduced administrative requirements as they respond to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Starting in 2019, as part of its strategy to reduce red tape, the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating 
Program no longer requires spending plans be submitted with estimates of how the funding was expected to 
be used. Instead, municipalities report annually on how the funding was expended on eligible activities in the 
prior year.  
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Local Government Fiscal Framework 

Beginning in 2024-25, the Municipal Sustainability Initiative will be replaced with the new, long-term 
funding framework set out in the Local Government Fiscal Framework Act. The new funding framework will 
fulfill the government’s commitment to provide predictable, long-term infrastructure funding for all 
municipalities.  

 
Municipal capital funding will grow or decline each year based on half the rate of change in provincial 
revenue, with a three-year lag period for greater predictability.  

This framework will enable Alberta communities to share in the benefits of the province’s future economic 
growth, and the risks of future declines in provincial revenue. The Local Government Fiscal Framework Act 
assures municipalities they will continue to receive stable and predictable infrastructure funding every year, 
and this framework will be sustainable over the long-term. This will translate into greater certainty in 
municipal capital planning, and more efficient development of infrastructure to support economic 
development and employment across the province.  

Municipal Affairs is finalizing a plan to engage municipalities in developing further details of the new 
funding framework, including the design of the program and a formula for funding allocation. 

Capital and Operating Funding Support to Municipalities during the COVID-19 Pandemic 

In 2020-21, the government provided significant support to municipalities through the Municipal Stimulus 
Program and the Municipal Operating Support Transfer. 

Municipal Stimulus Program 

In response to a severe slowdown in economic activity, the Municipal Stimulus Program was designed to 
distribute capital stimulus funding quickly and equitably across the province with the following primary 
objectives: 

• sustain and create local jobs; 

• enhance provincial competitiveness and productivity; 

• position communities to participate in future economic growth; and 

• reduce municipal red tape to promote job-creating private sector investment.  
 

In recognition of the urgency involved, the program was 
developed and launched over a period of five weeks to distribute 
$500 million of municipal infrastructure funding. The program 
funds capital projects constructed during 2020 and 2021, and 
requires municipalities to take concrete actions to reduce red tape 
based on local priorities and circumstances.  

The Municipal Stimulus Program was established at the end of  
July 2020, and $500 million was distributed to municipalities on a 
per capita basis with a $50,000 minimum for most municipalities; 

summer villages received a base of $5,000 plus the per capita amount. By early fall, 506 projects from across 
the province had been identified and accepted. Municipalities committed $499 million of the $500 million 

The Municipal Stimulus 
Program resulted in total direct 
economic stimulus of $730 
million (including municipal 
contributions), which is 
expected to create thousands 
of jobs. 
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program budget to accepted projects, and $46.9 million was paid to municipalities. The remainder of the 
funds will flow in 2021-22. 

The program was targeted to support the immediate construction of roads, bridges, fire stations, water 
systems, and other critical local infrastructure. Examples of projects include the following: 

• Constructing a highway interchange in the City of Airdrie, which will create approximately 400 jobs 
during the construction phase. 

• Water, wastewater, and stormwater line construction to service Community Amenities Site and 
Lakeview Business District in the City of St. Albert. The project is expected to support the creation of 
more than 3,600 permanent jobs and enable private sector investment. 

• Paving the G3 Resource Road in the County of Wetaskiwin, which will provide access to the G3 Canada 
grain handling facility. The project will ensure current traffic demand is met and facilitate further 
growth, including promoting new business development and area redevelopment. 

• Red Deer County’s broadband internet initiative will result in the construction of fibre optic internet 
infrastructure. The project will expand internet access for up to 40 per cent of residents.  

• Replacing a portion of the Lion West Valley Park pedestrian bridge and rehabilitate the adjacent dam in 
the Town of Drayton Valley, which will provide opportunity for local contractors, enhance safety, and 
encourage active living.  

• Extending the waterline along Railway Avenue in the Village of Bittern Lake to provide a water supply 
to properties in a commercial subdivision. The project will create jobs during the construction phase and 
allow for future development. 

• Rehabilitating the fire station in the Village of Innisfree, including the installation of energy efficient 
lighting and repairs to the roof, doors, truck bay and cold storage – ensuring fire services meets the 
needs of residents and the business community.  

• Using local contractors, reconstructing storm water conduits in the Summer Village of Sunset Point to 
help mitigate long-term flooding. 

As a condition of the Municipal Stimulus Program, municipalities were required to commit to reducing red 
tape in at least one of the following areas: making it easier to start a new business, streamlining processes 
and shortening timelines for development and permit approvals, or making the municipality a more 
attractive destination for new investment or tourism. Reports on actions taken to reduce red tape in 2020 
were required by February 1, 2021. 

In 2020, actions taken by municipalities to reduce red tape were split between streamlining processes and 
shortening timelines (37 per cent) and making it easier to start a new business (36 per cent). Fewer actions 
were taken toward making the community more attractive for investment or tourism (27 per cent), perhaps 
due to activities under this objective requiring capital investments or infrastructure improvements. A similar 
trend was seen in the actions municipalities have planned for 2021, as cities, towns, municipal districts, and 
counties placed more emphasis on making it easier to start new businesses, while villages and summer 
villages focused on streamlining process and shortening timelines. Common themes included moving 
services online, investing in technology, evaluating and reducing processing timelines, partnering with 
organizations for regional economic development, and simplifying bylaws and regulations. A full analysis of 
the results, including potential best practices to be shared, will be completed in 2021-22. 
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Municipal Operating Support Transfer 

The Municipal Operating Support Transfer was created to deliver urgently needed operating support to 
municipalities under the Safe Restart Agreement between Alberta and Canada. The Safe Restart Agreement 
included a federal investment of more than $19 billion to help provinces and territories safely restart their 
economies and to build resiliency for possible future surges in cases of COVID-19. The agreement 
addresses increased municipal expenditures associated with COVID-19, such as personal protective 
equipment or enhanced cleaning; and mitigates the impact of reduced revenues due to lower economic 
activity, payment deferrals, and facility closures.  

The Municipal Operating Support Transfer program distributed $606 million of flexible operating funding 
to municipalities in 2020-21, under a 50/50 cost share between the provincial and federal governments. The 
provincial funding share included the $30 million operating component of the Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative, which was made unconditional for 2020-21 in response to the pandemic. 

In order to respond to municipalities’ emergent needs as quickly as possible, Municipal Affairs developed a 
simple and streamlined program to distribute the funding. As such, municipalities were able to access the 
funding quickly and conveniently, with few administrative requirements.  

The program was announced on September 25, 2020, and funding was allocated to 342 eligible 
municipalities and Metis Settlements, of which 338 signed an agreement to participate in the program. In 
2020-21, $576.3 million was paid to municipalities as part of this program. 

Federal Programs 

Federal Gas Tax Fund 

The federal Gas Tax Fund is a municipal infrastructure program fully funded by the federal government but 
administered by third parties. The program provides up-front, predictable long-term funding to help address 
local infrastructure priorities. In Alberta, Municipal Affairs administers the current program, which is a  
10-year extension (2014-2024) to the previous federal Gas Tax Fund. The program is administered through a 
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bilateral agreement between Alberta and Canada. The province reports financial activities annually, and 
outcomes every five years, to the federal government. 

In 2020-21, the federal Gas Tax Fund provided a total of $244.1 million to the province to help 
municipalities build and revitalize their local public infrastructure, while creating jobs and long-term 
prosperity. In 2020-21, Alberta municipalities committed more than $241.2 million of federal Gas Tax Fund 
funding for 372 new municipal infrastructure projects. 

Eligible project categories include: 

• roads and bridges; 

• public transit; 

• drinking water; 

• wastewater; 

• solid waste; 

• community energy systems; 

• sport, recreational, cultural, and tourism infrastructure; 

• capacity building; 

• disaster mitigation; 

• brownfield redevelopment; 

• broadband connectivity; and 

• local and regional airports. 

In fall 2020, Municipal Affairs participated in the annual federal Gas Tax Fund workshop, hosted by 
Infrastructure Canada. The group discussed the program to-date (it is now in year seven of the 10-year 
agreement), as well as potential program design improvements in advance of negotiations for the anticipated 
extension of the program. 

Small Communities Fund 

Under the federal New Building Canada Fund – Small Communities Fund agreement (initiated in 2015), 
Alberta and Canada each committed $94 million to fund infrastructure projects that benefit communities 
with populations of less than 100,000 people. Approved projects are generally funded on a one-third  
cost-sharing basis, with the federal, provincial, and municipal governments all providing equal amounts 
toward eligible project costs. Fifty-six projects were approved under the Small Communities Fund in  
July 2015, with provincial funding allocated over five years starting in 2015-16.  

Since 2015-16, 35 projects have been completed, including the following four projects completed in  
2020-21: 

• County of St. Paul No. 19 (Joint Facultative Lagoon and Transfer Station Expansion Project). 

• County of Wetaskiwin No. 10 (Alder Flats Wastewater Expansion). 
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• County of Grande Prairie No. 1 (116 Street Trunk Sewer and Clairmont Lagoon Discharge Piping). 

• Municipal District of Foothills No. 31 (Millarville Water Supply Project). 

The completed projects have had positive impacts on economic growth, the environment, and have helped 
to build stronger communities. For example, by July 2020, drinking water projects had geographically 
increased access to safe drinking water by 58 per cent, and wastewater projects had increased wastewater 
collection and treatment capacity by 48 per cent. As more projects from the program are completed, more 
beneficial outcomes are expected to continue to roll out. 

In late 2020, the federal government initiated an audit of several grant programs, including the Small 
Communities Fund, and Municipal Affairs assisted the federal auditor in a review of the program. The audit 
report is under review by the federal government and Alberta is expected to receive the report in summer 
2021. 

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 

The Government of Canada introduced the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program in 2018-19. This 
program continues Canada’s support for provinces and territories by investing in infrastructure projects that 
support three key federal goals: 1) create long-term economic growth; 2) support a low-carbon, green 
economy; and 3) build inclusive communities. The Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program will provide 
$3.65 billion to Alberta over 11 years.  

In December 2018, Alberta and Canada amended the Integrated Bilateral Agreement for the Investing in 
Canada Infrastructure Fund, increasing the maximum federal commitment from $3.4 billion to $3.65 billion. 
In December 2020 a second amendment to the bilateral agreement was completed, which modified 
distribution levels under the original four funding streams and added a fifth funding stream – COVID-19 
Resilience Infrastructure. Current federal commitments fall under the following five funding streams: 

• Public Transit ($2.1 billion). 

• Green Infrastructure ($1.17 billion). 

• Community, Culture, and Recreation Infrastructure ($140.3 million). 

• Rural and Northern communities ($152.3 million). 

• COVID-19 Resilience Infrastructure ($87.4 million). 

Alberta Infrastructure was responsible for identifying eligible projects for this program’s funding, while 
several Alberta ministries were designated as funding partners to align the federal funding with existing 
provincial funding programs. Municipal Affairs is the partner ministry for municipal projects under the 
following funding streams, where Municipal Sustainability Initiative funding is used as the matching 
provincial funding contribution: 

• Community, Culture, and Recreation Infrastructure  

• Rural and Northern Communities  

• Green Infrastructure  
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Municipal Affairs is administering grant delivery for 24 of the projects approved for funding by the federal 
government during summer 2020. Funding agreements were executed in 2020, and these projects are now 
underway. Most are expected to be completed within the next four years. Grant recipients are reimbursed 
based on actual submitted costs, with these expenditures claimed back from the federal government. 

1.6  Enhance Albertans’ access to public library resources by continuing to provide operating 
grants to library boards and to continue to invest in the province-wide library network. 

Public libraries provide equitable information access to all residents of Alberta, even when the library 
buildings’ doors are closed. Although public libraries were closed to the public for parts of 2020-21 due to 
public health restrictions related to COVID-19, Albertans still used library services to check out an ebook, 
participate in an online program, keep up with news from around the world, and much more. These services 
helped to build resiliency in Alberta’s communities by connecting them to meaningful information and 
community supports during COVID-19 closures, and by providing safe access to physical materials when it 
was time to open. 

Municipal Affairs supported public library services in many ways throughout 2020-21 including: 

• providing virtual legislative consulting and training to ensure library boards had the tools to continue 
governing their libraries throughout the pandemic; 

• ensuring library operating grant amounts remained stable through the 2020-21 year; 

• supporting public library services for print-disabled Albertans and Indigenous populations in Alberta; 
and 

• continuing to administer the Alberta Public Library Network – its electronic and resource delivery 
services were even more important in 2020-21 as e-content use increased by 250 per cent.  

The Government of Alberta promotes a provincial Public Library Network to provide Albertans with: 

• interlibrary loan service and delivery; 

• SuperNet connections for facilitating library operations and enabling high-speed internet to patrons; and 

• a $1 million e-content suite including ebooks and audiobooks. 

Provincial Funding  

Stable provincial funding for public libraries ensures library service remains equitable across the province. In 
2020-21, the Government of Alberta provided $30.2 million in operating grant funding to public library 
boards. The operating grant was paid to library boards in two 50 per cent installments – in April and 
September – to ensure boards had funds to serve their communities during the pandemic. 

In addition, $700,000 was provided to support on-reserve and on-settlement access to public library 
programs and services. 

Response to COVID-19 

Municipal Affairs supported library boards throughout the COVID-19 pandemic in many ways, including 
the distribution of more than 40 information circulars to library stakeholders regarding the pandemic and 12 
information sheets for library boards and staff providing guidance on how to respond to COVID-19 
restrictions and reopen safely. Municipal Affairs also held conference calls with library systems and city 
library leaders to provide direct updates and answer questions. 
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As part of the second phase of the Masks for Albertans program, Municipal Affairs facilitated the 
distribution of more than 800,000 masks to Alberta public libraries via government courier. 

Electronic Resources  

Municipal Affairs invests $1 million annually in electronic resources for all public libraries across Alberta. 
This investment widens the range, quantity, and quality of library resources available to residents in all parts 
of the province, and helps ensure equitable access to resources for all Albertans. These services have been 
especially important this year with the closure of library buildings because of COVID-19 public health 
restrictions. E-resources funded in 2020-21 include: 

• audiobooks and e-magazines through the e-content provider Recorded Books; 

• PressReader, which provides international newspapers and magazines electronically; and 

• Pronunciator, which provides language learning opportunities to Albertans. 

The ministry continued its successful partnership with the Book Publishers Association of Alberta this year 
in support of the Read Alberta ebooks collection. This service makes nearly 2,000 Alberta-published ebooks 
available to readers across the province. Included in the Read Alberta ebooks collection is the Prairie 
Indigenous ebooks collection, which has 237 books written by Indigenous authors and published in Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, and Manitoba. To ensure these materials are available to all Albertans, the ministry partners 
with the National Network for Equitable Library Service to convert ebooks to accessible formats for readers 
with print disabilities. 

The Voices of Amiskwaciy project, a partnership funded by the ministry and delivered by Edmonton Public 
Library, transitioned to a new site focusing on stories for Indigenous Peoples within Alberta called Voices of 
the Land in early 2021.  

A stable, secure SuperNet connection allows public libraries to reliably provide online services within their 
buildings. The ministry funds SuperNet use for all libraries in the Public Library Network at a cost of  
$2.5 million a year. SuperNet usage patterns are monitored, reviewed, and enhanced on an ongoing basis in 
order to ensure this access keeps up with user demand. 

Services for People with Print Disabilities  

The Alberta government prioritizes equitable access to library service. The ministry continues to support 
people with print disabilities by providing $225,000 in combined funding to the National Network for 
Equitable Library Service and the Centre for Equitable Library Access. The ministry also provided $50,000 
to the National Network for Equitable Library Service to create three internship positions to assist with 
creating accessible format materials at the University of Alberta School of Library and Information Services. 

Services for Indigenous Communities 

In 2016-17, Municipal Affairs began providing $700,000 annually to three large urban libraries and six 
regional library systems to serve neighbouring Indigenous populations outside municipal boundaries, and 
continued to do so in 2020-21. Traditionally underserved in Alberta public libraries, all on-reserve and on-
settlement populations now have equitable access to public library resources. 

An increasing number of public library and outreach services are emerging on-reserve and on-settlement, 
including the establishment of Indigenous outreach services at Alexis Nakota Sioux Nation, Cold Lake First 
Nation, Elizabeth Metis Settlement, Enoch Cree Nation, Goodfish Lake First Nation, Heart Lake First 
Nation, Maskwacîs, Saddle Lake Cree Nation, and Sunchild First Nation School. Frog Lake First Nation and 
Fishing Lake Metis Settlement also established public libraries to deliver local service in 2020-21. 
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Ministry staff continued to deliver training on Indigenous library services, history, and culture to library 
board members and staff throughout 2020-21. This included online training to library boards and a virtual 
conference presentation. 

Resource Sharing  

Alberta libraries share materials to provide the broadest range of resources to all Albertans, regardless of 
where they live. This sharing is facilitated by electronic software, physical delivery of material by interlibrary 
loan, and a policy framework to govern these services. 

After extensive consultations on a new distributed framework for resource sharing in 2019, ministry staff 
and Alberta public libraries began implementing this new framework in 2020. While the implementation of 
this model to public libraries was delayed by the shutdown of interlibrary loans from March until July 2020 
due to the pandemic, this closure allowed ministry staff to finalize distribution processes so that the new 
model was ready to fully implement on reopening. When libraries closed again in December 2020, public 
access to interlibrary loans was stopped again until February 2021. This has resulted in a 30 per cent 
reduction of costs for interlibrary loans in 2020-21, compared to 2018-19. 

Enhancing Governance  

Municipal Affairs supports good governance of public library service by providing advisory services, training 
sessions on library governance, and other support materials to assist in developing sound management and 
operational practices. In 2020-21, Municipal Affairs delivered 12 online board orientation sessions to 
individual boards looking for governance training. Ministry staff also presented webinars and online 
conference sessions on topics such as guidelines for closing and reopening, library governance during 
COVID-19, strategic planning, board appointments, and board and staff relations. In addition, ministry staff 
continued to answer questions from individual library board and staff members looking for guidance.  

 
Minister’s Awards for Excellence  

Since 2010, the Minister’s Awards for Excellence in Public Library Service program has annually recognized 
public libraries with innovative and outstanding programs, services, or technologies. These awards identify 
and recognize best practices, and allow other libraries to replicate or modify these ideas in their own 
communities. 

As these awards were not presented in 2019 due to the timing of the provincial election, the 2020 awards 
included submissions from 2019 and 2020. The three winners included: 

City of Lethbridge Library Board: “Big Truck Petting Zoo” 

The first ever Big Truck Petting Zoo event was held at the Crossings Branch of the Lethbridge Public 
Library in May 2019. The event was a partnership between the Lethbridge Public Library and the City of 
Lethbridge Public Operations. The Big Truck Petting Zoo gave participants a chance to touch the 
equipment and learn about its operation from heavy equipment operators. The idea was developed out of 
the City of Lethbridge Public Operations’ desire to hold an event during National Public Works Week to 
highlight the work done by Public Operations staff.  

The Public Operations departments were able to speak directly to attendees about safety around the 
equipment when they see it out “in the wild.” They were also able to educate attendees about the services 
they run and inform participants about careers with the city in heavy equipment operation. 

City of Spruce Grove Library Board: “New Beginnings Listening Circle” 
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The New Beginnings Listening Circle is a new library program based on traditional Indigenous talking 
circles, with an added focus on listening to members of the community who are willing to share their stories 
in a safe and welcoming environment. The program originated from the City of Spruce Grove Family and 
Community Support Services’ New Beginnings project to “develop a tri-regional (Spruce Grove, Stony Plain 
and Parkland County) strategic response to the increasing number of Indigenous families and individuals 
seeking services from Spruce Grove, Stony Plain, and Parkland County.”  

Town of Vulcan Library Board: “Reading to Build Community” 

Reading to Build Community is a facilitated intervention targeting seniors at risk of loneliness and isolation 
by using literature to build social connections within members of a group. Rainbow Literacy and Learning 
and the Vulcan Library initiated the reading program that reaches out to three groups of residents in the 
local Extendicare facility to assist seniors at risk in building a sense of community. It was discovered that due 
to hearing loss in some seniors, conversation aides were needed. As a result, the Extendicare Auxiliary 
purchased Pocket Talkers (conversation amplifiers) for use in the group. These Pocket Talkers can also be 
borrowed by medical staff and family members to aid conversation outside of the program sessions. 
Materials that are modified to meet the varying abilities of those living with advancing physical and cognitive 
disabilities were purchased for use in this program by the Vulcan and District Agriculture Society. 
 

Other Ministry Activities in Support of Outcome One 

Grants in Place of Taxes 

As Government of Alberta property is exempt from municipal taxation, municipalities may be given a grant 
in place of taxes – not to exceed the value of the property taxes – on eligible properties in which the Crown 
has an interest within the municipality. The payment acknowledges that the Government of Alberta benefits 
from municipal services such as roads, snow clearing, transit, and emergency services. Examples of eligible 
properties include provincial buildings, courthouses, correctional institutions, and grazing reserves.  

Despite the province’s difficult economic situation, continuing to provide grants in place of taxes payments 
demonstrates an acknowledgement of the vital services provided by municipalities in communities where 
Crown properties are located. The overall Grants in Place of Taxes program budget was reduced in 2019-20 
and for following years. In 2020-21, the majority of the applications (tax notices) were paid at 50 per cent of 
the eligible amount. In total, $28.9 million was provided for 167 municipalities on behalf of more than 4,700 
Crown properties. 

Equalized Assessment and Education Property Tax  

Each year, the ministry, under the authority of the Minister of Municipal Affairs, prepares equalized 
assessments for each municipality in the province. Equalized assessments are the basis for requisitioning 
provincial education property tax and other requisitions from municipalities, and they are also used in 
formulas for provincial grants to municipalities. The equalization of municipal property assessments is 
determined by adjusting each municipality’s taxable assessment to a common level, as prescribed by 
regulation.  

Equalized assessment is a process that levels the playing field for municipalities, so property tax requisitions 
and grants can be fairly allocated. Just as property owners pay taxes in proportion to the value of the 
property they own, municipalities are required to contribute to the provincial education and other 
requisitions based on the proportion of assessment within their jurisdictions.  
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Intermunicipal fairness and equity is important when requisitioning property taxes from municipalities or 
calculating grants. It is usually necessary to make some adjustments in the assessment base figures each 
municipality reports to the province before those assessments are used to determine each municipality’s 
contribution to a regional or provincial program, or its equitable share of grant dollars. These adjustments 
are made through the equalized assessment process to adjust each municipality’s assessments to 100 per cent 
of market value. The equalization process removes the variations in assessment levels to make the 
assessment bases more comparable among municipalities. The process produces a set of adjusted, or 
equalized, assessments that can then be used to distribute requisitions, or allocate grants, among 
municipalities in a fair and equitable manner. 

The official 2021 provincial equalized assessment was about $950 billion, which is a decrease of 
approximately $4 billion (0.41 per cent) from 2020. This decrease was a result of a small decline in residential 
(1.04 per cent), a slight increase in non-residential (0.6 per cent), and growth in machinery and equipment 
equalized assessment (0.95 per cent). Total equalized assessment is 64 per cent residential, 27 per cent  
non-residential, and nine per cent machinery and equipment.  

Education property taxes provide a stable source of funding for the kindergarten-to-Grade 12 education 
system. The Government of Alberta determines the total amount of education property tax to be collected. 
The ministry supports the provincial education property tax system by calculating the annual education 
property tax requisition for each municipality. Municipalities collect the education property taxes on behalf 
of the provincial government and remit the funds to the Alberta School Foundation Fund or the opted-out 
separate school boards. All education property taxes are then pooled by the provincial government and 
distributed to public and separate school boards based on an equal, per-student funding formula.  

Education Property Tax Deferral  

In response to significant economic challenges due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a six-month deferral of 
2020 non-residential education property tax was announced in March 2020. Municipalities deferred the 
education portion of the tax bill, or provided an equivalent combined municipal and education tax deferral. 
The intent of the deferral was to keep businesses viable so they could continue to meet payroll obligations 
and employ as many Albertans as possible. Most municipalities worked in partnership with the province to 
implement the deferral and support local businesses. 

Community Revitalization Levy  

The Community Revitalization Levy is a program that allows municipalities to borrow against future 
property tax revenues to cover infrastructure costs aimed at development in an economically blighted area. 
The levies are authorized under the Municipal Government Act, and there are currently five community 
revitalization areas established in Alberta: Calgary’s Rivers District; Edmonton’s Belvedere, The Quarters, 
and Capital City Downtown; and Cochrane’s South-Central area.  

Because the levy utilizes education property tax revenue as a catalyst for development, the Government of 
Alberta has an interest in ensuring the continued success of this program. As a result, the establishment 
regulations expire every 10 years in order to prompt a review of their ongoing relevance and necessity. Two 
of Edmonton’s regulations set to expire at the end of 2020 were therefore reviewed this past year; the 
province worked with the City of Edmonton to understand progress to date within each area’s plan. Upon 
the review’s completion, both the Belvedere and Quarters regulations were renewed. This authorizes the two 
community revitalization levies to operate for the full length of their intended 20-year terms – until 2031 for 
the Quarters, and until 2032 for Belvedere. 

This program has been under review since 2013 while the government continues to look at how this tool 
will be used in the future. 
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Other Regulation Amendments 

An amendment to section 8(2) of the Community Organization Property Tax Exemption Regulation was 
passed to allow exemption eligibility for non-profit bingo facilities licensed under the Alberta Gaming, 
Liquor, and Cannabis Corporation.  

To further stimulate new drilling activity, the rates in the Well Drilling Equipment Tax Regulation were set 
to zero effective January 1, 2021. As payment of the well drilling equipment tax is no longer required, energy 
sector companies will be able to invest in drilling more wells. 

The education property tax exemption for electricity power generation properties was extended to 
December 31, 2021. 
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Red Tape Reduction 

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs is committed to the ongoing review of programs and services to ensure 
that the best possible outcomes are being achieved for Albertans. As part of this ongoing review, the 
ministry is committed to making life easier for hard-working Albertans and job creators by reducing 
regulatory requirements by one-third by 2023, and eliminating administrative burden through more efficient 
processes. This work will improve service delivery for Albertans; foster economic growth, innovation and 
competitiveness; create a strong and attractive investment climate; and make Alberta one of the freest and 
fastest moving economies in North America.  

Outcome Two: Alberta’s economic 
prosperity is facilitated by local 
governments 

Key Objectives 

2.1  Streamline regulatory requirements in municipal 
legislation and regulation that are hampering 
administrative efficiencies for municipalities, 
including a review of the regulations governing 
regional services commissions in the province. 
The proposed amendments will allow 
municipalities to be more responsive to the 
needs of their residents and businesses. 

Streamlining the formation and operation of 
regional services commissions  

Bill 22, the Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act, 2020, 
focused on streamlining the formation and operation of 
regional services commissions under the Municipal 
Government Act. Commissions formed by municipalities now 
have greater control and flexibility over their operations and 
governance, and a reduced number of provincial approvals. 
Requirements previously housed in 80 separate regulations 
were repealed. 

These changes were successful in reducing administrative 
inefficiencies for regional services commissions, enabling 
them to deliver services in a more effective way and 
reducing the burden on Cabinet for approving minor 
operational decisions that are more appropriately handled 
by the individual commissions. 

Amalgamation of permitting and inspections of 
storage tank systems from the Petroleum Tank 
Management Association of Alberta to the 
Alberta Safety Codes Authority 

As part of the Alberta government’s focus on reducing red 
tape, the ministry transferred the management of petroleum 
storage tanks from the Petroleum Tank Management 

Actions that Support the Priorities 
of the Government of Alberta 
Strategic Plan 

Key Priority One:   
Supporting Job Creation 

Objective 3:  
Reducing red tape 

• Review the Municipal Government 
Act, focusing on ways to reduce 
regulatory burden and streamline 
provisions hampering 
administrative efficiencies for 
municipalities, citizens, businesses 
and industry. 

• Bill 22: Red Tape Reduction 
Implementation Act, 2020 included 
streamlining the formation and 
operation of regional services 
commissions under the Municipal 
Government Act. This will allow for 
commissions formed by 
municipalities to have greater 
control and flexibility over their 
operations and governance, and a 
reduced number of provincial 
approvals.  

• Bill 48, the Red Tape Reduction 
Implementation Act, 2020 (No. 2) 
included numerous amendments to 
the planning sections of the 
Municipal Government Act. These 
changes will speed up subdivision 
and development permit approvals, 
and streamline the appeal 
processes for projects approved by 
a provincial regulator. 
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Association of Alberta to the Alberta Safety Codes Authority, a division of the Safety Codes Council. The 
Petroleum Tank Management Association of Alberta was a delegated administrative organization, with the 
responsibility for:  

• registering all petroleum storage tanks; 

• monitoring the in-use status of each tank in Alberta; and  

• conducting inspections in both accredited and unaccredited municipalities with contracts for this service.  

In Alberta, there are approximately 14,000 registered tanks and 4,400 storage tank sites. The transfer of the 
management of petroleum storage tanks was intended to consolidate responsibilities, improve service, and 
leverage economies of scale. This transfer of responsibilities is expected to reduce red tape by lowering costs 
for owners and decreasing wait times for inspections, including private, municipal, and industry stakeholders 
(such as Suncor, Shell, and Husky). On June 8, 2020, the Alberta Safety Codes Authority assumed 
responsibility for the storage tank program and began inspecting and monitoring the in-use status of storage 
tanks within Alberta. This transition will continue into the 2021-22 fiscal year.  

Repealing the building assessment report under the New Home Buyer Protection Act – 
reduction of regulatory requirements  

The requirement to complete a building assessment report was introduced under the New Home Buyer 
Protection Act in 2014. These reports were intended to provide information about the common property and 
common facilities in a condominium building, once construction had been completed, to inform warranty 
claims by the condominium board. Common property and common facilities refer to common areas in 
condominium buildings – such as hallways, elevators, and recreational amenities – and building exteriors, 
such as the roof. Following construction of the building, an engineer, architect, or technologist would 
complete a building assessment report in order to inform the condominium board of the condition of the 
building. 

In fall 2019, stakeholders identified building assessment reports as an opportunity to reduce red tape for 
builders and industry through the government’s online red tape reduction website. In response, the ministry 
consulted key stakeholders, including condominium boards, condominium owners, warranty providers, 
municipalities, builders, architects, and engineers. These stakeholders indicated that building assessment 
reports for new condominium building construction were not consistently achieving their intended goal of 
providing condominium boards with a comprehensive overview of the common property and common 
facilities. A range of factors limited the value of these reports, including the timing of the formation of an 
owner-based condominium board, quality and completeness, and duplication with other documentation 
required during construction. At an average cost of $383 per condominium unit, the reports were adding to 
the overall costs. The ministry determined the requirement for building assessment reports under the New 
Home Buyer Protection Act was causing unnecessary red tape for builders and industry, and moved forward 
with repealing these requirements. 

Repealing the requirement for building assessment reports impacts the Condominium Property Act, which is 
administered by Service Alberta. In the New Home Buyer Protection Act, a building assessment report is 
completed for newly constructed condominiums, while the Condominium Property Act establishes the 
requirements for a building assessment report for conversion of existing homes to condominiums. The 
ministry has worked closely with Service Alberta on repealing the requirements for building assessment 
reports for newly constructed condominiums, and it continues to work closely with Service Alberta on the 
development of alternative tools to support condominium boards in the submission of home warranty 
claims.  
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In fall 2020, as part of Bill 48, the Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act, 2020 (No. 2), Cabinet approved the 
proposed amendments to repeal building assessment report requirements from the New Home Buyer Protection 
Act, the New Home Buyer Protection (General) Regulation, and the New Home Buyer Protection 
(Ministerial) Regulation with an in-force date of July 1, 2021. This represented a regulatory reduction of 
approximately 12 per cent of the legislated requirements, and a cost reduction to builders and industry.  

Other areas where regulatory requirements in municipal legislation were streamlined 

• Consistent with the province’s red tape reduction initiative and owing in part to the limitations imposed 
by the pandemic, the ministry successfully delivered assessment rolls to all municipalities for the first 
time through email. This reduced the requirements for labour, Universal Serial Buses (USB) wafers, 
envelopes, and postage. The ministry is continuing to promote the use of electronic delivery systems 
with stakeholders. 

• The Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital and Operating Program guidelines are no longer 
completely reissued annually; any significant changes are communicated through an addendum to the 
guidelines. Municipalities can now submit project applications at any time to be processed without 
having to wait for annual guidelines. 

• Municipalities are now advised of the status of their Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital 
applications via email notification and the Municipal Sustainability Initiative online system rather than by 
mail. Municipalities can determine the status of project submissions quickly without waiting for paper 
correspondence. 

• Red tape reduction principles were included in the development of the Municipal Stimulus Program and 
the Municipal Operating Support Transfer program to ensure these were delivered in a streamlined 
manner. For example, no application form was required for the Municipal Operating Support Transfer 
program. As a result, municipalities received needed funding for COVID-19 support quickly and 
without submitting unnecessary paperwork. In addition, the ease of reporting on the use of the 
Municipal Operating Support Transfer program funding was evident when the reporting forms were 
emailed to municipalities and a completed report was received less than 10 minutes later. Furthermore, 
the flexibility of the Municipal Stimulus Program and simple program documents resulted in more than 
$499 million of the $500 million budget being quickly accessed by municipalities to support local jobs 
and economic development. 

2.2  Enable municipalities to foster economic growth by ensuring they have the tools to do so, 
including facilitating pre-approved industrial zones and streamlining administration of 
special planning zones around the Edmonton and Calgary airports. 

Pre-approved Industrial Zones  

Municipal governments play a key role in establishing competitive economic investment environments and 
attracting and facilitating economic development in Alberta. A pre-approved industrial zone is an area 
designated for industrial development that has received advanced approval by regulators for a variety of 
interrelated industrial activities. Pre-approved industrial zones will provide another tool for municipalities to 
leverage in order to provide investors with the certainty necessary to make large capital investments. Pre-
approved industrial zones will enable local governments to identify areas that are well-suited for 
development, and work efficiently and collaboratively with provincial regulators to support long-term 
investment and development in that area. 

In February 2020, Municipal Affairs convened a working group with various Government of Alberta 
departments and representatives from the Alberta Industrial Heartland Association and the Northeast 
Capital Industrial Association. The working group began looking at opportunities and identifying barriers to 
pre-approved industrial zones. Going forward, policy development related to pre-approved industrial zones 
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will be led by the Ministry of Environment and Parks, which plays a larger role in the development and 
regulation of industrial properties and industries.  

Airport Vicinity Protection Area Regulations 

The Calgary and Edmonton International Airport Vicinity Protection Area regulations establish noise 
exposure forecast contours around airport lands based on expected noise levels from aircraft activity, and 
limits development within these contours. The regulations identify the types of development that will be 
permitted on these lands in order to ensure these developments are compatible with airport operations, 
based on federal Transport Canada guidelines. 

Any request to allow restricted development within the protection area, which must be done through 
amendment of the regulation, is considered by the Minister of Municipal Affairs on a case-by-case basis. The 
Calgary International Airport Vicinity Protection Area Regulation has been amended to allow developments 
such as schools. Additional changes in 2021 will allow for the development of permanent supportive 
housing within the protection area. These changes should significantly reduce regulatory burden for future 
developments of this nature.  

Likewise, a working group was created to explore ways to streamline the Edmonton International Airport 
Vicinity Protection Area Regulation, and to improve efficiency for development near the airport. This 
working group was tasked with developing recommendations to balance economic development with airport 
operations. The working group’s recommendations have been taken under consideration, and will be 
included in a broader red tape reduction review of both airport regulations.  

2.3  Develop and deliver on a red tape reduction plan to make sure the ministry’s current and new 
regulations are free of unnecessary red tape, as required by the Red Tape Reduction Act. 

The ministry established red tape reduction annual plans with information on the key initiatives targeted for 
completion in the 2020, 2021 and 2022 calendar years. The plans include a description of each initiative, its 
goals, and the projected impacts. The ministry completed several initiatives based on the 2020 plan and will 
continue to reduce red tape over the next two years.  

Municipal Accountability Program Threshold Reduced 

As part of the Government of Alberta’s red tape reduction initiative, the population threshold for 
municipalities to participate in the Municipal Accountability Program was reduced from “less than 5,000” to 
“less than 2,500.” In addition, the items reviewed were reduced by 30 per cent. A lower population threshold 
reduces the number of municipalities required to collect and submit documentation and to participate in the 
review process, and results in additional ministry resources being available to municipalities as they mitigate 
identified legislative gaps. This change has helped to enhance municipal capacity across the province.  

The ministry also achieved significant reduction in regulatory burden through the reform of the Regional 
Services Commission Framework, removing more than 600 requirements through the repeal of more than 
70 regulations. Regional services commissions no longer require provincial approval for changes to regional 
services commission services, changes to board of director bylaws, addition or removal of members or non-
member municipal authority customers, disposal of assets, or regional services commission disestablishment.  

Bill 29, the Local Authorities Election Amendment Act, 2020, and Bill 45, the Local Authorities Election Amendment 
Act, 2020 (No. 2), included amendments that simplify municipal election process for municipalities, 
candidates, and Albertans.  

Bill 48, the Red Tape Reduction Implementation Act, 2020 (No. 2), included numerous amendments to the 
planning sections of the Municipal Government Act. Changes will speed up subdivision and development 
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permit approvals; streamline the appeal processes for projects approved by a provincial regulator; and 
consolidate the Municipal Government Board, Land Compensation Board, Surface Rights Board, and New 
Home Buyer Protection Board into the newly created Land and Property Rights Tribunal.  

Many of these changes were based on targeted engagement with municipal associations, the cities of 
Edmonton and Calgary, and the development industry in August 2020. The focus of these discussions was 
to improve timelines, to increase transparency, and on other streamlining and clarification that simplifies 
processes for industry, municipalities, and Albertans. 

The ministry also intends to consult with stakeholders in 2021 on potential amendments to the Libraries Act 
in order to reduce red tape that might be impeding libraries. 

2.4  Develop new assessment models for wells, pipelines, and machinery and equipment for 
implementation in the 2021 tax year in order to modernize the regulated assessment system 
while promoting industry competitiveness and a predictable revenue base for municipalities. 

In 2020-21, government concluded a review of the regulated assessment models for wells, pipelines, and 
wellsite machinery and equipment, which determine the assessed values of these assets for taxation 
purposes. A working group comprised of stakeholder associations was engaged in the process, and four 
potential assessment scenarios were discussed by the group – representing different combinations of 
assessment and tax policy. The scenarios balanced drivers such as attracting investment, maintaining viability 
of existing assets, promoting predictability and stability, and municipal viability.  

The province decided not to proceed with comprehensive changes due to the current economic uncertainty 
and lack of consensus on the scenarios. The challenges facing Alberta’s oil and gas sector remain, and there 
are specific areas where our assessment and taxation system can be improved to support Alberta’s economic 
recovery and protect jobs in communities throughout the province. To that end, the province implemented 
the following measures to support economic recovery and provide much-needed certainty to industry, 
investors, municipalities, and other property taxpayers for the next three years: 

• In order to encourage new investment, a three-year “property tax holiday” was instituted for all new well 
and pipeline assets; these properties will receive an assessment of zero for the next three years. This will 
be a savings to industry of approximately $10-12 million per year in municipal taxes, and approximately 
$3 million in education taxes. 

• To further stimulate new drilling activity, the Well Drilling Equipment Tax was set to zero effective 
January 1, 2021. This tax cost industry $23 million in 2020. 

• Additional depreciation adjustments were provided for lower producing wells; this is expected to result 
in a reduction of approximately $21 million in municipal taxes and $7 million in education taxes 
province-wide. 

• To promote continued viability of existing assets and companies, the previously introduced shallow gas 
assessment reduction of 35 per cent will also be maintained for the next three years. This represents 
approximately $14 million in municipal taxes and $4 million in education taxes. 

In the coming year, the province will develop a plan for longer-term reviews of the regulated assessment 
system and remains committed to continued consultations and open dialogue. 
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Performance Measure 2.a: Regulatory requirements reduced across the ministry  

Prior Years’ Results 

2020-21 

Target 

 

2020-21 

Actual 

 

2019-20  

Actual 

(target 5%) 

11% 12% 25% 

 

For 2020-21, Municipal Affairs exceeded its 12 per cent regulatory requirement reduction target by more 
than 13 percentage points (25.3 per cent). 
 
Reaching the 2020-21 target early will enable the ministry to focus on opportunities to reduce red tape – 
including at an administrative level – that may not result in a significant reduction to the number of 
regulatory requirements, but may still allow for programs and services to be accessed more efficiently and 
effectively. 
 
The Government of Alberta is committed to reducing regulatory burden by one-third. A reduction in the 
number of regulatory requirements demonstrates a reduction in the overall regulatory burden imposed on 
Albertans.  
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Outcome Three: Albertans are protected with safe buildings, homes, and 
communities 

 

Key Objectives  

3.1  Align the safety codes system to a quality assurance framework that enables partners to act 
autonomously while holding them accountable.  

Municipal Affairs is reliant on third-party delivery of the safety system by partners and delegated entities. To 
help provide strategic guidance, oversight, and monitoring of the safety system, Municipal Affairs developed 
the Quality Assurance Framework – a policy document that articulates roles, responsibilities and overall 
expectations of all safety system partners, and identifies five outcomes for the safety system. These 
outcomes are:  

1)  effective oversight of safety system delivery;  

2)  clearly-defined roles and expectations;  

3)  risk-based strategic priorities informed by data;  

4)  collaboration with partners/stakeholders in the safety system; and  

5)  an accountable safety system through a defined system of monitoring.  

The Quality Assurance Framework provides the guiding direction and vision for the various initiatives of the 
department and its safety system partners. 
 

Emergency Exemption under the Safety Codes Act   

The emergency exemption that was issued this past spring in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, is an 
example of a recent initiative taken to bring the safety system more closely in line with the Quality Assurance 
Framework. 

At the onset of the pandemic, it became apparent Alberta might need additional testing/health care facilities 
to mitigate the expected strain on the capacity of the health care system. For instance, a recreational facility 
was utilized temporarily as an accommodation facility for the homeless. Under the Safety Codes Act, if a 
permit is required for construction or operation, no person shall do so unless the person has the appropriate 
permit. 

In normal times, permit requirements are useful for tracking and building municipal databases, but this 
administrative requirement – to apply and be approved for a permit – can create delays during a public 
health emergency. To remedy this, the ministry proposed a new power to suspend or modify requirements 
of the Safety Codes Act, by Order, when a state of emergency is declared under the Public Health Act or the 
Emergency Management Act. This amendment to the Safety Codes Act was approved and came into force on  
June 26, 2020, and the minister issued an order on July 7, 2020, retroactive to the date the public health 
emergency was declared. By executing this order during the COVID-19 pandemic, the minister was able to 
suspend specific permit requirements, without impacting overall safety objectives. This granted 
municipalities flexibility around enforcing normal permit requirements, while still upholding accountability 
to the safety codes system and ensuring overall outcomes align with the Quality Assurance Framework. This 
emergency exemption gave municipalities like Calgary and Edmonton the autonomy to mobilize resources in 
response to the pandemic. As a result, both cities were able to quickly set up drive-thru testing sites, without 
waiting for a permit. 
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Administrative Penalties under the Safety Codes Act  

Administrative penalty provisions were amended under the Safety Codes Act to provide an additional tool to 
enforce and promote compliance with the Act. The use of penalties like these reflect the ministry’s efforts to 
shift the approach to the safety system, as it provides an additional enforcement tool and will help in 
responding to matters of non-compliance. 

An administrative penalty may be issued when a person has failed to comply with: 

• certain provisions of the Safety Codes Act;  

• an order made under the Act; or  

• a condition in a permit, certificate, or variance issued under the Act.  

Administrative penalties support improved compliance outcomes, but do not replace orders and prosecution 
under the Safety Codes Act. A penalty can be issued as a single amount, or an amount for each day the 
contravention or failure to comply continues, to a maximum daily amount of $10,000 and a total penalty 
amount of $100,000. Administrative penalties provide an alternative to issuing multiple orders or having to 
pursue lengthy court proceedings. Issuing such penalties is expected to reduce the administrative burden on 
Alberta’s court system in cases where legal proceedings are unnecessary, or when orders are ineffective, as 
they do not include a monetary penalty to encourage compliance. An example of when an administrative 
penalty could be issued is if a bar is continually overcrowded. In this scenario, a safety codes officer may 
have written a number of orders asking the bar owner to manage the amount of people inside, as per the fire 
code. If the bar owner does not comply with those orders, an administrative penalty could be issued to 
motivate compliance with the fire code, as per the requirement of the Safety Codes Act.  

Administrative penalties also support the government’s red tape reduction strategy, as they provide an 
alternative tool for compliance and may remove the need for expensive and drawn-out court proceedings. 
With the recent finalization of administrative penalties under the Safety Codes Act, the legislation now 
authorizes a full array of enforcement tools – from orders, on one end of the spectrum (a direction to 
comply) to prosecution involving court proceedings. Administrative penalties fill the middle ground, where 
an order may not have been effective, and prosecution is not appropriate. Each of the compliance tools 
under the Safety Codes Act are designed to provide options for enforcing compliance within the safety system. 
This will ultimately result in greater safety outcomes for all Albertans. 

The administrative penalty amendments received royal assent on July 23, 2020. 

3.2  Represent Alberta and its interests during the development of national and international 
codes for potential adoption in Alberta.  

The province of Alberta is represented and actively participates on a wide range of committees relating to 
the adoption of codes and standards for public safety. Alberta currently chairs the Provincial Territorial 
Policy Advisory Committee on Codes, which is made up of government-appointed officials and provides 
input and advice on the development of the national building, fire, plumbing, energy, and farm codes to the 
Canadian Commission on the Building and Fire Codes, and the Codes Centre at the National Research 
Council. This committee also acts as a forum for provinces and territories to share best practices and 
promote harmonization of construction codes across Canada, which reduces barriers to trade, labour, and 
investment. Harmonization of construction codes is important because it ensures each province adopts the 
most recent edition of the national safety codes and standards when building and designing new buildings or 
homes. It is important for Alberta to be an active, contributing member of this committee as it provides the 
opportunity to comment on potential code changes and advise the government (and stakeholders) on any 
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policy, cost impacts, or technical issues from current and future code development that may affect the 
province. In some cases, it has given Alberta the ability to advance different initiatives, such as the use of 
mass timber construction of up to 12 storeys in Alberta ahead of the national code publication. 

Alberta is also represented on the National Public Safety Advisory Committee, which provides input and 
advice on the development of safety codes and standards applicable to gas, electrical, elevating devices, 
pressure vessels, and private sewage systems. As part of this advisory committee, Alberta has the 
opportunity to provide input and advice to standards development organizations accredited by the Standards 
Council of Canada, and to promote the harmonization of codes and standards across Canada in order to 
reduce barriers to trade, labour, and investment. Code harmonization refers to the consistent provincial 
adoption of the most recent editions of national and international safety codes and standards. When codes 
are not adopted in a timely manner, or consistently across the country, economic development and the use 
of new technologies by industry can be hindered. For example, the electrical code regulation adopts the CSA 
Canadian Electrical Code, which includes standards for electrical equipment and installations. Albertans will 
benefit from the most recent improved standards in new electrical equipment and installations. 

Alberta is a member of the Provincial-Territorial Advisory Committee, a committee that looks at 
standardization issues from the perspective of the provincial and territorial governments. This committee 
promotes cooperation and communication between the provinces, the territories, and the Standards Council 
of Canada. It also encourages Alberta’s participation in Canada's national standardization network. The 
committee's membership consists of representatives appointed by each provincial and territorial 
government. Alberta continues to work on the harmonization of codes and practices involving: 

• verification of pressure vessel equipment under the Canadian Registration Number system; and 

• improved consistency related to the gas-fitter trade under the Canadian Free Trade Agreement. 

3.3  Reduce provincial trade barriers in safety codes. 

The Canadian Free Trade Agreement is a pan-Canadian 
agreement between the federal, provincial, and territorial 
governments. The agreement aims to strengthen Canada’s 
internal trade framework and reduce barriers to trade, which 
refers to the free movement of goods, services and investments 
within Canada. For example, there are regulatory differences 
among the provinces in relation to the trading of gasoline and oil 
across the country. As a result, the Canadian Free Trade 
Agreement established the Regulatory Reconciliation and 
Cooperation Table to help address barriers to trade, investment, 
and labour mobility within Canada and to cooperate in the 
development of future regulatory measures. The ministry 
participates on several working groups for reduction of trade barriers related to national codes and standards 
such as construction codes (building, fire, energy, and plumbing) and the registration process for approving 
pressure vessel equipment. In Alberta, these national codes, standards, and processes are regulated under the 
Safety Codes Act.  

Construction codes were one of 24 measures to be addressed on the Regulatory Reconciliation and 
Cooperation Table’s initial 2018-19 work plan. Construction codes are considered barriers as they can vary 
from province to province resulting in different code requirements, high compliance costs due to the 
multitude of variations and additional red tape for companies wanting to construct buildings in different 
locations across Canada. As a result, work commenced to promote regulatory cooperation across Canada to 
resolve this issue by working to provide builders with more consistent construction codes, among other 
supports.  

The Construction Codes 
Reconciliation Agreement, 
which came into force in all 
provinces and territories on 
June 1, 2020, allows free 
access to electronic versions 
of the national codes for 
building, fire, energy, 
plumbing, and farm buildings. 
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Alberta chairs the Provincial Territorial Policy Advisory Committee on Codes, which is the working group 
that developed the Construction Codes Reconciliation Agreement and is responsible for its implementation. 
The Construction Codes Reconciliation Agreement came into force on June 1, 2020. Alberta signed the 
agreement on February 22, 2021, and all provinces and territories have endorsed the agreement, which 
allows for: 

• free access to electronic versions of the codes; 

• reduction and elimination of differences between codes;  

• a more rigorous cost-benefit analysis of code changes; and  

• a mandatory implementation period so the codes come into force across Canada within a set timeframe.  

In addition, the agreement allows for a new governance model for the national code system that places 
provincial, territorial, and federal governments as the governing bodies. 

3.4  Lower regulatory costs on new housing. 

Building Assessment Report Repeal – Reducing the regulatory cost for industry and 
homeowners  

In addition to reducing the number of legislative requirements 
within the New Home Buyer Protection Act and associated regulations, 
repealing the requirement for building assessment reports for newly 
constructed condominiums will result in savings for both builders 
and home buyers. Building assessment reports add approximately 
$2.7 million per year to the cost of building condominiums in 
Alberta. The average cost of a building assessment report is about 
$383 per condominium unit; however, for small-scale condominium 
projects involving triplexes and four-plexes, the building assessment 
report adds significantly higher costs per unit. Eliminating this 
report may also provide a measure of economic stimulus for small-
scale condominium developers.  

Building assessment reports for newly constructed condominiums 
will no longer be required after July 1, 2021. This reduction of regulatory requirements will result in savings 
for both the building industry and home buyers.  

Residential Protection Program Review  

The New Home Buyer Protection Act (2014) – administered by the 
ministry’s Residential Protection Program – includes both builder 
licensing and new home warranty. As part of the program’s ongoing 
evaluation, the ministry conducted a review in 2020 to evaluate the 
program’s performance and identify if it is achieving its intended 
outcomes, which include: 

• effectively and efficiently delivering services in a manner that 
provides value for Albertans; 

• ensuring new home warranty and builder licensing protects 
homeowners and holds residential builders accountable; and 

During the 2020-21 fiscal year, 
there were 19,001 new home 
registrations in Alberta.  

Single-family units comprised 
50 per cent of the total in the 
fourth quarter of 2019-20, 
compared to 61 per cent in the 
fourth quarter of 2020-21.  

 

Reduced fees and processes 
for condominium 
developments, through the 
repeal of building assessment 
report requirements under the 
New Home Buyer Protection 
Act, may provide a measure of 
economic stimulus for small 
condominium development 
and will result in a savings of 
approximately $2.7 million per 
year.  
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• promoting code compliance and best practices in the construction of new homes. 

During the review, program staff conducted an analysis of the state of the new home warranty system in 
Alberta and identified gaps where improvements could be made. After consultation with various 
stakeholders, the department put forward the following recommendations: 

• Undertake a new home warranty market conduct examination. 

• Improve complaint management and monitoring. 

• Integrate builder licensing with the broader safety system. 

• Identify builder competencies to inform training programs. 

• Identify homeowner education needs and develop shared tools. 

• Remove red tape to save Albertans time, money, and resources. 

These recommendations will improve service delivery, encourage 
builders to follow better construction practices, and align the 
program with the Quality Assurance Framework. The 
recommendations were approved in fall 2020, the implementation 
plan was approved in early 2021, and changes will be initiated as 
soon as possible. To realize these improvements, the ministry is 
working with the program’s advisory group and other ministries that 
share responsibility for builder and warranty-provider oversight 
(Treasury Board and Finance under the Insurance Act, and Service Alberta under the Consumer Protection Act). 

Risk-based Inspections 

Municipal Affairs is supporting the Safety Codes Council as it works with municipalities to pursue risk-based 
inspections. Safety codes inspections currently constitute the primary quality assurance mechanism for 
confirming compliance within the safety system. Municipalities authorized to administer the Safety Codes Act 
must complete a minimum number of site inspections to ensure codes are being applied correctly at 
specified stages for a project, based on discipline and complexity. In the majority of these inspections, no 
issues are identified, but as a matter of adherence to the current processes, the inspection is still a 
requirement. Inspections are critical because they are the main mechanism to confirm that construction is 
built to code; however, inspections are also time-intensive and can create delays that have an economic 
impact. Approximately 120,000 inspections are conducted annually in Alberta.  

Risk-based inspections constitute a shift in approach. Rather than establishing benchmarks for the number 
of inspections, risk-based inspections allow the authority having jurisdiction (such as a municipality 
accredited to administer the Safety Codes Act in their jurisdiction) to focus inspection resources in accordance 
with local data analysis. Risk-based inspections allow municipalities to use data to determine where they are 
most likely to find non-compliance and then focus their resources on those features, places, applicants or 
projects. For example, if data within a municipality indicates there are generally few or no issues with 
foundation inspections, inspection resources could be shifted to an area of construction with greater 
potential for non-compliance. Risk-based inspection is not about reducing the overall number of inspections 
being performed; it is about shifting the focus from a universal inspection approach, to one driven by 
evidence.  

Under this approach, a municipality will be able to demonstrate statistically why certain elements of 
construction by a builder may not require a safety codes officer inspection. Where the risk is demonstrated 
to be minimal or non-existent, there can be fewer inspections. Where the risk is demonstrated to be greater, 

As of March 31, 2021, there 
were 2,456 builders with an 
active residential builder 
licence. This included 1,926 
renewal licences.  
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additional inspections can be imposed. There will always be an initial and a final inspection by a safety codes 
officer for safe occupancy. 

This approach to inspections aligns with one of the outcomes in the safety codes system’s Quality Assurance 
Framework: risk-based strategic priorities informed by data. Risk-based inspections are intended to provide 
autonomy for industry and municipalities when conducting inspections, without compromising public safety. 
Some Alberta municipalities have begun to explore how risk-based inspections can be implemented 
effectively. Municipal Affairs will continue to work with the Safety Codes Council to further pursue risk-
based inspections where appropriate.  

Performance Measure 3.a: Number of injuries and fatalities caused by structural or mechanical 
failure of buildings and associated systems per 100,000 population in Alberta  

Prior Years’ Results 2020-21 

(2020) 

Target 

2020-21 

(2020) 

Actual 2016-17  2017-18  
2018-19 

(2018) 

2019-20  

(2019) 

Not 
Available 

Not 
Available 

0.83 0.80 0.87 0.59 

 

In 2020, there were a combined total of 25 injuries and fatalities due to mechanical/structural failure in the 
10 measured disciplines in the safety system, compared to 34 in 2019. The division’s mandate is to mitigate 
risk, and the low presence of injuries and fatalities suggests there continues to be a low level of risk in the 
system.  

This figure directly measures the ministry’s performance in its mandate of risk mitigation by reporting on 
incidents in which risk was not mitigated.  

The 2020 result represents a continuation of a positive trend that has seen the number of injuries and 
fatalities decline since 2017. There were nine fewer incidents in 2020 (25) than 2019 (34), and this past year 
represented the lowest number of incidents since 2014. This may be due, in part, to widespread behavioural 
changes as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Performance Indicator 3.b: Number of injuries and fatalities involving buildings or associated 
systems not caused by structural or mechanical failure per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results  

2020 
2016 2017  2018  2019  

6.20 7.11 5.12 4.05 3.0 
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In 2020, there were 130 injuries or fatalities identified across the safety disciplines that were not caused by 
structural or mechanical failures. The population of Alberta for 2020 was recorded as 4,271,759. As such, the 
number of injuries or fatalities per 100,000 population is 3.04.  

This is down considerably from the 173 incidents in 2019, which was already down from 215 in 2018.  

These numbers rely on data with a history of changing over time as more reports are submitted. This is 
especially true for numbers involving the fire discipline, which makes up a large share of the incidents 
reported. Numbers from the business plan may have changed, and the 2020 number listed here will also 
change as more reports are filed. The number will be updated and corrected in future business plans and 
annual reports. 

The actuals in the 2019-23 business plan were arrived at using only six of the 10 disciplines now included in 
the measure. As this is still a fairly new metric, the numbers were expanded to include all disciplines under 
the Safety Codes Act. As a result, building, plumbing, gas, and private sewage incident numbers have been 
added and used in the calculation. 

Performance Indicator 3.c: Number of fire reports not caused by structural or mechanical failure of 
buildings and associated systems, per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results 
 

2020 2016 2017  2018  2019  

402.851 102.76 100.26 80.37 87.25 

Note: 1. The 2016 fire number includes the Wood Buffalo wildfire. When the wildfire is excluded, the number of fire 

reports per 100,000 population is 100.81. 

The 2020 result represents an 8.6 per cent increase in fire reports over the previous year. For the past two 
years, the per-capita fires not related to structural or mechanical failure (and excluding Wood Buffalo 
wildfire-related events) has been significantly lower than the three years from 2016-18.  

Since the population figure for both 2019 and 2020 are the same, the increase in 2020 is entirely due to an 
increase in the number of fire reports received by the fire commissioner. This increase applies to those fires 
not related to structural or mechanical failure; while it is not reported in this performance indicator, the per-
capita number of fires that were the result of structural or mechanical failure has been nearly static for the 
past three years.  

It was anticipated that the COVID-19 pandemic would decrease the overall number of fire reports in 2020, 
with reduced economic activity resulting in fewer fires. However, as in previous years, most fires occurred in 
residential properties, which generally saw greater activity in 2020 during periods of lockdown, remote 
working, and online schooling. Consequently, the anticipated decrease was not seen. 
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Outcome Four: Alberta is emergency-ready and resilient 

 
Key Objectives 

4.1  Work with and support communities in implementing recent changes to the emergency 
management legislative framework to improve emergency preparedness at the community-
level. 

Community Emergency Management Plans 

Under the Emergency Management Act and the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation, every 
local authority in Alberta is required to have an emergency management plan. A local authority is considered 
to be the council of a city, town, village, summer village, county, municipal district, specialized municipality, 
Metis Settlement, or improvement district governed by a council. The Local Authority Emergency 
Management Regulation also specifies the minimum components that emergency plans must contain. 

Regular emergency management planning enables communities to develop and maintain a coordinated and 
effective response strategy before an emergency or disaster occurs. With the COVID-19 health measures in 
place, ministry field officers transitioned to a hybrid model of the community emergency management plans 
review, including delivering virtual reviews when needed. In 2019-20, a new checklist was developed to guide 
the review of community emergency plans and was used to ensure this year’s reviews were performed 
efficiently and with greater consistency. The checklist helped to provide greater consistency across regions 
and better transparency for local authorities. 

In 2020-21, the Alberta Emergency Management Agency’s regional field officers conducted 320 plan reviews 
out of a total of 384 municipalities in Alberta. This is a decrease from 334 plan reviews out of 392 
communities – or 1.7 per cent – from the 2019-20 fiscal year. 

Through an agreement with Indigenous Services Canada, the ministry also provides emergency management 
services and advice to First Nation communities, on-reserve. First Nations, like all other communities and 
municipalities, receive identical service levels from regional field officers. First Nations field officers ensure 
services are provided in a culturally appropriate manner; and in 2020-21, these officers reviewed a total of 23 
emergency management plans for First Nations. 

Performance Measure 4.a: Percentage of communities (municipalities, First Nations, and Metis 
Settlements) that have been visited by an Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officer and 
had their Community Emergency Management Plan reviewed annually 

Prior Years’ Results 
2020-21 
Target 

2020-21 
Actual 2017-18  2018-19  2019-20 

96% 93% 85% 90% 83% 

 

The result indicates that 83.3 per cent of communities in Alberta were visited by an Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency field officer, and had their community emergency management plan reviewed. Field 
officers visited and reviewed community emergency management plans for 320 out of 384 communities. 
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Regional field officers completed visits and plan reviews for 300 out of 338 communities, while the First 
Nations field officers completed visits and plan reviews for 20 out of 46 communities. 

This performance measure was first introduced in the 2016-19 Business Plan, with a target of 90 per cent 
and an actual result of 86.4 per cent. In the two immediate years after the performance measure was 
introduced, the target of 90 per cent was exceeded.  

With a target of 90 per cent, the current 2020-21 result of 83.3 per cent is 6.7 per cent below the target. The 
result is also a decrease of 1.9 per cent from the previous year’s result. The variance from the target is greater 
than the three per cent materiality threshold, so the result is outside of the expected range for this measure.  

The primary factor that led to the actual result being outside of the expected range, is the operational 
disruption that the regional field officers experienced due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The impacts of the 
pandemic that were experienced across Alberta beginning in February 2020, limited the field officers’ ability 
to complete scheduled plan reviews and community visits for the entirety of the fiscal year.  

Over the past year, the field officers have been responsible for coordinating and working with municipal 
stakeholders as both the province and municipalities have responded to both the COVID-19 pandemic and 
other hazards such as fires and floods. The pandemic impacted both the field officers’ and municipalities’ 
ability to allocate adequate time and capacity to complete the work for this performance measure. In 
addition, hiring constraints delayed the recruitment of two field officer positions, which lowered the result in 
one of the field officer regions.  

The plan review for the First Nation communities was down from 89 per cent to 43.5 per cent, which is 
attributable to the varied demands on staff resources due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Emergency management planning is a legislated practice for local authorities, which is intended to ensure 
communities are prepared in the event of disasters and emergencies. Field officers routinely visit 
communities and provide a number of face-to-face services, including reviews of community emergency 
management plans. Community visits are an especially important service provided by field officers, as direct 
interactions and relationship-building are integral to how the ministry supports communities with emergency 
management activities.  

Municipal Regional Collaboration in Emergency Management 

In 2020-21, the ministry continued to work with and support municipalities to ensure their compliance with 
the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation, which came into force on January 1, 2020. The 
Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation outlines required governance structures for emergency 
management responsibilities: training, emergency exercise requirements, emergency management plan 
requirements, and options for regional collaboration. The ministry’s field officers provide this support, and 
other departmental staff – who are in contact with communities – provide emergency management-related 
services and assistance, and respond to any questions or concerns that arise. 

Since the regulation came into force, local authorities’ awareness of their emergency management 
responsibilities has increased due to the establishment of minimum governance, training, and emergency 
exercise requirements. This has led several communities across Alberta – as they fulfilled their legislated 
emergency management requirements – to consider different types of regional collaboration. In the regional 
collaboration initiatives, communities are able to pool their collective resources and expertise, which 
improves the emergency management capacity of their region.  

In 2020-21, the ministry assisted many communities as they moved toward a regional collaboration structure. 
This year, three separate initiatives were advanced and successfully established by Ministerial Order. These 
three initiatives allowed 15 municipalities to combine their resources and expertise to support the overall 
public safety of their communities. Several other municipalities are in the planning stages to enact regional 
collaboration initiatives.  
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Provincial Operations Centre 

The ministry operates the Provincial Operations Centre with an 
annual budget of $1.4 million. The operations centre facilitates the 
coordination of the Government of Alberta’s response to 
emergencies and disasters. Staffed 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 
the centre is prepared to respond to requests from municipalities and 
Government of Alberta departments. There are four operational 
levels, beginning at Level 1, with successive elevation levels 
increasing to Level 4, the highest level. Each level depends on the 
severity of the emergency and corresponds with the appropriate type 
and level of staffing and activity required.  

The Provincial Operations Centre was elevated to address several 
events in 2020-21. Most notably, the Provincial Operations Centre 
has been elevated continuously since the beginning of the COVID-
19 pandemic response. The Provincial Operations Centre was elevated from January 30, 2020 to  
September 4, 2020, and November 24, 2020 to December 31, 2020, and has remained at Level 3 into 2021. 
Concurrent to the COVID-19 elevation, the Provincial Operation Centre responded to the 2020 Alberta 
spring flooding from April 23, 2020 to June 7, 2020, due to ice jams on both the Peace and Athabasca rivers, 
and June flooding (May 26, 2020 to June 17, 2020) due to high water and high precipitation events 
throughout Alberta. 

For the 2020 Alberta spring flooding event, there were multiple communities impacted: 

• Mackenzie County and the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo declared states of local emergency in 
response to flooding due to ice jams on both the Peace and Athabasca rivers. Communities impacted by 
these flooding events included Fort Vermilion and Fort McMurray. There were approximately 503 
evacuees from Fort Vermilion and 3,860 evacuees from Fort McMurray. Additional communities and 
First Nations in both regions experienced overland flooding on roads and driveways.  

• During the June floods, the impacted communities and regions included Exshaw, Alberta Beach, Sunset 
Point, Val Quentin, Acme, Lac La Biche, Redwater, Thorhild County, Elizabeth Metis Settlement, 
Lamont County, Chipewyan Prairie First Nation, Heart Lake First Nation, Buffalo Lake Metis 
Settlement, Louis Bull First Nation, Ermineskin Cree Nation, Frog Lake First Nation, Samson Cree 
Nation, Sucker Creek First Nation, and Lac Ste. Anne County. 

Throughout the response to all these events, the Provincial Operations Centre continued to refine and 
improve processes. Health guidelines regarding physical distancing were followed by having staff work 
remotely rather than being physically present within the Provincial Operations Centre. An additional change 
included transitioning the Provincial Operations Centre to web-based briefings, which are used to build the 
common operating picture for all involved staff.  

The Provincial Operations Centre implemented physical distancing, wearing masks, improved hand 
sanitizing, remote work, and virtual meetings whenever possible, in order to adhere to the Chief Medical 
Officer of Health’s guidance and directions. Forty-seven emergency management graduates and students 
were hired to relieve staff from the extended duration of the activation and help provide continuity for an 
anticipated second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. Other practices were implemented to ensure the 
safety of all staff in the Provincial Operations Centre, such as encouraging staff to work remotely where 
operationally possible, and appointing a safety officer responsible for ensuring best practices were 
implemented and followed. 

In 2020, the Provincial 
Operations Centre was 
elevated above Level 1 for a 
total of 257 days (plus 90 days 
to March 31, 2021). 

Comparatively, in 2019 the 
Provincial Operations Centre 
was elevated for 40 days, and 
in 2018, 22 days. 
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The pandemic introduced unique challenges with respect to providing a coordinated, effective, and efficient 
response, while following public health measures. With the flexibility and resiliency of Government of 
Alberta staff, the Provincial Operations Centre was able to effectively transition to a remote work 
environment and continue the coordination and collaboration required for the response.  

Multiple post-incident assessments identified that the operational needs of the current Provincial Operations 
Centre building in Edmonton had outgrown its current space, and the continued maintenance of the 
building would be costly. To ensure the Provincial Operations Centre continues to meet the needs of 
Albertans and the Government of Alberta, the Muriel Stanley Venne Provincial Building was selected as the 
new location of the Provincial Operations Centre, as it met the specialized needs of emergency management 
coordination, with a capacity of 160 people. In collaboration with Alberta Infrastructure, the design and 
planning of this renovation was completed in January 2021. The goal is to transition all staff and operations 
from the existing Provincial Operations Centre to the Muriel Stanley Venne building in June 2021. 

COVID-19 Pandemic 

In response to the widespread nature and cascading impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government 
of Alberta formally declared a public health emergency on March 17, 2020, under the Public Health Act. This 
initial public health emergency ended on June 15, 2020; however, a second public health emergency was 
declared on November 24, 2020, and ended on February 22, 2021. 

To support the Government of Alberta and local authorities’ response to the pandemic, amendments to the 
Emergency Management Act were brought forward in March and April 2020. The first amendments, made 
under Bill 9, the Emergency Management Amendment Act, 2020, allowed for a provincially declared state of 
emergency to exist at the same time as a state of local emergency. The second amendments, made under  
Bill 13, the Emergency Management Amendment Act, 2020 (No. 2), enabled municipalities to declare a 90-day 
state of local emergency for a pandemic, allowed electronic council meetings to declare a state of local 
emergency, clarified that it is an offence to not be compliant with an order made under an emergency 
declaration, and updated language related to pandemics in the legislation. 

On March 14, 2020, the Pandemic Response Planning Team was established to work through issues for a 
whole-of-society response, and to provide the Government of Alberta with a multi-department planning 
capacity for the COVID-19 response in the medium and long-term. The planning team was led by two 
assistant deputy ministers, and was supported by subject-matter experts from every Government of Alberta 
department. The Pandemic Response Planning Team worked with Alberta Health as the lead department, 
the Provincial Operations Centre, and all other departments on the response to the pandemic. The planning 
team began to wind down its operations in mid-July 2020, and by mid-August, all supporting personnel 
returned to their home departments.  

To support the COVID-19 pandemic response, the Alberta Bits and Pieces Program was developed as a way 
for businesses and citizens to submit unsolicited offers of products and services to help others during 
emergencies. The Provincial Operations Centre’s Logistics Unit managed the program, connecting products 
and services offered by private, retail, industry, and non-profit organizations with Albertans looking for help.  

Evacuation Guidelines in a COVID environment 

When conducting evacuations in a COVID-19 environment, the safety of Albertans, first responders and 
emergency management personnel is imperative. In collaboration with Emergency Social Services, Alberta 
Health, and Alberta Health Services, guidelines on managing evacuations safely in a COVID-19 
environment were developed between March and June 2020, and distributed to municipalities to ensure 
procedures and processes were accurately documented.  

The guidelines include planning considerations, and best practices for conducting evacuations when 
COVID-19 is a threat in the community. The evacuation guidelines were reassessed in early 2021 in order to 
incorporate lessons learned, and to take into account the potential impacts of COVID-19 variants on the 



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

 

72                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 

public while conducting evacuations. These guidelines will be revisited on a regular basis to respond to 
possible changes in the nature of the disease and guidance offered. 

Personal Protective Equipment Task Force 

In April 2020, the Alberta Emergency Management Agency established the Personal Protective Equipment 
Task Force in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the rapidly expanding needs for personal protective 
equipment for numerous organizations across Alberta. The task force was established using core personnel 
from the Provincial Operations Centre Logistics section, along with additional wage staff who were hired to 
support operations in the warehouse. 

Personal protective equipment refers to items worn to provide a barrier to help prevent potential exposure 
to an infectious disease. To assist with the timely provision of this equipment to stakeholders, the Provincial 
Operations Centre used the emergency procurement policy to obtain goods quickly, while following 
government procurement guidelines during an emergency. The Emergency Management Cabinet Committee 
determined distribution priority categories for personal protective equipment and equipment has been 
distributed to the following stakeholders: 

Under the direction of Alberta Education, the task force coordinated the procurement and distribution of 
1.9 million masks, along with face shields and hand sanitizer, to school boards in time for the reopening of 
schools in September 2020. 

• Total budget in support of the provision of personal protective equipment to stakeholders in 2020-21 
was $76.8 million. As of March 2021, the Personal Protective Equipment Task Force received 19,566 
product requests for items such as hand sanitizer, masks, gloves, gowns, and face shields. The task force 
received requests for 59 million individual products; 52 million products were ordered, and 51 million 
products shipped (discrepancies here can be attributed to product availability, and the fact stakeholders 
often amended, or canceled requests).  

Throughout the response to COVID-19, personal protective equipment supply chains have been 
unpredictable, resulting in increased prices, reduced product availability, and shipping delays. Supply chain 
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issues and manufacturing delays continue to impact procurement efforts for specific personal protective 
equipment products (e.g. gloves), and there are no clear indications as to when supplies may return to  
pre-pandemic conditions. The task force continues to procure new supplies to establish a personal 
protective equipment stockpile, which will be provided for Albertans into 2021. 

As operational requirements changed, the Personal Protective Equipment Task Force relocated their base of 
operations several times during the year. Initially, the task force was established at the Bonaventure 
warehouse, but due to space, docking, and access limitations, operations moved to the Muriel Stanley Venne 
Building. With the added requirement for a personal protective equipment stockpile, it was determined that 
a new warehouse and office space would also be necessary. In December 2020, the Personal Protective 
Equipment Task Force consolidated operations at the Yellowhead Distribution Centre. Transitioning 
warehouse operations a number of times over a short period added additional complexity to procurement 
and delivery timelines, as staff were required to adapt to new buildings and processes.  

An innovative development by the task force was the design, development, and implementation of a new 
Customer Relationship Management system in May 2020. This application allowed all stakeholders to submit 
personal protective equipment requests through an online portal that provided cost information. This new 
system provided an integrated picture of the entire supply chain process, from procurement through to 
client delivery. This solution streamlined procurement, warehousing, delivery, and reporting. 

Emergency Social Services 

Alberta Emergency Management Agency’s Emergency Social Services Unit  

On November 1, 2020, the Provincial Emergency Social Services Unit and its associated annual budget of 
$565,000 transferred from Community and Social Services to Municipal Affairs, and was renamed the 
Alberta Emergency Management Agency’s Emergency Social Services Unit. During emergencies or disasters, 
this unit leads the coordination of provincial emergency social services support and mass care to local 
authorities. This unit also develops emergency social services education and training programs, planning 
guidelines, and templates to assist and support local authorities in developing tailored plans to support 
municipal or regional emergency management plans.  

From March to August 2020, the Emergency Social Services team joined the Pandemic Response Planning 
Team to provide support to local authorities in responding to the human-impact aspect of the COVID-19 
pandemic. This area led the development and implementation of plans for isolation accommodations and 
support to vulnerable populations throughout the province. 

My Alberta Emergency Registration System 

The innovative My Alberta Emergency Registration System, developed in conjunction with Service Alberta’s 
Digital Services area, is an example of successful cross-departmental collaboration to tackle difficult 
problems. Previous practice required impacted individuals to travel to a registration facility and be physically 
present for a face-to-face registration process, which was time-consuming and made adhering to health 
guidelines difficult. The My Alberta Emergency Registration System gives Albertans the ability to register 
themselves and their family members with their local authority prior to, or during, an emergency by using a 
cell phone or computer. This eliminates the previous practice of requiring impacted individuals to travel to a 
registration facility and be physically present for a face-to-face registration process. This system helps local 
authorities ensure all relevant public health guidance is followed as they navigate emergency social services 
issues during COVID-19.  

 

 

The Registration and Reception Centre Program  
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The Registration and Reception Centre Program was developed and implemented in 2018 during the 
response to the Chuckegg Creek wildfire. This program is a response to recommendations from past disaster 
reviews, most notably the KPMG report on the Wood Buffalo wildfire, detailing the requirement for an 
online registration system that allows municipalities to register, track, and monitor impacted residents during 
an emergency and enables providers to offer more effective and efficient services to evacuees. During the 
development of the My Alberta Emergency Registration System, the Registration and Reception Centre 
Program was modified to accept and distribute online registration data to the appropriate municipality. The 
revision of the program and its new modules allows a seamless integration with the My Alberta Emergency 
Registration System at a cost of $98,260 to implement, including all associated cloud-based hosting costs for 
a two-year period. 

Intergovernmental Collaboration 

Since January 2018, Municipal Affairs has been the provincial and territorial co-chair for Senior Officials 
Responsible for Emergency Management, co-chair for Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada, 
and chair of the Canadian Council of Emergency Management Organizations. Membership on these bodies 
includes representatives from federal, provincial, and territorial emergency management organizations across 
Canada. These organizations work to harmonize and improve emergency management practices, advance 
common public safety issues, and identify means to facilitate cross-jurisdictional mutual aid. On  
January 1, 2021, chair duties for these organizations transitioned to British Columbia and the Yukon.  

On January 24, 2019, Senior Officials Responsible for Emergency Management endorsed a revised 
Emergency Management Strategy for Canada. The strategy’s goal is to strengthen the resilience of Canadian 
society by 2030, and encourage and support federal, provincial, and territorial governments in the 
development of their own whole-of-society approaches to the reduction of disaster risk. An action plan is 
under development to guide the strategy’s implementation. This plan was placed on hold in March 2020 
because of the pandemic, but the group intends on restarting this work in 2021.  

Alberta continues to provide support, resources, and guidance to the development of a national Public 
Safety Broadband Network and the National Public Alerting System, with ministry staff participating on 
related working groups. These national programs are designed to support enhanced emergency 
communications, such as local 911 services and public emergency alerting. 

Alberta is also participating in the Government of Canada’s Flood Insurance and Relocation Project. This 
work is intended to expand access to a national overland flood insurance program and support the 
development of relocation options for high flood-risk properties. The mandate of this task force is to 
examine options for low-cost residential flood insurance to residents of high-risk areas. It will also consider 
options for potential relocation for residents of areas at the highest risk of recurrent flooding. The 
Government of Canada is expecting recommendations from this work in April 2022. 

Public Safety Committees 

The ministry chairs the Assistant Deputy Ministers’ and Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety committees. These 
committees provide cross-departmental leadership and direction, both during major disasters and periods of 
regular business. Examples of the significant events where the committees provided coordination include 
the ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as to previous major events such as the 2013 
southern Alberta floods and the 2016 Wood Buffalo wildfires.  

In addition to these events, the committees serve to facilitate the cross-departmental review of significant 
improvements to Alberta’s public safety system. Examples of this work include: 

• the development of a provincial Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Framework; 
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• the creation of a Provincial Recovery Framework; and  

• the review and revision of the Emergency Management Act in 2018.  

The committees were key in the province’s COVID-19 response following the province of Alberta’s  
March 17, 2020, declaration of a state of public health emergency under the Public Health Act. Prior to the 
declaration, the committees were actively engaged in the preparation for, and initial response to, the event, 
including supporting the province’s Emergency Management Cabinet Committee, and ensuring timely and 
effective cross-government coordination. 

4.2  Improve Alberta’s emergency preparedness and response capability through further 
development of regional incident management teams, and updating the Alberta Emergency 
Plan. 

All‑Hazard Incident Management Teams 

In the 2020-21 fiscal year, Municipal Affairs continued to support the development and growth of five  
all-hazard incident management teams in Alberta. The teams have membership from municipalities, industry 
representatives, and volunteers. The teams are designed to augment and support a municipality that is 
responding to a significant emergency or disaster event that is stretching its internal capacity to respond, so 
that the municipality can conduct an efficient and effective response. 

The planned regional all-hazard incident management teams’ training schedule was limited due to the 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Only five training sessions were completed, which included a virtual 
session delivered by the Alberta Emergency Management Agency to the central region all-hazard incident 
management team. In response to observations gained from the exercise, the central region team has revised 
their techniques and processes. These were tested during an internal team exercise in February 2021, and 
again in March 2021, with support from the Alberta Emergency Management Agency’s regional field 
officers. Once the virtual all-hazard incident management teams’ training has been deemed successful, the 
virtual exercise and associated processes will be made available to the other regional all-hazard incident 
management teams in the 2021-22 fiscal year. 

Four key outcomes are associated with the development of all-hazard incident management teams:  

1.  A new, regionally based capability to assist municipalities in managing complex incidents.  

2.  A positive trickle-down impact on municipal emergency management operations through the training 
provided to these teams, and by virtue of a deeper understanding of the Incident Command System 
gained by participants.  

3.  Building deeper relationships and trust among participants and across the provincial public safety 
system. This is further enhanced with mentors from existing all-hazard incident management teams, and 
other experts, as part of the training program.  

4.  Enhanced Incident Command System knowledge and skills greatly assist in facilitating municipal unified 
command with Alberta Wildfire (Environment and Parks) in a wildland urban interface environment.  

Examples of the support and additional capacity that the all-hazard incident management teams offer are 
found in the response to the flooding events in the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo and  
Mackenzie County in 2020. The northeast team was able to provide experienced and trained personnel to 
the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo to assist with the response to the ice jam flooding and the 
evacuation of residents. The northwest team was able to provide personnel that assisted with the response to 
ice jam flooding in Mackenzie County and Fort Vermilion in 2020. The additional support provided by the 
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incident management teams contributed to the effective management of the response, especially with the 
additional complexity of managing the response in a pandemic environment. 

The all-hazard incident management teams are funded through $250,000 in annual conditional grant funding 
distributed between the Government of Alberta and the Town of High Level, the Capital Region 
Emergency Preparedness Program, Red Deer County, the City of Medicine Hat, and the City of Cold Lake.  

Alberta Emergency Plan Review 

The Alberta Emergency Plan, required under the Government Emergency Management Regulation, 
describes the emergency management system in Alberta and the roles and responsibilities of emergency 
management partners. It also outlines the policies, processes, and procedures for a coordinated and effective 
emergency response. The previous version of the Alberta Emergency Plan was issued in 2015, and since that 
time, the emergency management system in Alberta has gone through some significant developments 
following several significant emergencies, including the 2016 Wood Buffalo wildfires, the 2017 Kenow 
wildfire, and the 2019 Chuckegg Creek wildfire. The lessons learned from these events have led to  
system-wide developments and associated amendments to emergency management legislation. A 
comprehensive review of the Alberta Emergency Plan commenced in 2019 to ensure validity and continuous 
improvement of the plan.  

The impact of COVID-19 on the ministry’s operations required that work related to the review of the 
Alberta Emergency Plan was paused in spring and summer 2020, as staff were dedicated to pandemic 
response activities. As the pandemic’s effect on the ministry’s operations lessened, work on the plan 
continued in fall 2020. The review required engagement with all Government of Alberta departments, and 
feedback was incorporated into a final draft of the Alberta Emergency Plan 2021. This draft was presented 
to both the Assistant Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety Committee and the Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety 
Committee for review and feedback. The revised Alberta Emergency Plan: 

• captures improvements to Alberta’s public safety system and provides a clear roadmap for future system 
modernization;   

• describes how the Government of Alberta will work with emergency management partners in an all-
hazards framework; and 

• aligns with the recently amended Emergency Management Act and the Local Authority Emergency 
Management Regulation. 

The Minister of Municipal Affairs approved the 2021 Alberta Emergency Plan in spring 2021, and the 
Alberta Emergency Management Agency is now focused on building stakeholder awareness of the revised 
plan. Any feedback gathered from stakeholders will be considered during future reviews of the Alberta 
Emergency Plan. 

4.3  Improve community and individual-level disaster resilience by providing select on-line and 
in-person emergency management training to municipalities and through public awareness 
campaigns. 

Emergency Management Training 

The ministry typically offers a number of emergency management training courses through multiple 
mediums; however, given the constraints imposed by COVID-19, the ministry is moving toward more 
online and virtual training delivery. To support virtual training delivery, Alberta Emergency Management 
Agency staff evaluated multiple software platforms, such as Zoom, WebEx, and Microsoft Teams.  
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The primary training audience for the courses include municipal elected officials, Metis Settlement officials, 
improvement district councillors, Special Areas Board members, directors of emergency management, and 
others with assigned duties in their community emergency plans. The training courses provide 
developmental opportunities for Albertans with assigned duties in their community emergency plans to gain 
a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities under Alberta’s emergency management legislation.  

Emergency Management Online Training 

The legislated training courses required under the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation 
include Basic Emergency Management, Municipal Elected Officials, and Incident Command System 100. 
Other online course offerings include Exercise Design, Scribing for Emergency Management, and 
Emergency Social Services. 

During the 2020-21 fiscal year, online training declined by 51.5 per cent; however, several factors influenced 
the decline. There was a significant uptake in online ICS 100 course participation in 2019-20, as 
municipalities worked to comply with training requirements in the Local Authority Emergency Management 
Regulation. Municipal staff faced new demands arising from the response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
which impacted their availability to organize and participate in training. Finally, the department implemented 
a policy that limited online training to municipalities and other select emergency management stakeholders 
within Alberta, whereas previously the online training was available to anyone with an internet connection 
regardless of location. The increased number of users outside of Alberta increased the pre-user cost and 
administration of the learning management system, which led to the implementation of the policy. 

In November 2020, online training courses for Municipal Elected Officials, Director of Emergency 
Management, and Basic Emergency Management were updated to reflect the changes to the Emergency 
Management Act.  

The emergency management training courses help Alberta communities fulfill legislated requirements under 
the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation, build community capacity, and improve resilience. 

Municipal Incident Command Post/Planning P/Incident Action Plan Course 

A new Municipal Incident Command Post course is being developed and will provide advanced training for 
emergency managers – including the proper conduct of various meetings, a deeper understanding of the 
inputs and deliverables from meetings, and increasing familiarity of communication processes within an 
incident command post. Highlighted in the new course (which replaces Emergency Coordination Centre 2) 
is information about the following:  
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• The Planning P process, which is a process of activities and 
meetings conducted in an incident command post. The Planning 
P process results in an incident action plan and the briefing of 
this plan to personnel ahead of the next operational period. It 
ensures planning is done on an iterative basis, and that objectives 
are appropriately planned and adjusted according to operational 
conditions. 

• Building an incident action plan in an incident command post, 
which provides incident personnel with direction for the actions 
that need to be implemented during the operational period 
identified in the plan. An incident action plan is the means of 
communicating the overall incident objectives to personnel who are involved in the emergency response 
and coordination. 

This new course will provide emergency managers with the knowledge to communicate critical information 
more effectively, synchronize operations, and accomplish objectives as they respond to emergencies or 
disasters.  

The new Municipal Incident Command Post course will be completed in the 2021-22 fiscal year.  

Emergency Preparedness Week 

Emergency Preparedness Week is an annual national campaign led by Public Safety Emergency 
Preparedness Canada, in collaboration with provinces and territories, to raise awareness about how to 
prepare for emergencies and disasters. This campaign is an opportunity for the Government of Alberta and 
communities across Alberta to align their messaging and encourage individuals to become more disaster 
resilient.  

Previously, the ministry organized an annual public event where 
multiple emergency management stakeholders gathered to connect 
with the public at a single location. However, in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the 2020 public event was cancelled. Instead, 
a virtual Emergency Preparedness Week campaign took place from 
May 3 to 9, 2020, with internal and external communications 
distributed to share new public education materials, tools, and 
resources for stakeholders to distribute through their existing 
channels. Alberta Emergency Management Agency staff found new 
and more efficient ways to connect with stakeholders, align 
messaging, and raise awareness virtually. 

A series of online videos clips called “Get Prepared: 60-Second 
Emergency Tips” that deliver emergency and disaster preparedness 
information were developed. The purpose of these short video clips 
is to provide quick and easy-to-consume information to Albertans 
on the simple steps that they can take to help prepare for both small 
and large disruptions to regular life. The ministry also encouraged other stakeholders, such as municipalities 
and the non-profit sector, to share the videos with their networks to help spread the messaging. As of March 
31, 2021, the top three most popular videos were: What is the difference between emergencies and disasters? 
(2,418 views); How can you prepare for extreme cold? (2,371 views); and Why should you have an 
emergency kit? (2,166 views) 

Planning P is a process of 
activity and meetings in the 
Incident Command System, 
conducted in an Incident 
Command Post, which results 
in an Incident Action Plan. The 
Incident Action Plan is used to 
brief personnel ahead of the 
next operational period.  

 

From April 1, 2020 to  
March 31, 2021, there were 
70,377 page views of the 
Emergency Preparedness 
content on Alberta.ca.  

Between April 10 and May 19, 
2020, there were 9,714 
Emergency Preparedness 
page views, as people were 
looking for preparedness 
information during Emergency 
Preparedness Week while 
managing the pandemic. 
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Work developed and completed prior to the COVID-19 pandemic but not implemented for Emergency 
Preparedness Week in 2020 included: 

• an e-prep workshop and train-the-trainer for Government of Alberta staff; 

• an Emergency Preparedness Week street event about preparedness; and  

• coordinating an emergency preparedness awareness-building campaign in which Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency staff would be encouraged to share short videos highlighting their preparedness 
tips, which would be shared with all staff. 

Building New Partnerships 

In September 2020, as part of a reorganization to better lead coordination in personal preparedness and 
community resilience for Albertans, a new team was formed in the Alberta Emergency Management Agency. 
This team focuses on developing strategic engagement plans with an aim to understand stakeholder views 
and challenges; build partnerships that will contribute to disaster risk reduction behaviours; and increase 
individual and community resilience to disasters, emergencies, and unexpected situations. Several 
engagement initiatives are in progress to inform program development, identify new opportunities to 
leverage existing programs, and find gaps in public education and preparedness to increase capacity in the 
province. These engagement initiatives include surveying Albertans to gather data to inform program 
development and improve resilience, and collaboration projects with ministry partners. 

2020 Stakeholder Summit 

Since the first summit in 2010, the Stakeholder Summit has become the primary innovation-focused 
emergency management conference in Alberta. The annual summit brings emergency management partners 
together to build and strengthen relationships, and to network. The conference also offers a professional 
development and information-sharing opportunity where emergency management partners from various 
communities across Alberta can learn from one another and build a more resilient province.  

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency collaborated with the Northern Alberta Institute of 
Technology to support the 2020 Stakeholder Summit in February 2020. While the Northern Alberta 
Institute of Technology has taken responsibility for coordinating and hosting the summit, the ministry 
continues to provide input into its planning and delivery, including advice on selecting speakers and on 
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promoting the summit to emergency management stakeholders. The theme for the 2021 Stakeholder 
Summit, held March 23-24, 2021, was Disruption and Innovation.  

Personal Preparedness and Community Resilience Program Development 

One of the ministry’s goals is to engage with Government of Alberta staff and community leaders regularly 
about individual and community resilience to create a cultural shift toward preparedness. To work toward 
that goal, initiatives are advanced to ensure messaging alignment and consistency to Albertans, including a 
reliable channel for community leaders to pull timely preparedness messaging to encourage their community 
members to take preparedness action. For example, the micro lesson, “How does knowing your community 
help you become more prepared?” was built with partners in the Ministry of Health. This video has been 
used by municipal partners to encourage community members to safely connect.  

New program content was created in collaboration with subject matter experts from across the Government 
of Alberta and external partners. The ongoing development of online tools and resources for the 2020-21 
fiscal year includes: 

• pet preparedness, farm animal preparedness, and emergency preparedness week webpages; 

• nine new Get Prepared videos, which are 60-second emergency tip videos on preparedness; 

• infographics and scan-to-prepare QR code posters for communities to raise awareness at the local level; 
and 

• expansion of existing webpage content to provide updated information, such as pandemic-specific 
advice and suggested supplies to assist with preparing for extended stays at home.  

4.4 Empower communities and Albertans in their disaster recovery by engaging and coordinating 
recovery stakeholders, providing knowledge and expert advice, coordinating Government of Alberta 
disaster expenditures, and administering financial assistance. 

Disaster Recovery Programs 

The Disaster Recovery Program is a provincially funded program 
that supports the response and recovery efforts for extraordinary 
emergency and disaster events and provides assistance for 
uninsurable losses. 

For disaster recovery programs to be established, municipalities 
must apply for a disaster recovery program on behalf of their 
residents and should only do so as a last resort for recovery funding. 
Funding from disaster recovery programs is available to 
homeowners, residential tenants, small businesses, landlords, non-
profit organizations, business cooperatives, farmers, municipalities, 
irrigation districts, and Government of Alberta ministries.   

Municipal Affairs helps Albertans and communities recover after 
disasters by providing financial assistance and expert recovery 
advice, and by coordinating resources across the Government of 
Alberta ministries and recovery stakeholders. By engaging and 
coordinating recovery activities, providing knowledge and expert advice, coordinating Government of 
Alberta disaster expenditures, and administering financial assistance, Municipal Affairs empowers 
communities and individuals to lead their own recovery with the support of the province. 

Administration of disaster 
recovery programs in 2020-21 
involved: 

• Six extraordinary disaster 
events; 

• 31 municipalities approved; 

• 1,890 private applications 
received; and  

• $178 million in disaster 
assistance approved. 
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Municipal Affairs established a comprehensive budget for several flooding events in 2020 to help speed up 
internal processes for the approval of recovery program funding.  

All of the 2020 disaster recovery programs were approved by Ministerial Order within six months of their 
respective event dates. In previous years, some program approvals took up to 12 months to complete, as 
program approvals were tied to the declaration of a disaster by Order in Council. The following programs 
were approved in 2020: 

• the 2020 Northern Alberta Flood Disaster Recovery Program; 

• the 2020 Calgary Area Flood Disaster Recovery Program; 

• the 2020 East Central Alberta Flood Disaster Recovery Program; 

• the 2020 Village of Acme Flood Disaster Recovery Program; 

• the 2020 County of Minburn Flood Disaster Recovery Program; and 

• the 2020 Saddle Hills County Flood Disaster Recovery Program. 

To date, Treasury Board and Finance has approved a total of $178 million for the six disaster recovery 
programs, which includes the funding support provided to other Government of Alberta departments. 
Municipalities, individuals, and small businesses will have the opportunity to access disaster financial 
assistance to repair and restore event-related damages. 

Summary of Private Sector Applications and Payment by Municipality (as of March 31, 2021) 

As of March 31, 2021, the ministry had provided Albertans with 1,331 private sector payments valued at  
$26.9 million.  

Program Municipality 
Number of 

applications 

Amount paid 

$(dollars) 

Northern Alberta Flooding 

Regional Municipality of 

Wood Buffalo 
1,076 $19,759,973 

Mackenzie County 175 $5,880,418 

Other communities 167 $31,373 

Calgary Area Flooding 
City of Calgary 297 $966,448 

Other communities 3 - 

East Central Alberta 

Flooding 
All communities 155 $274,113 

Village of Acme Flooding Village of Acme 17 - 

Total  1,890 $26,912,325 

*Note: totals may not add due to rounding. 

As of March 31, 2021, $30 million in funds had been provided to municipalities under the 2020 Northern 
Alberta Flood Disaster Recovery Program, the 2020 East Central Alberta Flood Disaster Recovery Program, 
the 2020 Village of Acme Flood Disaster Recovery Program, and the 2020 Calgary Area Flood Disaster 
Recovery Program. This includes:  
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Advances 

$(dollars) 
Municipality 

$20 million Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo 

$5 million Mackenzie County 

$1 million MD of Smoky River 

$950,000 City of Grande Prairie 

$88,000 Village of Rycroft 

$59,000 Town of Redwater 

$744,000 Lac La Biche County 

$300,000 Village of Acme 

$850,000 City of Calgary 

$413,000 Thorhild County 

$91,000 Birch Hills County 

$408,000 MD of Spirit River 

Advances requested 
by 

County of Northern Lights, Sturgeon County, County of Two Hills, the Village of 
Donnelly, Lamont County, and the Town of Peace River. 

 
Ministries that experienced damage to provincial infrastructure or incurred extraordinary costs are in the 
process of proposing and implementing initiatives for reimbursement under the programs, and $34.7 million 
of ministerial funding is approved.  

Performance Measure 4.b: Percentage of residential disaster financial assistance files that have 
received 90 per cent of its estimated funding within 90 days of being determined eligible for disaster 
financial assistance 

The 90/90/90 performance metric is used to measure residential (homeowner and tenant) grant 
administration efficiency and timeliness. It is an ambitious target and depends on applicants, insurers, 
professional trades, program staff, a financial support team, and non-government organizations working 
together to clarify the extent of damage and eligible payments.  

Prior Years’ Results 
2020-21 

Target 

2020-21 

Actual 2017-18  2018-19  2019-20 

100% 94% 78% 90% 41% 

 

The 2020-21 fiscal year result is 41 per cent. This means 41 per cent of all eligible residential program 
applicants received at least 90 per cent estimated funding within 90 days of becoming eligible for the 
program. Of the 579 eligible applications counted in the 2020-21 fiscal year, 236 met the target. 

From 2016-17 to 2018-19, this performance metric was consistently met. At 41 per cent, this year’s results 
deviated significantly from the 90 per cent target, however. This variation was the result of several factors, 
including changes to how payments were provided to applicants, high volume for the program, and 
disruptions to operations due to the COVID-19 pandemic response and staffing issues. 
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The largest contributing factor to this year’s performance measure result came from the strategic decision to 
advance only a portion of expected payments to applicants based on a simplified approach to evaluations. 
This process provided early payments to applicants as soon as possible, by deferring full eligibility of 
damages to a later date. Once full eligibility of damages was determined, applicants’ payments were adjusted. 
This process greatly increased the efficiency that applicants received at least one payment; however, it 
rendered the ability to provide applicants with 90 per cent of their estimated funding within 90 days 
operationally unattainable. Given this strategic program delivery change, the 90-day target that is part of this 
performance measure was not flexible enough to track the efficiencies achieved by providing partial early 
payments. As such, the department will review the relevancy of this performance measure going forward.  

Another significant factor was the size of disaster recovery programs created this year. With 31 communities 
being approved for disaster financial assistance as a result of flooding in 2020-21, the program experienced 
its fourth largest private sector event in the history of the program. The ministry provided a substantial 
investment of additional staff and contracted service providers to support the administration of these 
applications.  

Other contributing factors included: 

• Existing staff vacancies; 

• Reassignment of Recovery Branch staff to assist with the establishment the Pandemic Response Team 
and other additional supports to the pandemic response efforts over the summer; 

• Reassignment of existing staff to support private sector case management, and the recruitment of more 
than 40 new case managers immediately after the 2020 Northern Alberta Flood Disaster Recovery 
Program was approved in May 2020. The challenges experienced with the additional new staff included: 

˗ onboarding new staff in a remote working environment required technical support above and beyond 
normal; 

˗ training materials had to be revised in order to be effectively delivered remotely; and 

˗ training was required for new case managers and those reassigned from public sector teams with no 
private sector experience. 

Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program 

The ministry’s Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program assists municipalities – outside of the Forest 
Protection Area but within a municipality’s jurisdiction – with financial costs resulting from fighting 
wildfires. There were no new Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program applications in 2020, and no new 
budget allocation. The 2019 Cypress County Municipal Wildfire Assistance Program was approved in 
December 2020 with the budget allocated from the 2019 Northwest Alberta Wildfires Disaster Recovery 
Program of $383,000. 

Disaster Financial Assistance Online 

Disaster Financial Assistance Online is an application portal that provides Albertans a way to complete an 
online application for Disaster Financial Assistance. Applicants can check the qualifications for assistance, 
apply for assistance, and track the status of their application. Albertans require a MyAlberta Digital ID to 
apply for disaster financial assistance through this online portal. The online portal reduces the need to attend 
a program application centre in person, and increases responsiveness to impacted Albertans, and complied 
with COVID-19 health measures in 2020-21. In 2020-21, 80 per cent (1,163 of the 1,453) of residential 
applications were submitted through the online portal. All small business applications were submitted 
through fillable PDF. 
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In 2020, the Alberta.ca website introduced translated program information and documents in Punjabi and 
Tagalog, to add to the already existing English and French translations. 

Federal Cost-sharing for Disaster Recovery Programs 

When the cost of a disaster recovery program exceeds the province’s established threshold (based on per 
capita costs), the Government of Alberta can submit a request to Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness 
Canada to share disaster recovery costs with the federal government through Disaster Financial Assistance 
Arrangements. In instances where there is uncertainty in applying the Disaster Financial Assistance 
Arrangements or there are extenuating circumstances in a disaster event, business cases are developed and 
submitted to the federal government for consideration, to maximize Alberta’s cost-sharing potential. 

Municipal Affairs has submitted business cases with a total recoverable amount of $712.3 million related to 
the 2013 southern Alberta floods and 2016 Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo programs to Public 
Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada. As of March 31, 2021, the federal government has approved 
cost-sharing eligibility of $568.6 million, and the remaining $143.7 million is pending Public Safety Canada’s 
approval.  

Eligible expenses related to the 2020 Northern Alberta Floods totalling $99 million have been submitted to 
the Government of Canada for consideration under cost-sharing agreements; in March 2021, the 
Government of Canada approved an advance payment to the Government of Alberta of $27.2 million for 
the program. The ministry is developing business cases for submission totaling an additional $17.3 million. 
By increasing federal assistance, the overall fiscal impact of disasters on the Government of Alberta is 
reduced.  

Grant Management – Ministries  

2016 Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo Disaster Recovery Program 

As of March 31, 2021, $248 million has been transferred to ministries for expenses incurred in support of 
impacted Albertans. Staff reductions have halted progress made on preparing ministry projects for federal 
audit; as of February 2021, 78 per cent of the program budget has been collated for audit.  

2013 Southern Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program 

As of March 31, 2021, the Government of Alberta has paid out $998 million for associated expenses. 
Projects under this program are due for completion by January 31, 2022, and include dam decommissioning 
and fish habitat restoration. Program expenses also include staffing costs related to recovery program 
administration.  

Through engagement with Public Safety Emergency Preparedness Canada and working with ministry 
partners, Municipal Affairs was able to identify an additional $200 million in Government of Alberta flood 
expenditures eligible for cost-sharing with the federal government. This work will result in reducing the net 
cost to the province with an anticipated receivable of $195.9 million. 

Municipal Affairs continues to work with federal partners and Indigenous Service Canada on the First 
Nations Housing Project. The Government of Alberta has requested that the Government of Canada 
reimburse 100 per cent of expenses incurred to restore First Nation communities. 

2020 Northern Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program 

The 2020 Northern Alberta Floods Disaster Recovery Program includes 27 initiatives put forward by  
13 ministries, for a budgeted cost of $35 million. These initiatives included the provision of psychosocial 
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services and supports to guide community wellness in the Fort McMurray and Fort Vermilion regions and 
ensured the delivery of public addiction and mental health services in northern Alberta following the flood. 
In addition, funding enabled the delivery of interim housing solutions, safe transportation routes, Royal 
Canadian Mounted Police support for the safety of persons and property, and 220 search and rescue 
operations over a three-day period in the affected communities. As of March 31, 2021, $7 million in 
Government of Alberta 2020 northern Alberta floods disaster related expenditures have been transferred to 
ministries. 

Changes to Disaster Recovery Program Eligibility 

The cost and frequency of disasters in Alberta are increasing, and the Government of Alberta needs to have 
a strong framework in place to deal with these emergencies. On February 26, 2021, key changes relating to 
disaster recovery program qualification criteria and eligibility for funding which will make the program more 
sustainable and ensure it is available when needed for future generations, were approved. These changes, 
effective for all disasters in 2021 and beyond, include: 

• a 90:10 cost-sharing arrangement between the Government of Alberta, municipalities, and Metis 
Settlements for all disaster recovery program eligible costs; 

• a 90:10 cost-sharing arrangement between the Government of Alberta and all private sector applicants 
for all disaster recovery program eligible costs; and 

• a homeowners funding limit of $500,000 and a one-time assistance limit per property. The one-time 
limit begins in 2021 and is not applied retroactively. 

Provincial Recovery Framework 

The Provincial Recovery Framework describes the function of recovery in the Government of Alberta’s 
emergency management system. The aim is to clarify how the Government of Alberta supports all 
emergency management partners under an all-hazards framework. The framework provides strategic 
guidance on how the Government of Alberta will approach disaster recovery in future events, and identifies 
strategies and tools used to support recovery stakeholders before, during and after disaster events.  

On December 12, 2020, the Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety Committee endorsed the framework. The 
Alberta Emergency Management Agency will work to have the framework publicly available on the 
Government of Alberta website and included in the newly revised Alberta Emergency Plan. Once published, 
the ministry will engage with ministry partners and community members to implement the framework. 

Provincial Recovery Coordination Centre 

In the event of an emergency or disaster, the Provincial Recovery Coordination Centre coordinates recovery 
efforts in the province. In 2020-21, the centre coordinated all recovery activities related to the 2020 northern 
Alberta flood, 2020 Calgary area flood, and the 2020 east-central Alberta flood. The centre facilitated 
working groups with the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo; Mackenzie County; Emergency Social 
Services; and the ministries of Indigenous Relations, Infrastructure, Seniors and Housing, Environment and 
Parks, and Municipal Affairs. The Provincial Recovery Coordination Centre also:  

• acts as the central information-sharing and disseminating body with respect to disaster recovery 
information;  

• leads the preparation of the Government of Alberta recovery plan and briefings for decision-makers;  

• coordinates the implementation of recovery-related decisions, including financial decisions, and 
organizes cross-ministry working groups;  
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• empowers communities to lead recovery efforts within their jurisdictions;  

• acts as the central banker for the Government of Alberta and reviews ministry initiatives for disaster 
recovery program eligibility;  

• secures funding for all disaster recovery programs and, in 2020-21, secured funding for the ministry’s 
COVID-19 response activities; 

• prepares recovery briefings for all government stakeholders; and  

• provides support to the Provincial Operations Centre through an agency representative.  

The centre was successful in effectively coordinating funding, providing staffing resources to augment the 
Provincial Operations Centre and the Pandemic Response Task Force, and providing recovery briefings to 
all government stakeholders.  

Community Recovery Guide 

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency has started developing a community recovery guide, with a 
first draft completed and ready for public use. The guide is a living document intended to share 
comprehensive information on disaster recovery with communities impacted by disaster events, in order to 
better prepare for future events. The guide incorporates lessons learned and feedback from previous disaster 
events in Alberta, as well as global best practices. The guide outlines the need for communities to take 
actions appropriate for their needs and contribute to overall efforts to make impacted areas safe. 
Stakeholders will be able to access specific and targeted information on common recovery topics within the 
guide. The guide – available to support Alberta municipalities for the 2021 hazard season – will continue to 
be updated to reflect additional lessons learned and feedback from communities as they use it. 

4.5 Improve resilience within the Government of Alberta by strengthening the current business 
continuity and consequence management programs and by leading in the development of a 
provincial hazard and risk assessment and disaster resilience strategy. 

Emergency Management Exercise 

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency facilitates the annual Government of Alberta emergency 
management exercise. This year’s exercise (EMX21), which was hosted virtually on February 24, 2021, 
provided participants with an opportunity to orient themselves with upcoming hazard season information 
and emergency management activities.  

Given the ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic by the Government of Alberta, the decision was 
made to forgo a full-scale exercise to avoid over-burdening partners actively involved in the response to 
COVID-19 and to comply with public health restrictions. As the Provincial Operations Centre has been 
operating at an elevated level since February 2020, many of the functions and operations that previous 
emergency management exercises had practiced and refined are currently ongoing. 

Government of Alberta Business Continuity Program 

The Government of Alberta Business Continuity Plan establishes the framework for the management of 
essential services continuity during business disruptions. Departmental business continuity plans require a 
biannual review to ensure they are validated with current information; however, the review efforts were 
paused in spring and summer 2020 to refocus staffing resources to the COVID-19 pandemic response. 
Consultation with departmental business continuity teams and a formal review of nine department business 
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continuity plans was completed in 2020-21. The review supports departments by providing feedback to 
ensure essential government services can be maintained or recovered during an emergency.  

Developing the Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Framework 

Development of the Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Framework will 1) establish a foundation 
for the province’s strategies to mitigate potential consequences of an emergency or disaster, and lessen the 
impact to Alberta’s economy, communities, and people, and 2) enhance Alberta’s resilience to disasters by 
reducing disaster risk and enhancing disaster risk management capacity. Development of the two initiatives 
will be consolidated in 2021, allowing the Resilience Strategy’s principles to act as a guide to the 
development of disaster risk treatment strategies. The Resilience Strategy’s goal, once completed, is to ensure 
the Government of Alberta has a common set of decision-making principles for the development of disaster 
risk reduction. 

The framework will assist Government of Alberta departments and stakeholders in reducing the overall 
costs and impacts of disasters and large-scale emergencies by enhancing their ability to: 

• determine the extent of their cumulative disaster risks;  

• examine the potential cascading effects of those risks;  

• plan across jurisdictional and organizational boundaries and disciplines to mitigate, respond and recover 
from those risks; and  

• implement comprehensive and coordinated risk treatment strategies.  

While the Deputy Ministers’ Public Safety Committee endorsed the high-level framework and 
implementation plan in December 2020. However, due to the work’s scope, complexity, and intended 
broad-based application, efforts are focusing on approaches to engage stakeholders in translating the high-
level principles into detailed guidance. This will be achieved using a staged approach where the Government 
of Alberta will: 

• create the internally-focused Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment in the first year of 
implementation; 

• review and improve the provincial Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment process based on 
feedback received during the creation of the internally focused assessment; 

• build external stakeholder (including local authorities and emergency management partners) buy-in and 
capacity concurrently in the first year; and 

• engage local authorities in assessments in subsequent planning cycles.  

4.6 Ensure Albertans have access to 911 and emergency public alerting services that are 
technologically current and agile. 

911 Grant Program 

The Alberta 911 Program, established through the Emergency 911 
Act, has the goal of strengthening and supporting the delivery of 
local 911 services throughout the province. The 911 Grant 
Program’s budget is funded entirely through a monthly levy of $0.44 
that is applied to every active cellphone in Alberta. For 2020-21, 
$16.66 million was paid to 911 centres under the program, which is 
a 2.57 per cent decrease from the previous fiscal year. This reduction 

In November 2020, the 911 
Grant Program surpassed 
$100 million in total funds 
issued since the program’s 
inception in 2014.  
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in funding resulted from a decrease in the number of wireless phone subscriptions in Alberta and means 
municipalities that operate 911 call centres will have to spend additional funds to support the delivery of 
911. Funding from this program is used by 911 call centres to pay front-line 911 staff; acquire critical 
software and technology enhancements; and meet the provincial 911 standards that ensure 911 across 
Alberta is more consistent, efficient, and robust. Additionally, the funds can be used to prepare for the 
implementation of Next Generation 911, which is a complete update of the 911 system that will introduce 
texting capabilities in situations where callers cannot dial 911. Next Generation 911 is a multi-year upgrade 
that has already started, and the existing legacy 911 network must be decommissioned by the end of March 
2024.  

Enhancing 911 

The Alberta 911 Program strengthens and supports 911 by working with stakeholders across Canada to 
enhance 911 services. The program works with communities to establish direct 911 services; provide public 
education materials and resources; and inform 911 centres about upcoming changes, costs, and impacts 
related to Next Generation 911. 

In 2020-21, amendments to the Emergency 911 Act and its 
regulations were introduced in the Legislature to address changing 
system requirements to facilitate the implementation of Next 
Generation 911 prior to the decommissioning deadline of March 
2024. If passed by the Legislature, the first change will bring 
secondary 911 call centres that dispatch fire, police, and emergency 

medical services under the scope of the Emergency 911 Act, requiring them to comply with provincial 911 
standards and making them eligible for grant funding. The second change raised the monthly 911 levy on 
cellphones from $0.44 to $0.95, which will take effect September 1, 2021, and brings Alberta in line with the 
Canadian average 911 levy of $0.98. The changes to the Emergency 911 Act were introduced during the spring 
2021 session of the Legislature. Corresponding amendments to the Emergency 911 Grant Regulation and 
the Emergency 911 Levy Regulation were approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council on March 17, 
2021.  

The 911 program continues to collaborate with internal and external partners, by: 

• participating in the Canadian Next Generation 911 Coalition and Canadian Radio-television 
Telecommunications Commission Emergency Services Working Group to develop and deliver Next 
Generation 911 communications and standards;  

• collaborating with other provincial governments to advance 911 legislation across Canada; and  

• working with stakeholders in communities that do not have 911 service, various levels of government, 
and external agencies to improve 911 access in unserved communities.  

Alberta 911 Standards 

Alberta’s 911 standards first came into effect in June 2018; however, system-wide changes due to the 
implementation of Next Generation 911 required that these standards be updated. This work required 
consultation with a broad range of stakeholders. Development and revision of the standards was done over 
two years, and saw consultation with Alberta 911 centres, network providers, and the Canadian Radio-
television Telecommunications Commission Emergency Services Working Group chair. In January 2021, the 
Minister of Municipal Affairs signed a Ministerial Order bringing version 2.0 of Alberta’s 911 standards into 
force. This iteration of the standards enhances the 911 system by ensuring all 911 centres are ready to 
implement federally mandated 911 system upgrades before the March 2024 deadline. 

Of the 1.33 million 911 calls 
made in Alberta in 2020,  
98.9 per cent were answered 
within 15 seconds. 
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The past year marked the first time that all 20 primary 911 centres had site-visit audits. However, because of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, 10 site audits were conducted remotely by video in 2020. This required additional 
preparation to ensure all documents were shared in advance. The 911 program staff also had to rely on 
previous knowledge of each centre’s physical attributes, such as the security features that protect the centre. 
While video site visits worked as a temporary measure to ensure 911 centres were compliant with provincial 
911 standards, this method will likely be suspended once in-person site visits can resume. 

In March 2020, the national Canadian Radio-television Telecommunications Commission Emergency 
Services Working Group established a COVID-19 task force, and Alberta 911 program staff participated in 
this initiative. The purpose of the task force was to share best safety practices around COVID-19 for staff, 
including contingency plans, and separating 911 centre staff between primary and backup locations. The task 
force discussed how to provide 911 centres with the best information available nationally and in each 
province, and how to handle increased calls to 911 regarding quarantine violations. This assistance from the 
task force was useful to many Alberta 911 centres as they implemented best practices, including separating 
staff in different locations and setting up protocols for checking staff temperatures and other symptoms. 

Public Alerting   

In 2011, Alberta’s first public alerting system, the Emergency Public Warning System, was updated and 
replaced with Alberta Emergency Alert. In its time, the Emergency Public Warning System was the first 
rapid warning process of its kind in Canada to use media outlets to broadcast critical life-saving information 
directly to the public. As technology changed, Alberta Emergency Alert was developed to get life-saving 
notifications to the public during emergency and disaster events. In 2014, a mobile device application was 
released to allow the public to receive critical notifications directly on their handheld devices. 

In 2018, wireless public alerting was added to Alberta Emergency Alert’s functionality so the most serious 
alert messages could go directly to compatible smart phones. This new alerting medium extends the reach of 
the provincial emergency alerting system, which also includes notifications on radio and TV broadcasts, 
social media, amateur radio, government-wide email, a website (www.emergencyalert.alberta.ca), government 
and private electronic billboards, partner websites, and the Alberta Emergency Alert mobile application. 

Alberta Emergency Alert allows emergency management partners and local government officials to issue 
alerts directly. The decentralized model allows emergency management stakeholders to use the public 
alerting system to provide life-saving notifications to the public when an emergency or disaster occurs. 
Municipal Affairs, through the Alberta Emergency Management Agency, does have the ability to edit or 
issue an alert on behalf of a municipality when circumstances require that type of assistance. 

In 2020, 46 alerts were issued, 11 of which were critical:  

• Overland flooding (1). 

• Public Health Emergency (1). 

• Tornado (9). 

http://www.emergencyalert.alberta.ca/
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Critical alerts decreased 50 per cent from the previous year, and 
overall, emergency management stakeholders issued 33 per cent 
fewer alerts overall in 2020. By the end of 2020, the mobile 
application had 496,056 downloads – an increase of 44 per cent from 
the 344,405 downloads in the previous year. Alberta Emergency Alert 
is active on Twitter and Facebook, where the number of social media 
followers increased by three per cent, from 246,836 to 254,214, from 
the previous year. 

With the ability to reach more people with emergency alerts every 
year, delivery of Alberta Emergency Alert authorized user training 
sessions remains a priority. This training ensures users are aware of 
how to use the system and how to create effective alert messages. Training sessions were held across the 
province, including in Edmonton, Calgary, Lethbridge, and Wainwright.  

The increasing number and severity of emergency events pose significant risks to both people and property. 
The Government of Alberta is working with the federal government and other jurisdictions to examine the 
future of public alerting, as well as public perceptions and behaviours associated with the alerting system.  

With an increase in Internet-connected devices, and the expectation that emergency alerts will reach the 
public in a timely fashion, Alberta Emergency Alert continues to seek new alerting options. This could 
include expanding the distribution of alerts to new platforms, such as real-time alerts on computers and 
alerts over digital assistants such as Google Home and Amazon’s 
Alexa.  

Additionally, there needs to be a better understanding of how the 
content of messages – including length, specificity, context, guidance, 
and the supportive value of graphics and linked-content – affect 
people’s behaviour. The intent is to improve public safety by making 
alerts more effective – based on world-leading research.  

Alberta First Responder Radio Communications System 

On April 1, 2020, the Alberta First Responder Radio Communications System moved from the department 
of Service Alberta to Municipal Affairs. The Alberta First Responder Radio Communications System 
provides quality, cost-effective, secure, reliable, and accessible land-mobile-radio communications to 
Alberta’s first responders. The system currently supports 36,800 devices on its network, representing an 
increase of approximately 4,000 devices during the past year. Additionally, 13 agencies have joined the 
system, for a total of 154 municipal, provincial, and First Nation agencies across the province. These 
numbers continue to grow as agencies evolve and new agencies come onboard to derive benefits from the 
system. The system’s $17 million operating budget provides highly-reliable, two-way voice radio for first 
responder interoperable communications across the province on a 24/7/365 basis.  

The Alberta First Responder Radio Communications System continues to expand and develop to meet the 
needs of the first responder community. Site and system upgrades are conducted as required, and as 
recommended by the first responder community. The system continues to meet the contractual service level 
agreements for the agencies it serves.  

The system has been present at all major provincial emergencies, either responding on behalf of the 
province or on behalf of the first responder agency since 2016. When requested by first responders or the 
province, the system can provide enhanced communications beyond the day-to-day capabilities of the 
network. This includes responding with portable land mobile radio supports, such as portable radios. 

Alberta played a lead role in 
the expansion of the National 
Public Alerting Strategy to 
include wireless public alerting. 

 Wireless public alerting allows 
compatible cell phones and 
wireless devices to receive life-
saving emergency alerts. 

 

Alberta is working with the 
federal government to deliver 
alert messages to the public 
using internet-based 
technology in the future. 
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Network System Upgrade 

A significant network upgrade was initiated in 2020-21 to provide 
several benefits, including modernization, stability, and technical 
expansion of the network’s capability to improve system resiliency. 
Several sites around the province were upgraded to increase capacity 
and resiliency for first responders. 

  

The Alberta First Responder 
Radio Communications 
System is the largest system of 
its kind in North America. 

There are 335 physical radio 
sites across the province with 
ongoing assessments to 
increase capability and 
coverage where appropriate 
and necessary. 
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Outcome Five: Albertans receive fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions 
from the ministry’s quasi-judicial boards 

Key Objectives 

5.1 Deliver an efficient and impartial appeals process for land planning, compensation, assessment, 
and other matters referred to the Boards. 

When the rights of citizens are impacted by government decisions or where there is conflict between the 
competing interests of individuals, industry, or municipalities, the Legislature has provided a process to 
protect the rights of all parties. Municipal Affairs supports four independent and impartial quasi-judicial 
tribunals that adjudicate on matters relating to land rights and property ownership:  

• The Municipal Government Board. 

• The Surface Rights Board. 

• The Land Compensation Board.  

• The New Home Buyer Protection Board. 

The boards are bound by legislation, case law, and principles of natural justice that ensure decisions are fair 
and based on evidence presented in hearings or submitted by the parties.  

Municipal Government Board 

The jurisdiction of the Municipal Government Board extends to matters under the Municipal Government Act 
and includes: 

• annexation recommendations; 

• intermunicipal disputes (where the planning bylaws of one municipality have a detrimental effect on an 
adjacent municipality, the board can order the municipality to repeal or amend their bylaws); 

• subdivision appeals where provincial interests are engaged; 

• designated industrial property assessments, which include linear assessments such as pipelines, railway, 
and telecommunication lines, and non-linear assessments such as major industrial facilities;  

• composite assessment review board hearings for commercial and multi-residential properties; 

• equalized assessment appeals regarding provincial levies;  

• off-site levies; and 

• ministerial referrals including disaster recovery appeals.  

With the exception of subdivisions, statistical information regarding the work of the Municipal Government 
Board is provided based on a fiscal year.  
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Performance Measure 5.a: Percentage of parties to Municipal Government Board appeals who are 
satisfied or neutral regarding the board’s performance of services in support of planning, 
annexation, designated industrial property, and equalized assessment appeals 

Prior Years’ Results 
2020-21 

(2019-20) 

Target 

2020-21 

(2019-20) 

Actual 

2017-18 

(2016-17) 

2018-19 

(2017-18) 

2019-20 

(2018-19) 

88% 89% 95% 88% 93% 

 

The 2020-21 results reflect hearings that took place from April 1, 2019, to March 31, 2020. The 2020-21 
measure result of 93 per cent is five percentage points above the target of 88 per cent. It is two percentage 
points below last year’s actual of 95 per cent. 

The achieved result of 93 per cent exceeds the target and indicates stakeholders are very satisfied with the 
board’s appeal process. The survey focused on two general areas: 1) the hearing process, and 2) timeliness of 
the written decision. 

The board scored strongest on the hearing process component of the survey. 

Parties were overwhelmingly satisfied that the board acted in a courteous manner (98 per cent); they were 
provided an opportunity to present their case (95 per cent); the hearing process was easy to understand (95 
per cent); the hearing was conducted in a timely manner (95 per cent); and the hearing process was fair, 
unbiased, and impartial (95 per cent).  

The board scored weakest on the written decision component of the survey. Parties were generally satisfied 
that the written decision was issued in a timely manner (82 per cent). The actual result of the 82 per cent is 
four percentage points lower than the 2019-20 result of 86 per cent. However, a result of 82 per cent is a 
strong result compared to prior years and is driving the Municipal Government Board’s improvement in the 
overall results in 2020-21 and 2019-20. For comparison, the board scored 28 percentage points lower in 
2018-19 with a result of 54 per cent.  

In recent years, the board has placed considerable emphasis on improving the timeliness of written 
decisions. This was accomplished by introducing target timelines for issuing written decisions and allocating 
additional resources for drafting decisions on behalf of the panels.  
 
The current measure and survey has been determined to be the most effective method of measuring the 
board’s performance because it relies on anonymous feedback from independent third-parties directly 

involved and impacted by the hearing process and decision. 
 
Annexations 

In Alberta, the annexation process allows a municipality to acquire land for future development, bring its 
municipal infrastructure within its boundary, or alter its borders to address some type of physical change to 
the landscape. This may have an impact on the rights of individual property owners, and the rights and 
duties of the neighbouring municipalities or local authorities. While Cabinet is the ultimate decision-maker, 
the Municipal Government Board acts in an advisory capacity by making a recommendation to Cabinet. 
Persons and municipalities affected by a proposed annexation have the right to voice their concerns prior to 
the board making a recommendation. Affected parties have the option of filing an objection with the board; 
if they do, that filing triggers a public hearing. The legislation requires notice be given by the municipality 
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applying for annexation and by the Municipal Government Board in order to ensure all affected parties will 
have an opportunity to be heard before any final recommendation is made.  

Annexations are usually high-profile hearings, often involving a significant amount of intermunicipal 
compensation and impacting the assessment, taxation, and land use of hundreds of properties for decades. 
Media coverage is almost certain, especially when the municipalities are unable to reach agreement. Public 
hearings involving annexations can become emotional for landowners, as they may interpret the change in 
jurisdiction as altering their way of life.  

While transferring land between jurisdictions can create conflict – for municipalities, other local authorities, 
the affected landowners, and the general public – more than 72 per cent of all annexations approved in 
Alberta since 1995 have been amicable. Only 2.8 per cent of all annexations processed by the Municipal 
Government Board were the result of municipalities not being able to reach agreement.  

The annexations processed by the Municipal Government Board during the 2020-21 fiscal year continue this 
trend. Four of the five annexations (80 per cent) were deemed to be uncontested and were processed 
without a public hearing. There was one contested annexation, which required a full hearing. Of the five 
annexations approved, 10 municipalities were affected, with 195 parties involved, and 643 hectares (1,590 
acres) of land transferred. 

In the past, a lack of specificity in the Municipal Government Act regarding the factors that would be used by 
the board to evaluate annexation proposals led to uncertainty and, inevitably, conflict. However, the board 
has developed a series of annexation principles to help municipalities, affected landowners, interest groups, 
and the public understand the criteria that will be used. These principles are included in the Municipal 
Government Board annexation rules to ensure the annexation process is open, transparent, and fair. To 
assist elected officials, municipal administrators, affected landowners, and the public, the board also provides 
information sessions throughout the province. A greater degree of certainty has translated to greater 
cooperation between the parties.  

Currently, 16 municipalities have filed notices of intent with the Municipal Government Board to annex and 
are in the process of developing annexation applications. As of March 31, 2021, there are two contested 
annexations scheduled for hearings in the 2021-22 fiscal year. These two files involve four municipalities, 
3,093 hectares (7,642 acres) of land, and 79 affected parties. In addition to a one-day preliminary hearing, 
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these two annexations are expected to require 11 days of hearing time. Given the right of any citizen to 
appear without notice, the challenges around arranging hearings with the current COVID-19 health 
restrictions have been challenging.  

Subdivision Appeals 

Decisions by local municipal authorities on whether to grant a request for the subdivision of land can limit 
the rights of an individual property owner to do as they choose on their own land. When that decision will 
have an impact beyond the immediate community (defined in the legislation as “a provincial interest”), the 
affected landowner has the right to appeal to the Municipal Government Board, as opposed to the local 
authority. Lands that fall under the definition of “provincial interest” include: 

• lands close to highways; 

• bodies of water;  

• historical sites;  

• wastewater management facilities;  

• landfills; and 

• lands within the Green Area (Green Area lands, as defined in the legislation, are predominately Crown 
lands in northern and western Alberta, and comprise approximately 60 per cent of the province.)  

Balancing the rights of the landowner with the potential for public harm is the business of the board. Each 
registered subdivision results in a permanent change in a community in terms of land use and development. 
Without appropriate approvals, the actions of one landowner can have a detrimental effect on the rights of 
neighbouring owners to use and enjoy their properties. For example, a new rural residential development 
may not be appropriate next to a confined feeding operation, heavy industrial use, landfill, or sour gas well.  

The board has an overriding duty to consider the public interest in safe and efficient land use that meets the 
planning vision established by municipal councils and applicable provincial legislation. 

The board is responsible for notifying affected parties, hearing new evidence, and making the final decision 
on the application. The board’s decisions are binding, unless challenged in the Alberta Court of Appeal.  

On average, the number of appeals filed annually ranges from 40 to 50. In 2020, there were 41 subdivision 
appeals involving 23 different municipalities requiring notification to be provided to 1,091 individual parties. 
Of these, 31 matters proceeded to full hearing: four in person, 15 virtual, four by telephone, and eight via 
written submissions. 

Subdivision and Development Appeals 

Legislation passed in December 2020 expanded the jurisdiction of the Municipal Government Board to 
include appeals from local subdivision and development authorities where there is a provincial interest to be 
considered. Provincial interest in this context is more narrowly defined and includes facilities where the 
development also requires a permit, approval, or licence from another government department.  

Appeals have already been filed with the board in early 2021, but it is too early to accurately predict the 
volume of the new work. In the first week, three appeals involving more than 30 individuals were filed. 
Processes and rules have already been developed regarding this work, and members with expertise in 
planning will be assigned to these new files. 
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Designated Industrial Property Appeals 

Sharing the tax burden equitably requires an assessment of the value of property. Property owners do not 
want to pay more than their fair share, and for the municipalities that rely upon tax revenue to support the 
services they provide to all residents, the tax revenue from major industrial facilities may represent the 
majority of that income. Assessment of properties under the definition of designated industrial property 
include major plants under the auspices of the Alberta Energy Regulator; the Alberta Utilities Commission 
and the National Energy Board; linear properties including pipelines, railways, and electric power systems; 
and the land and improvements associated with such properties.  

While residential and commercial properties use comparative market values as an approximation of value, 
for major industrial facilities, which are not bought and sold on a regular basis, a fairer approximation of 
value is captured by the value of the product being produced. As well, to ensure some predictability for 
industry, designated industrial properties are assessed based on strict formulas established under legislation 
and ministerial guidelines.  

The provincial assessor undertakes assessments, and property owners have a right to appeal to the Municipal 
Government Board. Accordingly, the Minister of Municipal Affairs is a party to the proceedings for 
designated industrial property appeals.  

As the tax revenue from major industrial facilities is substantial and, for smaller municipalities, can represent 
a proportionately greater percentage of total tax income, the municipality where the property under appeal is 
located may apply for intervener status. In a recent case, the taxes flowing from one assessment appeal 
represented one-fourth of the municipality’s budget.  

In 2017, the legislation was amended to include linear appeals for facilities such as pipelines and transmission 
lines into an expanded designated industrial property category. In the first year under the new legislation, 11 
appeals were filed. In 2019-20, there were 36 appeals filed representing more than $12 billion in assessed 
property values. In 2020-21, there were 27 appeals filed representing almost $15 billion in assessed value. 
There were 28 hearing days in 2020-21, including what may be the longest virtual hearing in Canada (14 
days.) 

For both subdivision and designated industrial property appeals, the move from in-person to virtual hearings 
required innovative approaches, including test sessions for all participants in advance of a hearing. In the 
past six months of 2020, two case managers were involved in 122 WebEx events, logging more than 600 
hours in training and hearings. Virtual hearings and training will continue to be an option the board provides 
as they offer greater access where travel costs may have been prohibitive.  

Composite Assessment Review 

As with designated industrial property appeals, the issue is one of fair assessment based on the value of the 
property. For many years, property owners who wanted to challenge their annual assessment had to struggle 
through two levels of appeal: first to the local assessment review board, and second, to the Municipal 
Government Board. Amendments to the Municipal Government Act in 2014 created a single board for appeals 
with respect to non-residential and multi-residential property across the province called the Composite 
Assessment Review Board.  

A panel consisting of two members from the local assessment review board and one member from the 
Municipal Government Board (who, by legislation, is the designated chair of the proceedings) now hears 
appeals. The mandate of the board is to ensure taxpayers are treated fairly and equitably and that 
municipalities have a fair and transparent process by which their assessments are reviewed. Composite 
Assessment Review Board decisions cannot be appealed and can only be challenged by applying for judicial 
review at the Court of Queen’s Bench. 
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Assessment decisions have a significant impact on property owners and because they translate to taxation 
dollars, they impact the very life-blood of municipalities through their tax base.  

The workload for the Composite Assessment Review Board is demanding. In 2020-21, the Municipal 
Government Board provided presiding officers for 1,297 hearings days at locations across the province, 
including Edmonton, Calgary, and Red Deer. In Calgary alone, there were more than 2,000 appeals filed, 
representing in excess of $21 billion in assessed value. In 2020-21, there were more than 900 hearing days. 

Apart from the pressures created by the volume of files, there is also significant pressure around the timely 
release of board decisions. Under the legislation, written decisions must be provided within 30 days of the 
hearing, a stipulation that reflects how important it is for municipalities to be able to make budget decisions 
based on known assessment values. The volume of this work is represented in the two charts below – the 
first in terms of the number of days of hearings, and the second with the number of days required to provide 
written decisions. 

Surface Rights Board 

Under common law, landowners and occupants of the land were essentially powerless, as mineral owners 
had the unimpeded right to enter onto farmland even if the land was destroyed or disturbed. To redress this 
inequity, the Government of Alberta passed legislation in 1947 giving landowners and occupants the right to 
compensation for the loss of their land, while providing operators with a process that ensures their right to 
enter the land. Given the legitimate, but often competing, interests of landowners versus operators, hearings 
can be highly contentious. The Surface Rights Board is the body that adjudicates any disputes that may arise. 
Proceedings are not appeals; they are original hearings to determine compensation for the interference 
and/or damage caused by operators. Because the taking of land for oil and gas development is very similar 
to expropriation, compensation is based not only on how much land was lost but also on the detrimental 
effects on the remaining property.  

In 1977, the Surface Rights Act was amended to include jurisdiction over pipelines and power transmission 
lines. Applications to the board can include: 

• right of entry for resource activity and power transmission lines; 

• awarding compensation initially based on a right of entry order; 
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• review of annual compensation whether under a surface lease or compensation order; 

• damages related to disputes between operators and landowners/occupants who are parties to a surface 
lease or right of entry order; and 

• recovery of compensation where money is payable under a compensation order or surface lease has not 
been paid and the due date for its payment has passed. 

Statistical information as to the work of the Surface Rights Board is provided based on a calendar year, 
consistent with the reporting requirements under the Act. 

The board’ s jurisdiction begins after a licence is issued by the Alberta Energy Regulator or the Alberta 
Utilities Commission and continues until such time as the site is reclaimed. The decisions of the board are 
final unless overturned by the Court of Queen’s Bench.  

The first point of contact between the board and the parties is when the operator seeks access to the land. If 
landowners and operators cannot come to terms, the operator has the right to apply to the board for a Right 
of Entry Order. In 2020, there were 141 applications for Right of Entry, which is relatively consistent with 
the 138 applications in 2019, 123 in 2018, and 115 in 2017.   

When access is granted through a Right of Entry Order, a right to fair compensation is automatically 
triggered. Even when the parties come to an agreement, the board maintains an oversight function. In 2020, 
107 consent compensation orders were issued. Where the parties do not agree, the board determines 
compensation based on the factors enumerated under section 25 of the Surface Rights Act. In 2020, there were 
only two files that proceeded to oral hearing, a result directly attributable to the board’s robust alternative 
dispute resolution processes. 

Regardless of whether access to the land was the result of a Right of Entry Order or by way of an agreement 
reflected in the terms of a surface lease, both parties have a right to review the annual compensation every 
five years under section 27 of the Act. In 2020, there were 345 such applications, a substantial increase from 
the 256 applications in 2019. The expectation is that the number of applications under section 27 will 
increase dramatically as several major oil and gas operators have announced that they will be applying for a 
reduction in annual compensation in hundreds of cases.  

In the event there is damage to land outside the area granted to the operator, or loss and damage to livestock 
or personal property, landowners also have the right to claim for additional compensation under section 30 
of the Act. Recent amendments to the legislation have increased the value of the claims that can be made, 
from $25,000 to $50,000. This has resulted in an increase of applications; there were 40 applications in 2020, 
as compared to 28 in 2019. In 2020, there were five oral hearings, as compared to two in the preceding year. 
Given the complexity of a damage claim, these files are most typically heard by a three-person panel.  

The last point of contact between the parties and the board is termination of a Right of Entry Order either 
because the operator is not using the land or when the land is reclaimed as evidenced by a reclamation 
certificate issued by Alberta Environment and Parks. In 2020, there were 73 applications for termination, as 
compared to 33 in 2019. 

The legislation provides for an internal appeal mechanism provided certain prerequisites are met. Under 
section 29, the parties also have the option of requesting a review of any board decision. In 2020, there were 
22 applications for review, as compared to 26 in 2019. The powers under section 29 also allow the board to 
vary or amend compensation orders when parties change. Recent amendments to the Act championed by 
the board have eliminated the need for thousands of applications to reflect changes in ownership. 
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Regardless of the nature of the application, for all contested matters, the board schedules pre-hearing 
telephone conferences – described as a dispute resolution conference – to set dates for the exchange of 
documentation between the parties, identify issues, and to schedule the hearing dates. This process also 
provides an opportunity to discuss settlement. The board has been successful in having parties agree in over 
96 per cent of the cases before it.  

Of the matters that proceeded to hearing in 2020 for all application types other than section 36 matters, 
there were 536 written hearings and 12 oral hearings requiring 30 days of testimony and argument. The 
pandemic-driven switch from in-person to virtual hearings accelerated the move to paperless hearings and 
pre-disclosure to the board, as well as the reassignment of staff to act as facilitators for all hearings and  
pre-hearing test runs.   

While the board has struggled with the timely release of decisions for many years as a direct result of a lack 
of experienced board members, by the end of 2020, it had met its self-imposed targets to issue decisions on 
routine hearings within 90 days and complex matters within 120 days. For precedent-setting or landmark 
decisions, the panel sets its own timelines for the decision. This could not have been achieved without the 
appointment of full-time board members and recruitment to the vacant board positions in 2020.  

The most time-consuming and labor-intensive work of the Surface Rights Board involves applications by 
landowners for recovery of compensation when operators default under section 36 of the Surface Rights Act.  

Land Compensation Board 

Expropriation is a government power that has a fundamental and profound impact on the rights of citizens. 
Expropriation is defined as the government’s right to take the whole or part of privately owned land for 
public use and benefit, upon the obligation to pay just compensation to the owner. Where the expropriating 
authority is an agency other than the Government of Alberta or a municipality (such as an irrigation district, 
wastewater commission, or utility company), the Land Compensation Board is the authority that decides 
whether an expropriation should proceed. If there is an objection, the board will, after conducting an inquiry 
and providing its reasons in a report, decide whether to approve the expropriation. The test to be applied is 
whether the expropriation would be fair, sound, and reasonably necessary in achieving the objectives of the 
expropriating authority.  

 
Regardless of what entity institutes expropriation proceedings, if the parties cannot agree on compensation, 
the Land Compensation Board is the tribunal with the authority to decide. The amounts of compensation 
claimed will vary depending on the nature of the loss or damage, but there is no limit and multi-million 
dollar claims are not unusual when business interests are concerned. The legislation also gives the board the 
authority to award an owner reasonable legal and appraisal costs incurred for determining compensation. 
Claims for costs in complex cases can exceed $1 million dollars. Given the financial and personal interests 
property owners have in their land, homes, and businesses, emotions can run high, making expropriation 
hearings perhaps the most controversial of the work of the four boards. Decisions of the board are final and 
are reviewable only by the Court of Appeal. 

The volume of work increases when there is an increase in the number of infrastructure projects such as the 
building of roads, light rail transit, flood mitigation, public parks, sports and entertainment complexes, 
community development, irrigation, or wastewater systems. A single major project can generate hundreds of 
claims for compensation by landowners and tenants, and a typical file will take months, or even years, before 
the parties are ready for a hearing.  

In 2020, there were 44 new claims for compensation as compared to 11 claims in 2019, a 300 per cent 
increase. This was the result of a public works project in Calgary, light rail transit expansion projects in 
Edmonton and Calgary, the Yellowhead Freeway Conversion Program in Edmonton, and one application 
regarding a road closure in Lethbridge County. 
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The total dollar value claimed with respect to 40 of 44 claims exceeded $144.5 million, as compared to the 
dollar value of claims in 2019 of $3.5 million. (Note: the dollar amount was not specified in four cases, so 
the actual value was likely much higher.) 

Given the complexity of these matters, preliminary applications are a common feature. In 2020, the board 
heard six applications by way of Notice of Motion. This included a request for interim costs, motions to 
compel answers, and a precedent-setting application where a municipality sought to have a claim for 
compensation dismissed prior to a hearing. 

As to matters that did proceed to hearing in 2020, there was one oral hearing and five hearings by way of 
written submissions. Nine decisions were issued in 2020, a 50 per cent increase from 2019.  

New policies instituted in 2019 designed to make proceedings more efficient continued in 2020. These 
include an investment in pre-hearing conferences, a move toward written hearings for preliminary matters, 
and the board’s insistence that hearing dates will not be set until the board member handling pre-hearing 
matters is confident that the hearing participants are ready and that full disclosure has been made. These 
changes have resulted in considerable savings for hearing participants and for the board, and this move to a 
greater number of written hearings proved to be an extremely viable option as the board complied with 
COVID-19 restrictions over the past year. 

Finally, part of the mandate of the board is public outreach. To this end, the board has completed a major 
upgrade of its website and migrated it to Alberta.ca. The new website contains more detail and includes new 
and updated information for those appearing before the board, and more information on expropriation 
procedures, the key legislation, and the board’s processes. The website also links to helpful resources to 
make it more user-friendly.  

New Home Buyer Protection Board 

The mandate of the New Home Buyer Protection Act is to protect new homeowners by requiring that builders 
carry sufficient insurance to compensate for poor workmanship and by establishing a regulatory agency for 
the industry. The board is the tribunal that hears appeals of the regulator’s decisions – authorization granted 
or refused, suspended, or cancelled – whether exemptions should apply, and enforcement activities such as 
compliance orders and administrative penalties. The board shares resources and members with the 
Municipal Government Board.  

Although 14 appeals were filed from 2014 to 2016, there have been no appeals in the period from 2017 
through 2019. External factors such as the state of the economy and the success of the regulatory agency in 
achieving compliance will have an impact on the number of appeals filed in a given year. 

5.2 Assist parties with resolving their disputes by providing effective alternative dispute resolution 
and mediation services. 

There is a spectrum of dispute resolution processes known as alternative dispute resolution used by all the 
boards to encourage efficient hearings, and potentially, settlement. When the parties can agree, the solutions 
are typically quicker, cheaper, more creative, confidential, less stressful, and less uncertain. Furthermore, 
there is no downside to mediation. The parties can always back out of alternative dispute resolution and go 
to a hearing.  

Different Processes are Effective for Different Matters: Case Management  

The most informal alternative dispute resolution process is case management, which involves staff 
contacting the parties separately, setting dates for exchange of information (which is not mandated by 
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legislation), and identifying the key issues. Case management is particularly well-suited to subdivision 
appeals, where legislation requires that a hearing be held within 60 days of the date of filing an appeal. Case 
management is also very effective with designated industrial property appeals, given the complexity of the 
files and the sophistication of the participants.   

Pre-hearing Conference – Dispute Resolution Conference  

A more formal process is the pre-hearing conference also known as dispute resolution conference with both 
sides of a dispute. In a dispute resolution conference, board staff encourage the participants to find common 
ground and to resolve the dispute. Failing resolution, participants are encouraged to work toward a more 
efficient and effective hearing by: 

• agreeing to hearing dates; 

• identifying the issues in dispute; 

• preparing an agreed statement of facts and a common exhibit book; and  

• exchanging witness lists and summaries of the evidence.  

This is a process very similar to the pre-trial conference used extensively in the court system.   

Of all the four boards, alternative dispute resolution is best suited to the work of the Surface Rights Board. 
As the relationship between landowners and operators may last for decades, agreement between the parties 
is the best option. The exception to this is the section 36 application; these applications do not lend 
themselves to a mediated settlement, as the very reason the matter is before the board is because the 
operator is insolvent. 

Since 2016, the Surface Rights Board has placed considerable emphasis on proactively encouraging 
resolution. Dispute resolution conferences have been particularly successful in reducing the number of files 
proceeding to hearing. However, the investment in time is considerable. In 2020, 449 dispute resolution 
conferences were scheduled with 306 proceeding, as compared to 317 scheduled in 2019 with 217 
proceeding. The percentage of files that were resolved prior to a hearing where there was an operator 
participating has risen to 96 per cent compared to a 90 per cent success rate in 2019. As reported earlier, 
there were only 12 hearings in 2020, an improvement from the 21 hearings that were held in 2019. These 
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statistics do not include files where the operator is defunct, as there is no opportunity for settlement. The 
chart above (Number of Oral Hearings and Dispute Resolution Conferences/Followup Dispute Resolution 
Conferences) illustrates the correlation between dispute resolution conferences and settlements in 2020.   

The success of the alternative dispute resolution program has resulted in substantial savings. A conservative 
estimate of the cost of a one-day hearing before a panel of three members is approximately $3,275, and this 
does not include the costs for the hearing participants or the additional board member time required for 
decision making and writing. Using that as a minimum, alternative dispute resolution processes have saved 
the board and the hearing participants more than 200 days of hearings – or more than $655,000 in savings in 
a single year. 

Case management and prehearing conferences have also been hugely successful in the work of the Land 
Compensation Board. In 2020, 83 prehearing conferences were scheduled with 71 matters proceeding. This 
was slightly down from the numbers in 2019, but the savings were just as substantial, with only one matter 
proceeding to an oral hearing and five matters heard by way of written submissions. The chart below 
illustrates the correlation between dispute resolution conferences and settlement in 2020: 

The most formal alternative dispute resolution process is mediation, which requires facilitation by 
recognized experts in dispute resolution. Formal mediation has been highly successful for both the Surface 
Rights Board and the Land Compensation Board. In the mediations conducted by the director of dispute 
resolution for Surface Rights Board files, there were three mediations that proceeded in 2020, with one 
ongoing, but five more scheduled mediations resolved prior to the proceeding.   

For the Land Compensation Board, five mediations were conducted in 2020 resulting in settlements in three 
files where the value of the claims exceeded $25 million; the settlements eliminated 21 days of hearing time 
from the board schedule, and saved around $70,000. Board members having expertise in mediation will 
continue to provide these services in the future.  

5.3 Provide certification training and support to municipal Assessment Review Boards. 

The Municipal Government Board oversees all Composite Assessment Review Board hearings by providing 
a provincial representative to act as the presiding officer, but the board is also responsible for training all 
Assessment Review Board members and clerks throughout the province. This training gives municipalities 
the knowledge and tools to process assessment complaints fairly and in accordance with all applicable 
legislation. The course curriculum covers principles of property assessment and administrative law.  
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As part of the ministry’s red tape reduction efforts, the member training has been shortened from four to 
three days, with a greater emphasis on the role of board members and quasi-judicial decision makers. The 
board is also actively encouraging regional boards so that the investment in training is reduced for smaller 
municipalities and the trained members benefit from greater exposure to board work.   

In 2020, 227 participants attended 12 training sessions: four in-person sessions prior to the COVID-19 
restrictions taking effect and eight as virtual training sessions. As a result, 74 new members and 56 new 
clerks were certified. As well, 14 board members were recertified, and 62 members and 21 clerks participated 
in advanced training in areas of specialization. 

In late 2019, the Municipal Government Board took on additional responsibility for the training and 
certification of members and clerks of local Subdivision and Development Appeal Boards across the 
province. In 2020, 76 members and clerks attended three in-person and five virtual training sessions that 
resulted in certification for members and clerks from 30 different municipalities. The demand for this 
training is expected to rise in 2021, and sessions to accommodate 120 participants have already been 
scheduled. Surveys conducted after the fact showed that participants were extremely pleased with the 
training.   

Performance Indicator 5.b: Percentage satisfied or neutral regarding Municipal Government Board 
support to Municipal Composite Assessment Review Boards 

Prior Years’ Results 
2020 

(2019) 

 

2015 

(2014)  

2016 

(2015) 

2017 

(2016) 

2018 

(2017) 

2019 

(2018) 

100% 100% 99% 96% 99% 99% 

 

The 2020 survey measured results for the 2019 calendar year (January 1 to December 31, 2019). The board 
achieved a result of 99 per cent in the 2020 survey, which is identical to the 2019 survey result. 

The results show that the Composite Assessment Review Board clerks were satisfied with the performance 
of the members assigned to their hearing. The Municipal Government Board has historically achieved a high 
result of 99 to 100 per cent.  

Some negative comments received in the survey involved board members requiring more training with 
navigating and using Windows software and the Municipal Government Board’s requirement for a two-day 
notice for hearing cancellations. All remaining comments were either positive, or recommendations for 
other services.  

The board continues to focus on the training and development of its members through workshops and 
other learning events, such as monthly teleconferences for members to discuss trends and issues. 

5.4 Strengthen the rights of landowners and operators to fair and timely decisions on surface rights 
matters by streamlining internal processes and reducing timelines for issuing decisions. 

When operators fail to make annual compensation payments, landowners have the right to apply for relief 
under section 36 of the Surface Rights Act. With evidence establishing the prerequisites identified in the 
legislation, the Surface Rights Board has the power to terminate the right of the operator to profit from the 
land and to direct annual payments to the landowner through the Government of Alberta’s General 
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Revenue. The debt then becomes a debt owed to the government. This is a quasi-judicial process, and 
decisions of the Surface Rights Board are only reviewable by the Court of Queen’s Bench. 

Section 36 applications are unique, as board staff compile the 
evidence package on behalf of landowners. While all of the 
evidence is publicly available, it would take months of work for a 
solitary applicant to compile the information required. Staff work 
with the applicants to provide the best evidence available before the 
file is put before a board member for decision. Of course, there are 
two parties: the applicant and the operator. Issues will arise, such as 
the amount of compensation, who is the responsible operator, and 
to whom payment should be made. As a successful application 
results in funds being directed from the Government of Alberta’s General Revenue, there is an overriding 
duty of care to the taxpayer to ensure there is no reasonable likelihood that a responsible operator could pay.  

For many years, operators paid annual compensation without intervention by the board. However, low 
commodity prices in the oil and gas sector led to a number of major operators being forced into insolvency, 
resulting in landowners entitled to compensation not being paid. To put this in context, for many years the 
board received approximately 300 to 400 applications per year. This changed dramatically in 2016 when the 
board received more than 2,500 applications. The trend is continuing with the board receiving more than 
3,600 applications in 2019 and almost 5,000 in 2020. These increases not only involve new applications but 
also repeat applications where landowners have not been paid over successive years.    

The board has responded by reallocating employees and other resources, streamlining applications, and 
moving to a paperless system but it has been unable to keep up with the volume. By December 2019, there 
were more than 4,500 unopened applications. Acknowledgement letters fell two years behind and the 
demands that operators pay or face termination were also delayed. Based on the volume of applications in 
2019, the expectation was that the backlog would reach beyond 6,000 applications by the end of 2020. At 
that rate, processing time for a first-year application would be five years.  

On February 29, 2020, the government announced that it would direct $1.7 million to a special project 
aimed at eliminating the backlog of acknowledged applications by September 30, 2020, and eliminating the 
backlog in processing applications – both new and repeat – by March 31, 2020. Fifteen new staff members 
would be hired to supplement existing staff, an extraordinary investment in a time of fiscal restraint.  

The task faced by the new staff was monumental. At the time funding was announced, there were almost 
1,500 unacknowledged applications, more than 1,000 repeat applications and almost 5,300 applications 
waiting to be processed. 

Eighteen days later, on March 17, 2020, the province declared a state of emergency. The next day, almost all 
staff were working from home. While some volunteered to stay behind to continue to accept applications by 
mail, the employees working from home faced connectivity problems and levels of productivity temporarily 
declined.  

At the same time, the financial pressures resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic created a sudden spike in 
the number of applications, rising more than 30 per cent compared to 2019 levels. While funding was in 
place to hire new staff, the COVID-19 crisis had an impact on the recruitment process, both in terms of 
complications around the virtual interview process and the hundreds of people applying for the new 
positions. It took until May 2020 for the first staff to be hired, and the full complement of fifteen were not 
in place until August. 

Staff at the four boards are 
able to assist parties in 14 
different languages. Some of 
these include French, Spanish, 
Japanese, Punjabi, Hindi, 
Newari, Mandarin, and Napali.  
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Regardless of these challenges, the backlog of unacknowledged applications had been cleared by August 
2020 – six weeks earlier than anticipated. The team had eliminated the backlog in repeat applications by 
September 2020 – six months earlier than promised. 

Despite these successes, there were new challenges. Four experienced members of the section 36 team left. 
While amendments to the Surface Rights Act eliminated the barrier that insolvency proceedings presented, this 
added hundreds of files to the queue. By identifying files that required further investigation from those that 
could be processed more quickly, the team removed almost 1,500 files from the backlog. This better division 
of labour resulted in efficiencies for both types of files. An e-filing portal that staff had been working on 
since March 2020 went live on December 1, 2020, which meant landowners could apply online. By 
automating this part of the process, the team could redirect its energies to processing backlogged files. While 
the backlog of applications was around 6,000 in September 2020, this number was cut in half by December. 
Another new process, developed by working with in-house legal counsel, saw the board issuing a demand 
for payment to operators immediately after receiving a complete application, rather than waiting until the 
end of the process. This resulted in operators paying landowners immediately in more than 16 per cent of 
cases.   

As a result of the 4,546 hearings conducted by the board in 2020, more than $20 million was directed to be 
paid to rural landowners, compared to $8 million in 2019. The chart below illustrates the progress the 
Surface Rights Board made in eliminating the backlog from March 2020 to March 2021: 

Once the backlog is eliminated, processing of first-year applications is expected to take 30 to 90 days, based 
on the statutory requirements for notice.   

5.5 Legislatively amalgamate the Municipal Government Board, the New Home Buyer Protection 
Board, the Surface Rights Board, and the Land Compensation Board into a single board, to further 
reduce duplication and ensure efficiency. 

Following a government-wide review of agencies, boards, and commissions, direction was given to 
amalgamate the four boards, based on their similar mandates and operations.  
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The administrative amalgamation, completed in 2017, has realized positive results, including reducing 
duplication, centralizing administrative support, and reducing oversight of all board operations to a single 
chair.  

In fall 2020, legislation amalgamating the four boards was passed, 
with an in-force date of June 2, 2021. The new board, which will be 
called the Land and Property Rights Tribunal, will have the same 
jurisdiction and responsibilities currently assigned to each individual 
board. A consolidated framework will include: 

• cross-appointments for members; 

• streamlined procedures; 

• ability to retain our most experienced members; and 

• greater efficiency in training programs. 

The legislative change will have no impact on the rights of Albertans but will translate to savings in training, 
recruitment, and administration.   

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

The net cost-savings that 
resulted from administratively 
amalgamating the boards is 
more than $615,000, annually. 
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Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology 

Performance Measure 1.a: Percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk based on financial 
and governance risk indicators 

Prior Years’ Results 
2020-21 

Target 

(2019) 

2020-21 

Actual 

(2019) 
2016-17  

2017-18 

(2016) 

2018-19  

(2017) 

2019-20  

(2018) 

Not 
Available 

91% 93% 94% 90% 94%1 

Note: 1. Based on financial data submitted by 332 municipalities  

Methodology 

The percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk is modelled by a set of calculated risk indicators 
based on information collected from:  

• audited financial statements;  

• municipal financial information returns; 

• local government election records in the Elections Database; and  

• ministerial actions tracked in the Action Request Tracking System.  

The model assesses each municipality’s risk based on 13 indicators derived from the source data for each 
municipality. Each indicator has a defined trigger level; a municipality would either trigger or not trigger each 
indicator. The outcomes of all indicators are entered into the risk model. A municipality is deemed at risk if 
it triggers one of the two critical indicators, or three or more of the 11 non-critical indicators.  

The two critical indicators are: 1) legislatively permitted ministerial interventions, and 2) audit outcomes. 

Ministerial Interventions  

Ministerial interventions are triggered if any of the legislated ministerial actions, such as appointment of an 
official administrator, settlement of intermunicipal disputes, or initiation of a viability review, occurred in the 
given calendar year, or if a municipality is part of a multiyear ministerial process, such as the minister setting 
the budget for a municipality due to a budget deficiency. This is confirmed through documentation found in 
the Action Request Tracking System.  

Audit Outcome Indicators  

An audit outcome indicator is triggered if either a “going concern” or a “denial of opinion” is found in the 
municipality’s audited financial statements.  

The non-critical indicators include: 

• eight financial indicators calculated from the financial information provided by municipalities;  

• population change, based on the ministry’s annual population lists;  
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• interest in municipal office, calculated from records within the Elections Database; and 

• on-time financial reporting, which is derived from the administrative tracking tables in the Municipal 
Financial Information System. 

A list of these indicators, the indicator descriptions, data sources, and calculations are detailed in a data 
dictionary.  

The percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk is the number of not-at-risk municipalities (“total 
number of municipalities included in the analysis” minus “the number of triggered municipalities”) divided 
by the total number of municipalities (included in the analysis) multiplied by 100.   

Calculation:  
 

% = (Total Number of Municipalities – Number of Triggered Municipalities) X 100 
Total Number of Municipalities 

 

As municipalities gather and report their information on a calendar year basis and this information is not 
provided to the department until after the end of the Government of Alberta’s fiscal year, results are for the 
calendar year with a one-year delay. For example, results for 2020-21 reflect the 2019 calendar year.  

Source 

Data Collection Processes 

The 2020-21 result reflects the 2019 calendar year (January 1 to December 31, 2019). The Municipal 
Government Act requires each municipality to prepare and submit annual audited financial statements and a 
financial information return to Municipal Affairs by May 1 of each year for the previous financial (calendar) 
year. This deadline was extended to October 1, 2020, in recognition of the challenges municipalities were 
facing in spring 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. An independent auditor contracted by the 
municipality audits the financial statements. The financial statements are certified by the auditors and 
approved by the municipal council before submission to Municipal Affairs. The audit outcome indicator is 
based on the audit opinions given to the municipality by the municipality’s auditor. The audit opinion is part 
of the audited financial statements that municipalities are required to submit to the ministry annually.  

The financial information return is a standard set of year-end reports that capture detailed financial 
information for each municipality. Municipal Affairs provides a financial information return form for 
municipalities as a means to simplify data submission. The financial information return form must be 
certified by the organization’s signing authorities before the information is accepted by Municipal Affairs. 
The data from the forms is loaded into the ministry’s Municipal Financial Information System and populates 
the relevant tables in the system’s Oracle database.  

Municipal financial information returns use the Municipal Financial Information System, and data is 
gathered from the audited financial information returns received from all municipalities. The reporting 
period is a calendar year, and information is collected once a year (May-July) and reported annually.  

A set of manual and automated processes in the Municipal Financial Information System ensures the data is 
verified and validated; administrative dates are tracked; and a municipality’s financial reporting progress is 
monitored. Municipalities flagged with data anomalies receive followup phone calls and/or emails from 
Municipal Affairs staff, and the municipality may be asked to provide additional supporting documents 
and/or data corrections. 

The Elections Database is an online tool for municipalities to report candidate information, election results, 
and elected official information to Municipal Affairs. For each municipal election, the municipality is 
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required to report the election information according to the specified timelines found in the Local Authorities 
Election Act. Municipalities have the choice of entering the election information directly to the Elections 
Database or uploading the election information to the Elections Database by using pre-programmed 
loadable forms. The indicator – election candidates to positions ratio – is calculated based on the election 
information reported by the municipalities and stored in the Elections Database.   

Local government election records are collected from the Elections Database, which contains details from 
all municipalities in Alberta. Information is gathered every four years (for municipal general 
elections/summer village elections) and on an ongoing basis for by-elections. Data is updated after every 
election but compiled annually (January). 

The Action Request Tracking System is an internal database that tracks formal correspondence entering and 
leaving the Government of Alberta. This database is updated on a daily basis as correspondence is received 
or ministry action is required. This review process and the outcomes are tracked utilizing the system 
software. Should the minister issue a Ministerial Order or initiate a process authorized under the Municipal 
Government Act, an approval document must be created. In addition to searching the Action Request 
Tracking System, the business unit performs a keyword search on the Ministerial Order listing document, 
which is maintained by the ministry’s Corporate Policy and Red Tape Reduction Unit. If a signed approval 
document authorizing ministerial action against a municipality is found in the Action Request Tracking 
System or in the list maintained by the ministry for that year, the municipality is deemed to have triggered 
this indicator. Information on ministerial interventions are gathered from the Action Request Tracking 
System – specifically from ministerial correspondence provided to municipalities, where the minister was 
required to take action. This information is gathered and reported on annually.  

Each year, Municipal Affairs publishes a population list of all Alberta municipalities based on the most 
recent municipal census or latest federal census. The list contains municipal census population figures 
submitted to the ministry as of September 1 of the reporting year, in accordance with the Municipal 
Government Act and the Determination of Population Regulation (Alberta Regulation 63/2001). Conducting a 
municipal census is at the discretion of the municipality. Most municipalities rely on the information 
provided by the federal census prepared by Statistics Canada once every five years. Municipalities completing 
their own census must follow mandatory requirements as specified in the Determination of Population 
Regulation and the Municipal Census Manual. In most instances where a municipal census was conducted, 
the municipal census count would supersede the federal census count.  

The Municipal Affairs Population List is gathered from population counts received from federal census or 
municipal census. Information is collected each November and reported annually by municipalities that 
complete a municipal census. 
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Performance Measure 2.a: Regulatory requirements reduced across the ministry  

Prior Years’ Results 

2020-21 

Target 

 

2020-21 

Actual 

 

2019-20  

Actual 

(target 5%) 

11% 12% 25% 

 

Methodology 

A baseline count of regulatory requirements in the Government of Alberta’s statutes, regulations, policies 
and forms as of May 1, 2019, was completed in February 2020. The baseline count represents the 
benchmark used to measure annual reduction targets and the final one-third reduction. 

Counters followed a common count methodology and guidelines developed by Treasury Board and Finance. 
Training and ongoing guidance were provided to ensure consistency in methodology across departments and 
agencies. The methodology identifies which types of regulatory requirements are in and out of scope, as well 
as specific instructions on how to count different kinds of in-scope requirements as they appear in different 
regulatory instruments.  

As regulatory instruments are revised, added, or repealed, departments and agencies are required to update 
the count of regulatory requirements by counting and entering resulting net changes to the count of 
regulatory requirements in that instrument. 

Source 

Regulatory requirements are counted in each regulatory instrument, including legislation, regulations, 
policies, and forms. 

Regulatory items are collected and counted by each Municipal Affairs program area and agency (specifically, 
those agencies subject to the Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act) to create a baseline count of regulatory 
requirements. The collected data are entered into the Regulatory Count Tracking Database maintained by 
Treasury Board and Finance. This database is the official repository of regulatory count data. Departments 
are required to enter ongoing updates into the Regulatory Count Tracking Database as their counts change.  

Performance Measure 3.a: Number of injuries and fatalities caused by structural or mechanical 
failure of buildings and associated systems per 100,000 population in Alberta  

Prior Years’ Results 
2020-21 

(2020) 

Target 

2020-21 

(2020) 

Actual 
2016-17  2017-18  

2018-19 

(2018) 

2019-20  

(2019) 

Not 
Available 

Not 
Available 

0.83 0.80 0.87 0.59 

 



 

Results Analysis 

 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 111 

Methodology 

Ministry staff review incident reports with injuries and/or fatalities identified, and determine which were 
caused by structural or mechanical failure. This rationale for each safety discipline is documented in detail to 
ensure consistency across disciplines and so that it can be replicated in future years.  

Ministry staff multiply the number of injuries and fatalities by 100,000, then divide that product by the total 
provincial population reported by Municipal Affairs, in compliance with the Determination of Population 
Regulation 63/2001. 

Number of injuries and fatalities X 100,000 

provincial population 

Source 

Data for this measure comes from a combination of:  

• incident reports from incidents reported by safety codes officers to the administrators for each 
discipline; and  

• population data from Municipal Affairs. 

Incident reports 

Under the Administrative Items Regulation of the Safety Codes Act, safety codes officers are required to 
report incidents to their respective discipline’s technical administrator, including events that result in injuries 
or fatalities.  

Population data 

Population figures have historically been based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to 
the Minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of Population 
Regulation 64/2001 under Section 604 of the Municipal Government Act. This regulation was repealed in 2020. 
Treasury Board and Finance will now provide population estimates.  

In the absence of population estimates from Treasury Board and Finance during the transitional year, 
Municipal Affairs will continue to use 2019 population counts. 

Performance Indicator 3.b: Number of injuries and fatalities involving buildings or associated 
systems not caused by structural or mechanical failure per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results 

2020 
2016 2017  2018  2019  

6.20 7.11 5.12 4.05 3.04 

 

Methodology 

Ministry staff review incident reports with injuries and/or fatalities identified, and determine which were not 
caused by structural or mechanical failure. This rationale for each safety discipline is documented in detail to 
ensure consistency across disciplines and so that it can be replicated in future years.  
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Ministry staff multiply the number of injuries and fatalities by 100,000, then divide that product by the total 
provincial population reported by Municipal Affairs, in compliance with the Determination of Population 
Regulation 63/2001. 

number of injuries and fatalities X 100,000 

provincial population 

Source 

Data for this measure comes from a combination of:  

• incident reports from incidents reported by safety codes officers to the administrators for each 
discipline; and  

• population data from Municipal Affairs. 

Incident reports 

Under the Administrative Items Regulation of the Safety Codes Act, safety codes officers are required to 
report incidents to their respective discipline’s technical administrator, including events that result in injuries 
or fatalities.  

Population data 

Population figures have historically been based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to 
the Minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of Population 
Regulation 64/2001 under Section 604 of the Municipal Government Act. This regulation was repealed in 2020. 
Treasury Board and Finance will now provide population estimates.  

In the absence of population estimates from Treasury Board and Finance during the transitional year, 
Municipal Affairs will continue to use 2019 population counts. 

Performance Indicator 3.c: Number of fire reports not caused by structural or mechanical failure of 
buildings and associated systems, per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results 

2020 
2016 2017  2018  2019  

402.851 102.76 100.26 80.37 87.25 

Note: 1. The 2016 fire number includes the Wood Buffalo wildfire. When the wildfire is excluded, the number of fire 

reports per 100,000 population is 100.81. 

*The 2016 fire number includes the Wood Buffalo wildfire. When the wildfire is excluded, the number of fire reports 

per 100,000 population is 100.81. 

Methodology 

Ministry staff determine the count of all fire reports entered in the Fire Electronic Reporting System. Fires 
where the “act or omission” is coded as being related to a mechanical or system failure are excluded from 
the total. 
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Ministry staff multiply the number of fire reports by 100,000, then divide that product by the total provincial 
population reported by Municipal Affairs, in compliance with the Determination of Population Regulation 
63/2001. 

number of fire reports X 100,000 

provincial population 

Source 

Fire Reports 

The source of this data is the Fire Electronic Reporting System. Under sections 8 and 9 of the 
Administrative Items Regulation, accredited municipalities are legislated to investigate and report all dollar 
loss and casualty fires to the fire commissioner. Safety codes officers in the fire discipline complete these 
reports. The system also receives fire reports from insurance adjusters.  

Where an unaccredited municipality has a loss or casualty fire, the ministry is the responsible entity for the 
fire investigation and subsequent report. 

Excerpt from Section 8 of the Administrative Items Regulation: 

Reporting and investigating fires 

8(1). Subject to subsection (2), if the responding officer of a fire department knows of a fire within the 
department’s jurisdiction in which a person dies or suffers an injury that requires professional medical 
attention or in which property is damaged or destroyed, the reporting officer must report the fire to a safety 
codes officer for the fire discipline. 

8(2). A safety codes officer for the fire discipline must investigate the cause, origin, and circumstances of 
every fire within the safety codes officer’s jurisdiction in which a person dies or suffers injury that requires 
professional medical attention or in which property is damaged or destroyed. 

8(3). This section does not apply to forest fires. 

While forest fires are exempt from investigation and reporting under the Administrative Items Regulation, 
property loss suffered as a result of a forest fire is reported to the ministry’s fire commissioner. 

Population data 

Population figures have historically been based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to 
the Minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year) in compliance with the Determination of Population 
Regulation 64/2001 under Section 604 of the Municipal Government Act. This regulation was repealed in 2020. 
Treasury Board and Finance will now provide population estimates.  

In the absence of population estimates from Treasury Board and Finance during the transitional year, 
Municipal Affairs will continue to use 2019 population counts. 
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Performance Measure 4.a: Percentage of communities (municipalities, First Nations, and Metis 
Settlements) that have been visited by an Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officer and 
had their Community Emergency Management Plan reviewed annually 

Prior Years’ Results 
2020-21 

Target 

2020-21 

Actual 2017-18  2018-19  2019-20 

96% 93% 85% 90% 83% 

 

Methodology 

Field officers develop and maintain relationships with all communities in their region. Their responsibilities 
include the review of community emergency management plans and routine visits to the communities to 
engage stakeholders and ensure local authorities have the requisite tools available to develop robust 
emergency management programs.  
 
Field officers review community emergency management plans using one of the following two methods: 
 

1. Communities participating in Community Emergency Management Program: For communities using 
this tool, field officers will use a continual improvement approach by reviewing and providing feedback 
to the communities. Once satisfied that a community is ready for a final review, field officers will 
schedule a visit to review the plan in person with the community’s director of emergency management 
or another appropriate representative. Following the in-person review, the field officer will track and 
address management of outstanding issues or concerns. 

2. Communities not participating in Community Emergency Management Program: For communities that 
are not program users, the field officer will conduct an in-person review with a representative from the 
local authority, preferably the director of emergency management.  

 
The following equation is used to process the data collected in Community Emergency Management 
Program: 

Number of communities visited by 

Alberta Emergency Management Agency field officers 

% =  and had their Community Emergency Management Plan reviewed  X 100 

Total number of communities in Alberta  

This performance measure is calculated by comparing the communities that have been visited by an Alberta 
Emergency Management Agency field officer and had their community emergency management plan 
reviewed, to the total number of communities in Alberta. The resulting ratio is expressed as a percentage. A 
confidence interval is not applicable, since a representative sample is not used for statistical inference.  

The data analysis for this performance measure only includes the communities that have been visited by a 
field officer and had their community emergency management plan reviewed, either remotely or in person. 
With the continued implementation of the Community Emergency Management Program tool, field officers 
now have the ability to conduct plan reviews remotely. Communities that have had their community 
emergency management plans reviewed remotely, but an in-person visit has not yet taken place, are excluded 
from this performance measure. 
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For communities that have adopted a regional approach for developing emergency management plans, field 
officers review the regional plan and meet with the appropriate municipal representative for the region. 
Review of an emergency management plan for a region, and subsequent field visits, count as a review and 
visit for all constituent communities. Each constituent community of a regional community emergency 
management plan is counted separately for this performance measure, rather than just counting one review 
and field visit.   

Source 

Data and information regarding field visits and reviews of community emergency management plans (those 
completed both in-person and remotely) is recorded in the Community Emergency Management Program, 
even if a community is not a participating program user.  

The Community Emergency Management Program tool is administered by a dedicated coordinator with full 
access rights to the database. The data is stored and maintained in the program and provides workflow 
management functionality for tracking corrective actions taken by a municipality. Field officers retain 
records from the review process to supplement the data and information entered into the program.  

The Alberta Emergency Management Agency endeavours to update data in the Community Emergency 
Management Program as work occurs, or at least once a month. Ideally, data is entered at the time of the 
review; however, this is not always feasible. Senior management in the Provincial Operations branch of the 
Alberta Emergency Management Agency has the ability to conduct quality assurance checks to ensure data 
entered into the Community Emergency Management Program tool is accurate.  

Performance Measure 4.b: Percentage of residential disaster financial assistance files that have 
received 90 per cent of its estimated funding within 90 days of being determined eligible for disaster 
financial assistance 

Prior Years’ Results 
2020-21 

Target 

2020-21 

Actual 2017-18  2018-19  2019-20 

100% 94% 78% 90% 41% 

 

Methodology 

When the Alberta Emergency Management Agency receives a residential application for disaster financial 
assistance, a record is created and a data entry specialist enters the data into the disaster recovery program 
database (for this performance measure, residential applications include all homeowner and tenant 
applicants). A case manager works with applicants to ensure all required documents are submitted and 
applicants are determined to be eligible for funding assistance following this review. The 90-day period for 
this measure begins once an applicant is determined to be eligible for the disaster recovery program.  

Once an applicant is determined to be eligible, the eligibility date is recorded in a centralized spreadsheet, 
and an evaluator is assigned to the file to assess the damage. Case managers then contact the applicant to 
confirm eligibility and eligible funding, and to provide information regarding the next steps. Eligible funding 
estimates are determined based on damage assessments conducted by evaluators and are reviewed and 
approved before a payment is generated.  

In order to track when an eligible applicant receives 90 per cent of the estimated funding, a manual 
calculation is required. The data from the disaster recovery program database and the centralized 
spreadsheets is processed manually. The data sets are used for reporting are:  
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• applicant eligibility dates;  

• verified payment dates; and  

• cumulative payments received by applicants.  

 
Using the data sets identified above, the percentage of eligible applicants receiving 90 per cent of estimated 
disaster recovery program funding within 90 calendar days of being determined eligible is manually 
calculated. The following equation is used to calculate the percentage:  

Number of eligible residential applicants 

who receive 90% of estimated funding  

% =  within 90 days of being determined to be eligible  X 100 

   Total eligible residential applicants 

in fiscal year  

The timeframe for administering a disaster recovery program can be as long as five years, depending on the 
size and the scale of a disaster. A disaster recovery program that is not concluded within the same fiscal year 
it is established may result in eligible files that span two fiscal years. These files are tracked and included in 
the performance measure reporting for the next fiscal year. Therefore, all eligible files that have received 90 
per cent of their estimated disaster financial assistance in the current fiscal year and the 90-day processing 
time extends into the next fiscal year will be reported in the next fiscal year. 

Source 

The ministry maintains separate files for every application within each disaster recovery program, and case 
managers and data entry specialists enter the information in these records into the disaster recovery program 
database.  

The disaster recovery program database is a proprietary case management tool used to track various stages 
of file processing, including payments.   

In addition, three data sets (eligibility date, the 90-day period from the eligibility date, and the percentage of 
estimated funding received by an applicant in the 90-day period after the eligibility date) are collected and 
tracked in centralized spreadsheets.  

Performance Measure 5.a: Percentage of parties to Municipal Government Board appeals who are 
satisfied or neutral regarding the board’s performance of services in support of planning, 
annexation, designated industrial property, and equalized assessment appeals 

Prior Years’ Results 
2020-21 

(2019-20) 

Target 

2020-21 

(2019-20) 

Actual 

2017-18 

(2016-17) 

2018-19  

(2017-18) 

2019-20  

(2018-19) 

88% 89% 88% 88% 93% 
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Methodology 

This measure uses a survey each spring of participants who appeared before the board in the preceding fiscal 
year. The target/results report on the actual results for hearings that took place during the previous fiscal 
year (e.g., the 2020-21 results reflect hearings that took place from April 1, 2019, to March 31, 2020). A 
survey is completed using Opinio software, which has settings that protect the anonymity of the participants 
in the survey. 

Lists of participants who attended Municipal Government Board hearings are tracked in Municipal 
Government Board databases, and parties are asked to complete an online survey.  

A five-point, anchored scale asks respondents to assess their satisfaction using the following options: 
strongly agree; somewhat agree; neither agree nor disagree; somewhat disagree; or strongly disagree.  

A neutral response is interpreted as satisfied, given that one-half of the parties appearing before the 
Municipal Government Board are unsuccessful.  

There was a low response rate for the survey conducted in spring 2020, as only 42 complete responses were 
received – for a response rate of 36 per cent.  

Source 

Parties participating in the appeal process and directly affected by Municipal Government Board decisions 
are in the best position to judge the board's performance. The parties that appeared before the Municipal 
Government Board between April 1, 2019, and March 31, 2020, are surveyed in 2020, and their responses 
are used to calculate the measure’s results.   

The measure recognizes the expectation that the Municipal Government Board achieves efficiency in 
hearing and deciding appeals. One question is about the timeliness of hearings and five questions are about 
the fairness of the hearing process. 

Performance Indicator 5.b: Percentage satisfied or neutral regarding Municipal Government Board 
support to Municipal Composite Assessment Review Boards 

Prior Years’ Results 
2020  

(2019) 

 

2015 

(2014)  

2016 

(2015) 

2017 

(2016)  

2018 

(2017)  

2019 

(2018)  

100% 100% 99% 96% 99% 99% 

 

Methodology 

The listing of clerks who requested information or required a member from January 1 to December 31 of 
the previous year are compiled from the legal files database and emails exchanged during the year. Each 
May, all Assessment Review Board clerks who contacted the Municipal Government Board are sent an email 
requesting the survey be completed. Two weeks after the first email, a reminder is sent to all clerks who did 
not respond.  

A five-point, anchored satisfaction scale asks respondents to answer using the following options: strongly 
agree; somewhat agree; neither agree nor disagree; somewhat disagree; or strongly disagree. Those clerks that 
requested Municipal Government Board members for hearings or required support during the year complete 
the survey to determine if the Municipal Government Board is fulfilling requirements and needs.  
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A neutral response is interpreted as satisfied, given that some hearings are cancelled and clerks may have no 
further comments to make. 

Source 

Assessment review board clerk information is maintained on a contact spreadsheet, and hearing information 
is gathered from the Municipal Government Board’s legal files database. The board used Opinio survey 
software to collect data anonymously and produces reports from the survey responses; the reports are stored 
on the Government of Alberta server.  

The indicator uses a survey that takes place in May and is completed in June to capture all clerks who, during 
the preceding calendar year, requested board members as presiding officers, or information on hearing 
procedures or legislation (e.g., the 2020 survey results reflect hearings that took place in the 2019 calendar 
year (January 1 to December 31, 2019).  



 

Financial Information 

 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 119 

Financial Information 

Consolidated Financial Information  

 

For the year ended March 31, 2021 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Reporting Entity and Method of Consolidation 

The financial information is prepared in accordance with the government’s stated accounting policies, which 
are based on Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

The reporting entity is the Ministry of Municipal Affairs for which the Minister of Municipal Affairs is 
accountable. The Government Organization Act defines a ministry as including the department and any provincial 
agency and crown-controlled organization for which the minister is responsible. The accounts of the ministry, 
which includes the Department of Municipal Affairs (Government Organization Act) and the Safety Codes 
Council (Safety Codes Act) are fully consolidated using the line-by-line method. 

Under this method, accounting policies of the consolidated entities are adjusted to conform to the 
government, and the results of each line item in their financial statements (revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities) are included in government's results. Revenue and expense, capital, investing and financing 
transactions, and related asset and liability balances between the consolidated entities have been eliminated. 

The audited financial statements for the Safety Codes Council are included in the ministry’s annual report as 
per requirement of the Safety Codes Act. 

The ministry is also responsible for the Improvement Districts’ Trust Account and Special Areas Trust 
Account; however, these entities’ activities are not consolidated in the financial information for the ministry. 
The statement of revenues and expenses of the Improvement Districts’ Trust Account are included separately 
in the ministry’s annual report as per requirement of the Municipal Government Act. The audited financial 
statements of the Special Areas Trust Account are also included in the ministry's annual report as per 
requirement of the Special Areas Act. 

A list of the individual entities making up the ministry are shown on the “Management’s Responsibility for 
Reporting” statement included in this annual report. 
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Ministry Financial Highlights  

Ministry of Municipal Affairs  

Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited) 

Year ended March 31, 2021 

(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Consolidated Revenues and Expenses Highlights (unaudited) 

Year ended March 31, 2021 

(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Breakdown of Consolidated Revenues (actual)  
 
For the Year ended March 31, 2021 
(unaudited)  
(in thousands) 
 
The following information presents detailed revenues of the ministry. The objective of detailed revenues 
disclosure is to provide information that is useful in understanding and assessing the financial impact of 
government's revenue raising and for enhancing legislative control. 

Federal Grant Programs 

• Federal Grant Programs were the largest source of Ministry revenue. These programs consisted of: 

Federal Gas Tax Fund    $       244,029 
Investing in Canada Infrastructure    144 

$       244,173 
 

Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements 

• The Ministry recognizes Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements (DFAA) revenue when the 
Government of Canada issues an Order in Council declaring the Alberta disaster to be of a concern to 
the Government of Canada. Because the accounts receivable from the Government of Canada for 
DFAA is based on an estimate, subsequent adjustments to the accounts receivable are reflected in the 
current year revenue. In 2020-21, DFAA includes an adjustment of $36,772 as a result of changes in 
estimated future DRP costs. 
 

Premiums, Fees and Licenses 

• The most significant sources of revenue in Premiums, Fees and Licenses are from the 911 Call Centre 
Program and from the Safety Codes Council. 

- The Emergency 911 Act established a provincial monthly 911 levy on cellphones on April 1, 2014 
($0.44 fee per phone number per month). In 2020-21 these levies totaled $20,008. 

- The Safety Codes Council collects operating fees from municipalities, agencies and corporations as 
well as certification, accreditation, appeals, and course fees. In 2020-21, fees totaled $12,293. 
 

Prior Year Expenditure Refunds (PYER) 

• In 2020-21 the Ministry recorded $22,912 in PYER revenue for 2013 Southern Alberta Flood DRP as a 
result of reduced DRP expenditures. Other DRPs were reduced $40,977 for a total DRP change of 
$63,889. Other PYER is $1,291.   



 

Financial Information 

 

 

 

124                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Consolidated Expenses – Directly Incurred by Object (actual) 
 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2021 

(Unaudited) 

(in thousands) 

The following information presents expenses of the ministry that were directly incurred by object.  The 
objective of disclosure of expenses by object is to provide information that is useful in evaluating the 
economic impact of government acquiring or consuming various types of resources. 

The Ministry's largest operating expense was grants which totalled 93% of operating expense. The largest 
grant programs were as follows: 

 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative          $ 1,000,000 

Municipal Operating Support Transfer       576,259 

Municipal Stimulus Program        499,115 

Federal Gas Tax Fund         243,297 

Disaster Recovery         158,432 

Library Services            30,132 

Grants in Place of Taxes           28,874 

Other             35,200 

             $ 2,571,309 
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Supplemental Financial Information  

Department of Municipal Affairs 
Schedule to Financial Statements  

Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2021 

(in thousands) 
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Department of Municipal Affairs 
Schedule to Financial Statements       (Cont’d) 
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2021 

(in thousands) 
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Department of Municipal Affairs 
Schedule to Financial Statements       (Cont’d) 
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2021 
(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Payments Based on Agreements  

 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2021 

(Unaudited) 

(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Disaster Recovery Program  
 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2021 

(Unaudited) 

(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Trust and Other Funds Under Administration 
 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2021 

(Unaudited) 

(in thousands) 
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Financial Information of Other Reporting Entities  

Summary of Improvement Districts (unaudited)*  

For the year ended December 31, 2020 
 

 

Table of Contents  

 

Summary Statement of Revenue and Expenditures (unaudited) ............................................. 132 

Detailed Statement of Revenue and Expenditures (unaudited)............................................... 133 

 

*NOTE: The unaudited financial information being presented here 
was derived from the December 31, 2020 financial statements of each 
Improvement District.  
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Summary Statement of Revenue 
and Expenditures (unaudited) 
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Detailed Statement of Revenue  
and Expenditures (unaudited) 
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Special Areas Trust Account 
Financial Statements (audited) 

For the year ended December 31, 2020  
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Letter from Management 

  

[Original signed by]  [Original signed by] 
 
Jordon Christianson  Darcy Ferguson 
Chair, Special Areas Board Director of Finance and Administration 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

  



 

Financial Information | Special Areas Trust Account 

 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 137 



 

Financial Information | Special Areas Trust Account 

 

 

 

138                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 

  



 

Financial Information | Special Areas Trust Account 

 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 139 

 
 
 

 
Statement of Financial Position 

  



 

Financial Information | Special Areas Trust Account 

 

 

 

140                                                                                                                                Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2020-21 

Statement of Operations 
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Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Supplementary Net Financial Asset Information Schedule 
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Supplementary Accumulated Surplus Information Schedule 
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Schedule of Segment Revenue and Expense Disclosure by Object 
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Safety Codes Council 
Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2020  
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Independent Auditor`s Report 
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[Original signed by KPMG LLP] 
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Statement of Financial Position 

  

[Original signed by] 

Kevin Griffiths, Director   Owen Edmondson, Director 
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Statement of Operations 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets  
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Statement of Cash Flow 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
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Annual Report Extracts and Other Statutory Reports 

Statement Regarding the Public Interest Disclosure Act 

 

Section 32 of the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act reads: 

 
32(1) Every chief officer must prepare a report annually on all disclosures that have been made to 

the designated officer of the department, public entity or office of the Legislature for which the 
chief officer is responsible.  

         (2) The report under subsection (1) must include the following information: 

(a) the number of disclosures received by the designated officer, the number of disclosures 
acted on and the number of disclosures not acted on by the designated officer;  

(b) the number of investigations commenced by the designated officer as a result of 
disclosures; 

(c) in the case of an investigation that results in a finding of wrongdoing, a description of the 
wrongdoing and any recommendations made or corrective measures taken in relation to 
the wrongdoing or the reasons why no corrective measure was taken. 

  (3) The report under subsection (1) must be included in the annual report of the department, 
public entity or office of the Legislature if the annual report is made publicly available. 

 
Below is a summary of the activity in the Public Interest Disclosure Office pertaining to the Department of 
Municipal Affairs from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021: 

0 – Disclosures;  

0 – Investigation;  

0 – Investigations resulting in a finding of wrongdoing. 
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